
Vale of White Horse District Council
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 10 July 2020

Page 1

Agenda
Contact: Steve Culliford, Democratic Services
Telephone 01235 422520
Email: steve.culliford@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 2 July 2020 
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

A meeting of the 
Cabinet
will be held on Friday 10 July 2020 at 10.30 am 
This will be a virtual, online meeting.

Cabinet Members:
Councillors
Emily Smith (Chair) Helen Pighills
Debby Hallett (Vice-Chair) Judy Roberts
Andy Crawford Bethia Thomas
Neil Fawcett Catherine Webber
Jenny Hannaby

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the 
officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting.

Margaret Reed
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Agenda
Open to the Public including the Press

1. Apologies for absence 
 
To record apologies for absence.  

2. Minutes 
(Pages 4 - 10) 
 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 3 
February 2020.  

mailto:carole.nicholl@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 10 July 2020

Page 2

3. Declarations of interest 
 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting.   

4. Urgent business and chairman's announcements 
 
To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.

5. Public participation 
 
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered 
to speak.  

6. Recommendations from other committees 
 
To consider any recommendations to Cabinet from other committees.  

Climate Emergency Advisory Committee – 1 June 2020 

Following the receipt of a public statement, the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee 
discussed the government announcement that it was making funds available to create 
and improve infrastructure for cycling.  It was noted that Oxfordshire County Council was 
working on the promotion of active travel and considering traffic restriction measures.  
The committee welcomed this move and resolved to ask its chairman to write to the 
county council to show support of the active travel and traffic restriction measures being 
developed and support these to become a permanent measure.  The committee also 
asked Cabinet to recommend to Council that it writes to the county council in support of 
these measures also.  

Climate Emergency Advisory Committee – 1 July 2020 

The Climate Emergency Advisory Committee discussed the corporate plan on 1 July and 
made suggestions to the Cabinet member to clarifying the wording in the draft plan as 
follows: 

 In the Vision statement, amend the second sentence to read: “We will do all we 
can to contribute to making that a reality in the Vale, within the scientific (or 
ecological) constraints of our physical environment on planet earth.”  

 In all themes, consider emphasising sustainability 
 In theme 1, providing the homes people need, amend paragraph 1.2 to read: “We 

will aim to provide a mix of tenures in each development to build sustainable 
homes in balanced and sustainable communities.”  

 In theme 2, tackling the climate emergency, the committee supports this theme but 
suggests that paragraph 2.1 is amended to read: “A climate emergency 
programme, focussed on what the council has control over, such as our own 
buildings, vehicles, leisure and arts centres, working towards our targets.”  

 In theme 4, building stable finances, paragraph 4.2, clarify the term ‘financially 
sensible’ to reflect the need to protect finances for the long-term benefit of 



Vale of White Horse District Council
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 10 July 2020

Page 3

residents 
 In theme 6, working in an open and inclusive way, the committee supports the 

example project on a youth council and would like to see equalities mentioned also  

The committee also discussed the draft report from consultants, Aether, into the council’s 
carbon emissions baseline.  The committee supports the conclusions and the scope of 
Aether’s draft report but considers that the council should aim to reduce all emissions, 
whether they are measurable or not.  However, the committee has questions over which 
year the baseline figures were being taken from.  The committee accepted the baseline 
figure provided by Aether in its report.  

Recommendation: to accept the consultant’s report from Aether on the council’s carbon 
emissions baseline but the council should aim to reduce all emissions, whether they are 
measurable or not.  

7. Corporate Plan 2020 to 2024 
 
To consider the report of the acting deputy chief executive – transformation and 
operations.  

8. Homelessness and rough sleeping strategy 
(Pages 11 - 147) 
 
To consider the head of housing and environment’s report.  

9. Housing assistance grants and loans policy 
(Pages 148 - 180) 
 
To consider the head of housing and environment’s report.  

10. Partnership grants 
(Pages 181 - 187) 
 
To consider the report of the acting deputy chief executive – transformation and 
operations.  



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Monday, 3 February 2020 Ca.1

Minutes
of a meeting of the
Cabinet
held on Monday 3 February 2020 at 6.00 pm
in Meeting Room 1, 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, OX14 4SB 

Open to the public, including the press

Present: 

Members: Councillors Emily Smith (Chair), Debby Hallett (Vice-Chair), Andrew Crawford, 
Neil Fawcett, Jenny Hannaby, Helen Pighills, Judy Roberts, Bethia Thomas and 
Catherine Webber

Officers: John Backley, Jayne Bolton, Steve Culliford, Andrew Down, Adrian Duffield, 
Marybeth Harasz, Simon Hewings, Steve May, Margaret Reed, Ricardo Rios and Mark 
Stone

Also present: Councillors Amos Duveen and David Grant 

Number of members of the public: 1

Ca.35 Apologies for absence 

None

Ca.36 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 December 2019 as 
a correct record and agree that the Chair signs them as such.   

Ca.37 Declarations of interest 

None

Ca.38 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

None

Ca.39 Public participation 

Rita Atkinson addressed Cabinet on behalf of Sutton Courtenay Parish Council.  She 
praised the council’s efforts to revise the governance arrangements for Didcot Garden 
Town and spoke in favour of allowing the parish council a place on the Didcot Garden 
Town Advisory Board.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Monday, 3 February 2020 Ca.2

Ca.40 Recommendations from other committees 

(a) Climate Emergency Advisory Committee

Cabinet received an update from the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee chair, 
Councillor David Grant, on the work undertaken to date and on the committee’s 
plans.  The committee sought Cabinet’s support and a budget for its year one work 
programme.  

Cabinet welcomed the committee’s year one work programme and confirmed that the 
budget, as requested, had been included within Cabinet’s budget proposals for 
2020/21.  

RESOLVED: to support the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee’s year one work 
programme.  

(b) Joint Audit and Governance Committee

The Joint Audit and Governance Committee had made recommendations to Cabinet 
on the treasury management mid-year monitoring item and on the treasury 
management and investment strategy item.  These are recorded under minutes 47 
and 48 below.  

Ca.41 Affordable Housing and Oxfordshire Growth Deal 

Cabinet considered the head of development and regeneration’s report, which updated on 
progress with the Joint Housing Delivery Strategy 2018-2028 action plan.  The report 
recommended support for Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal funding to be awarded to 
an identified Extra Care project, together with the creation of a top-up fund to supplement 
additional Growth Deal projects where a shortfall in grant requirement was demonstrated.  
The report sought authority to enter into legal agreements relating to Growth Deal and 
Registered Provider funding conditions.  The report also sought approval for the 
exploration of a potential joint housing delivery company with South Oxfordshire District 
Council.  

The Cabinet member reported that the Growth Deal had an affordable housing element 
and options had been explored to deliver affordable housing in the Vale.  The Cabinet 
member recommended that Cabinet supported a project for up to 80 Extra Care 
accommodation units, with Growth Deal funding of up to £2.9 million.  This development 
would be located in Didcot (in the parish of Harwell).  The project would contribute to the 
Growth Deal target and was subject to negotiation with Oxfordshire County Council.  Up to 
£746,500 top-up funding might be required from the Vale, to be funded from section 106 
financial contributions.  

Cabinet supported the proposal, believing that this would give the council the best chance 
of delivering extra care housing.  Cabinet also asked officers to develop a strategy on how 
to spend the affordable housing funds and bring that to Cabinet in due course.  

RESOLVED: to 

(a) award Oxfordshire Growth Deal funding (subject also to the approval of the Growth 
Deal Programme Board, planning permission for the scheme and transfer of the land 

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Monday, 3 February 2020 Ca.3

to Housing 21 from Oxfordshire County Council) of up to £2.9 million for an Extra 
Care Housing Scheme of up to 80 dwellings which is anticipated will be delivered on 
Great Western Park, Didcot (parish of Harwell); 

(b) approve the use of section 106 financial contribution commuted sums as ‘top up 
funding’ up to a maximum total of £746,500 in connection with the Oxfordshire 
Growth Deal, the levels of which to be identified and approved on a scheme by 
scheme basis; 

(c) authorise the chief executive to enter into a legal agreement with Oxfordshire County 
Council, in respect of the detailed funding arrangements for the affordable housing 
element of the Oxfordshire Growth Deal; 

(d) authorise the head of development and regeneration to enter into a funding 
agreement with Housing 21 (a Registered Provider) in connection with (a) above; and

(e) enter into a joint approach with South Oxfordshire District Council to explore a joint 
solution to the delivery of affordable housing through a joint council delivery vehicle.  

Ca.42 Local Plan - Local Development Scheme - Statement of 
Community Involvement consultation 

Cabinet considered the head of planning’s report on the preparation of a new Local Plan.  
The report sought agreement to the Local Development Scheme, which set out the 
proposed timetable for the plan, and to the Statement of Community Involvement for public 
consultation.  

Cabinet supported the proposals, subject to Council’s approval of the budget to allow this 
work to proceed.  

RESOLVED: to 

(a) agree, subject to Council approving budget provision for a local plan, to endorse the 
Local Development Scheme programme of work for preparing the new Local Plan 
and associated Development Plan Documents; 

(b) agree publication of the revised Statement of Community Involvement for public 
consultation for a period of six weeks; and  

(c) authorise the head of planning in consultation, with the Cabinet member for planning, 
to make any minor amendments, additions, typographical and grammar corrections 
to the documents prior to publication.  

Ca.43 Neighbourhood planning funding 

Cabinet considered the head of planning’s report on changes to the government’s 
neighbourhood planning grants.  The report sought approval to end the council’s grant 
support to community groups preparing or reviewing neighbourhood plans.  

Cabinet noted that the way the government funded neighbourhood planning had changed.  
The government grant to district councils had reduced by £10,000 per plan.  Instead, the 

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Monday, 3 February 2020 Ca.4

government was offering community group grants directly, rather than through district 
councils.  

Cabinet considered that it should no longer offer grants to community groups as these 
were now being offered directly by the government.  The council would continue to support 
neighbourhood plans with officer advice through the dedicated neighbourhood planning 
team, and by funding the costs of examination and referendums.  

RESOLVED: to 

(a) cease the district council’s neighbourhood planning grant support from 1 April 2020; 

(b) use the income from the Government neighbourhood planning grant to support the 
development of neighbourhood plans; and 

(c) support neighbourhood planning groups in securing alternative grant funding towards 
developing new and revising neighbourhood plans.  

Ca.44 Didcot Garden Town 

Cabinet considered the head of partnership and insight’s report on Didcot Garden Town.  
The report recommended approval of a revised governance structure and approval of 
project priorities.  

The Cabinet member reported that the revised governance model was simpler and more 
inclusive, adding a parish council representative to the Didcot Garden Town Advisory 
Board.  This representative would be from one of the five parish councils within the Garden 
Town boundary.  

It was noted that the Joint Scrutiny Committee had considered the report on 16 January 
2020 and supported the recommendations with the following changes: 

 the parish council representative on the Didcot Garden Town Advisory Board be 
chosen from the five parish councils within the Didcot Garden Town boundary; and 

 recommend that the Didcot Garden Town Advisory Board considers adding a voting 
member to increase its environmental representation.  

The Cabinet member proposed the recommendations set out in the report together with 
Joint Scrutiny Committee’s additions.  It was noted that the Advisory Board had met and 
welcomed the suggestion for environmental representation and would give this 
consideration.  

Cabinet supported the recommendations.  

RESOLVED: to 

(a) approve the operating guidelines, terms of reference and revised governance for the 
Didcot Garden Town Advisory Board and sounding boards, as set out in appendix 2 
to the head of partnership and insight’s report to Cabinet on 3 February 2020, with 
the following changes: 
(i) the parish council representative on the Didcot Garden Town Advisory Board 

be chosen from the five parish councils within the Didcot Garden Town 
boundary; 

Page 7



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Monday, 3 February 2020 Ca.5

(ii) recommend that the Didcot Garden Town Advisory Board considers adding a 
voting member to increase its environmental representation; 

(b) agree to name the nominated Didcot Garden Town Board as the ‘Didcot Garden 
Town Advisory Board’; 

(c) agree the Didcot Garden Town Delivery Plan project priorities, as listed in sections 22 
to 25 of the report; and 

(d) authorise the relevant head of service to apply for future funding opportunities that 
directly align with the Didcot Garden Town Delivery Plan as appropriate.  

Ca.45 Council tax reduction scheme 2020/21 

Cabinet considered the interim head of finance’s report on proposed amendments to the 
council tax reduction scheme for 2020/21.  

The Cabinet member for finance reported that the proposal included modest changes to 
the scheme, which had been supported by the Scrutiny Committee.  The changes 
included:

 helping single parents with children under age five 
 widening the definition of who was considered disabled 
 disregarding Bereavement Support Payments as income when calculating an 

applicant’s council tax reduction

Cabinet supported the proposal, noting that the cost to the council was less than £4,000.  

RECOMMENDED to Council to adopt, for 2020/21 onwards, the 2014/15 adopted council 
tax reduction scheme with the following amendments:
(i) to remove the 91.5 per cent limit when calculating their council tax bill, and remove 

the band E restriction for single parents with children under age five, so that 
qualifying residents will have their council tax reduction calculated at 100 per cent of 
their council tax bill after any deductions and based on their property’s actual council 
tax band, as set out in the interim head of finance’s report to Cabinet on 3 February 
2020; 

(ii) to widen the definition of who is considered disabled, in order to be exempt from 
paying council tax (e.g. council tax reduction will be calculated on 100 per cent of 
their council tax bill and their actual council tax band), as set out in the report; and 

(iii) to disregard Bereavement Support Payments as income when calculating an 
applicant’s council tax reduction, as set out in the report.  

Ca.46 Capital strategy 

Cabinet considered the interim head of finance’s report, which recommended a capital 
strategy for the period 2020/21 to 2029/30.  The strategy outlined the proposed approach 
to how capital spending, capital financing and treasury management supported the 
council’s services.  It was updated annually to adapt to changing circumstances.  

Cabinet supported the proposed strategy.  

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Monday, 3 February 2020 Ca.6

RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the capital strategy 2020/21 to 2029/30, which is 
contained in appendix one of the interim head of finance’s report to Cabinet on 3 February 
2020.  

Ca.47 Treasury management mid-year monitoring 

Cabinet considered the interim head of finance’s report, which monitored the councils’ 
treasury management activities during the first six months of 2019/20.  This showed that 
the council had achieved higher treasury management income than anticipated during the 
period.  Cabinet noted that the Joint Audit and Governance Committee was satisfied that 
the treasury activities had been carried out in accordance with the treasury management 
strategy and policy.  

RECOMMENDED to Council to: 

(a) note that the Joint Audit and Governance Committee is satisfied that the treasury 
activities are carried out in accordance with the treasury management strategy and 
policy; and

(b) approve the interim head of finance’s report to Cabinet on 3 February 2020.  

Ca.48 Treasury management and investment strategy 2020/21 

Cabinet considered the interim head of finance’s report on the proposed treasury 
management and investment strategy for the Vale in 2020/21.  The strategy defined the 
parameters within which the council invested.  The Joint Audit and Governance Committee 
had supported the proposed strategy.  

Cabinet approved the report and supported the proposed strategy.  

RECOMMENDED to Council to: 

(a) approve the treasury management strategy 2020/21, set out in appendix A to the 
interim head of finance’s report to Cabinet on 3 February 2020;  

(b) approve the prudential indicators and limits for 2020/21 to 2022/23, as set out in 
appendix A to the interim head of finance’s report; and  

(c) approve the annual investment strategy 2020/21, set out in appendix A (paragraphs 
41 to 82) to the interim head of finance’s report, and the lending criteria detailed in 
table 5 to that report.  

Ca.49 Revenue budget 2020/21 and capital programme to 2024/25 

Cabinet considered the interim head of finance’s report on the revenue budget 2020/21 
and the capital programme to 2024/25.  

The Cabinet member for finance reported that Scrutiny Committee had considered the 
budget proposals but had made no comment.  Cabinet was limited to a £5 increase in 
council tax per Band D property, and had to use reserves to balance its budget for the 
medium term financial plan.  The budget proposal included the creation of a transformation 
budget to investigate revenue income generation options during 2020/21.  The proposals 

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes 

Monday, 3 February 2020 Ca.7

also included funding for the climate emergency year one work programme.  Car parking 
fees and charges would remain the same, pending a review.  There would need to be 
careful budget monitoring during the year.  

Cabinet thanked officers for their work on the budget.  

RESOLVED to: 

(a) agree to maintain car park fees and charges at current levels, pending a review of 
fees and charges later in the year; 

(b) agree that the interim head of finance may make minor adjustments to his report and 
the prudential indicators, in consultation with the Cabinet member for finance, should 
they prove necessary prior to its submission to Council on 12 February 2020;  

RECOMMENDED to Council to: 

(c) set the revenue budget for 2020/21 as set out in appendix A.1 to the interim head of 
finance’s report to Cabinet on 3 February 2020; 

(d) approve the capital programme for 2020/21 to 2024/25 as set out in appendix D.1 to 
the report, together with the capital growth bids set out in appendix D.3 of the report; 

(e) set the council’s prudential limits as listed in appendix E to the report; and 

(f) approve the medium-term financial plan to 2024/25 as set out in appendix F.1 to the 
report.  

Ca.50 Exclusion of the public, including the press 

RESOLVED: to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1,2 

and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.  

Ca.51 Service delivery for grounds maintenance, public 
conveniences cleaning and public realm services in 2020 

Cabinet agreed a proposal for provision of grounds maintenance, public convenience 
cleaning and public realm services.  

Ca.52 Corporate services contract 

Cabinet agreed changes to the corporate services contract.  

Page 10



Cabinet Report
Report of Head of Housing and Environment
Author: Phil Ealey
Telephone: 01235 422456
Textphone: 018001 01235 422456
E-mail: phil.ealey@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: ALL
Cabinet member responsible: Jenny Hannaby
Tel: 07717 271711
E-mail: jenny.hannaby@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Date: 10 July 2020

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy

Recommendation

That Cabinet formally adopts the proposed Homelessness and Rough Sleeping  Strategy.

Purpose of Report

1. To inform Cabinet of the content of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy.

2. To advise Cabinet on the responses from the public consultation and comments 
received at South and Vale Scrutiny Committees on the draft strategy.

3. To inform Cabinet of amendments to the draft strategy made in response to comments 
received.

4. To recommend that Cabinet adopts the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy.

Background

5. The 2002 Homelessness Act requires local housing authorities in England to publish a  
homelessness strategy at least every five years.  

6. Vale of White Horse and South Oxfordshire District Councils have a joint 
homelessness strategy that expires in September 2020.

7. Vale of White Horse District Council has a strong track record in the prevention and 
reduction of homelessness.  The draft homelessness and rough sleeping strategy is 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8

mailto:phil.ealey@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jenny.hannaby@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


designed to build upon this success by continuing to drive down homelessness and 
rough sleeping in the district.

Development of the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy

8. The draft strategy was developed following a review of homelessness services that 
included stakeholder engagement exercises with councillors; service users and partner 
organisations.

9. The review considered the council’s achievements during the lifetime of the previous 
strategy; the current demands on the homelessness service; and the ability to meet 
these demands in the future.  The review findings have informed the aims and 
objectives of the draft strategy.

10.The draft strategy was approved to go forward to public consultation for six weeks 
commencing 14 October 2019.

11.The strategy was considered at South Oxfordshire Scrutiny Committee on 26 
November 2019 and Vale of White Horse Scrutiny Committee on 28 November 2019.

The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
 
12.The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 retains a clear focus 

upon early intervention to prevent homelessness; or if prevention is not possible, to end 
homelessness at the earliest opportunity.

13.  The strategy has three aims:

 to prevent homelessness whenever possible
 to end incidents of homelessness at the earliest opportunity
 to end the need for rough sleeping 

14.  In order to achieve these aims the strategy has five objectives:

1. To improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness.
2. To minimise the use of temporary accommodation.
3. To further develop our housing needs service to prevent and relieve homelessness 

at the earliest opportunity.
4. To improve access to emergency accommodation and increase support for rough 

sleepers.
5. To improve access to sustainable accommodation for households who are either at 

risk of homelessness or who are homeless.

Consultation Report – key findings

15.The Consultation Report details responses on the draft homelessness and rough 
sleeping strategy following a six-week public consultation and comments received from  
South and Vale Scrutiny Committees.

16.The public consultation received 198 responses from individuals, councillors and 
organisations.

 

Page 12



17.The report highlights that there is strong overall support for the proposed aims and 
objectives of the strategy.  83 per cent of respondents to the public consultation either 
strongly agreed or agreed with the aims and objectives of the strategy.

18.Each of the five strategic objectives received between 91 per cent and 68 per cent 
either strong agreement or agreement from respondents.

19.The strategy received a variety of comments from the public consultation and Scrutiny 
Committee meetings which are explored in the Consultation Report.  The report 
includes detailed responses from the housing needs team.

20.The report includes proposed amendments to the strategy further to the public 
consultation and Scrutiny Committees responses and comments.

Amendments to the draft strategy post consultation

21.The following amendments have been made to the draft strategy in response to 
feedback from the public consultation and to comments received from South and Vale 
Scrutiny Committees. 

22.The strategy now refers to the importance of treating homeless persons with respect. 
(page 6)

23.Further details are included on proposals to provide a winter shelter. (page 12)

24.The section on assistance for victims of Domestic Abuse now includes information on 
the work of the Community Safety Partnership. (page 17)

25.The section on housing support for 18-24-year olds has been expanded to include 
recommissioning of services. (page 20)

26. Information has been added on the support available to homeless women. (page 31)

27. Information has been added on the help available for homeless households with pets. 
(page 31)

28.The first-year targets for the Key Performance Indicators are now included in the 
strategy. (page 33)

Alternative options

29.Not to publish a new homelessness strategy.

30.The Homelessness Act 2002 requires that all local housing authorities in England 
publish a homelessness strategy at least every five years. 

Financial Implications

31.  The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy will be implemented within existing 
budgets.

Page 13



Legal Implications

32.  The Homelessness Act 2002 requires all local housing authorities in England to 
publish a homelessness strategy every five years.  The draft strategy is compliant with 
current homelessness legislation.

Risks

33.Failure to adopt the strategy would result in the council being non-compliant with 
legislation.

Other implications

34.  None

Conclusions

35.The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy was developed following 
extensive stakeholder engagement, public consultation and Councillor scrutiny.

36.The strategy has been amended in response to comments received from the public 
consultation and Scrutiny Committees.

37.The aims and objectives of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy received 
broad support and provide the focus of the strategy.

38.The new strategy provides the framework for building upon the council’s success in 
tackling homelessness.

39.Cabinet is recommended to adopt the proposed Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy.

Appendices

 Consultation Report on the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy – 
including appendices

 Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy

Page 14



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Joint Homelessness and           
Rough Sleeping Strategy             
2020-2025 

 
[Publication Date] 

Page 15



 
 

2 
 

 

FOREWORD 
 
 
“Homelessness has a shattering effect on the lives of individuals and 
families.  It could happen to any one of us: through illness, loss of 
employment, the breakdown of a relationship, through no fault of our own.  
The councils have a duty to do all they can to help people who find 
themselves homeless or at risk of it and this homelessness strategy is a 
vital part of that plan”. 
 
Councillor David Rouane 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Environment 
South Oxfordshire District Council 
 
 
 
“Prevention is better than cure when it comes to homelessness. The 
homelessness strategy focusses on helping people avoid the devastation of 
losing their home but also puts in place support services if they do”. 
 
Councillor Jenny Hannaby 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Environment 
Vale of White Horse District Council 
 

 
 
“South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse are achieving a high prevention 
and relief success rate when compared to the national average which is 
pleasing to see”. 
 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Directorate 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 
 

3 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
There is a legal requirement for Local Housing Authorities to publish a 
homelessness and rough sleeping strategy every five years that sets out the 
scale and cause of the problem and how to prevent and tackle it. 

 
Since 2010 homelessness and rough sleeping has risen significantly in 
England.  South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse have not witnessed a 
similar rise, despite the increasing demands placed upon the homelessness 
service. 
 
The councils have a proactive approach to tackling homelessness, with a 
strong focus upon prevention, early intervention and increasing access to 
sustainable accommodation.  These actions have helped maintain low 
levels of homelessness and rough sleeping in the districts.   
 
The joint Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 retains a 
clear focus upon early intervention to prevent homelessness; or if 
prevention is not possible, to end homelessness at the earliest opportunity. 
 
The new strategy increases the support and accommodation available for 
homeless households and rough sleepers in the districts. 
 
The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 placed new duties upon local 
housing authorities to prevent homelessness; to intervene early and to 
increase support for homeless households.  
 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse adopted this approach during 
the lifetime of the previous strategy.  The new strategy refines and builds 
upon these principles.  
 
The strategy has been developed following a review of services that 
included a series of stakeholder engagement exercises with councillors; the 
public; service users and partner organisations. 
 
The review considered the councils’ achievements during the lifetime of the 
previous strategy; the current demands on the homelessness service, and 
the ability to meet these demands in the future.  The review findings 
informed the aims and objectives of the new strategy. 
 
The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, supported by a detailed 
action plan, has three aims: 
 

 to prevent homelessness whenever possible 
 

 to end incidents of homelessness at the earliest opportunity 
 
 to end the need for rough sleeping  

Page 17



 
 

4 
 

 
Five strategic objectives have been identified to support the achievement of 
the aims: 
 

1. To improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce 
homelessness. 

 
2. To minimise the use of temporary accommodation. 
 
3. To further develop our housing needs service to prevent and relieve 

homelessness at the earliest opportunity. 
 

4. To improve access to emergency accommodation and increase 
support for rough sleepers. 

 
5. To improve access to sustainable accommodation for households 

who are at risk of homelessness or who are homeless. 
 

The success of the strategy will be measured against Key Performance 
Indicators and targets will be set annually. 
 
The strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis and the findings 
published on the councils’ websites. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 
 

5 
 

CONTENTS 
 
1. Executive Summary………………………………………….….….……….…3 
 
2. Introduction………………………………………………………….….…...….6 
 
3. The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017……....….….…...….....................7 
 
Homelessness Review 
 
4. The review process……………………………………………………………8 
 
5. Achievements during the lifetime of the previous strategy…………… .…8 
 
6. The strengths of the councils’ homelessness service……………………11 
 
7. Areas for development………………………………………………………12 
 
8. Future challenges …….……………………………………………………..13 
 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
 
9. The national picture…………………………………………………….……14 
 
Homelessness in South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse 
 
10. Reasons for homelessness………………………………………….……16  

11. Households with specific housing needs…………………………..……17  
 
12. Demand for homelessness services……………………………….……20 
 
13. Homelessness prevention and outcomes .…………………………..…22 
 
Rough Sleeping in South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse 
 
14. Reasons for rough sleeping………………………………………………28 
 
15. Levels of rough sleeping……………………………………………….…29 
 
16. Support for rough sleepers…………………………………………….…31 
 
17. Strategic aims and key objectives…………..…………..……………….31 
 
18. Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy Action Plan..……...…..34 
 
20. Appendices………….……………………………………….………….....43 

Page 19



 
 

6 
 

2. INTRODUCTION  
 
Homelessness has a highly detrimental effect upon individuals, families and 
communities.  It causes disruption and distress in the short-term and, if not 
quickly resolved, has a negative impact on the wellbeing and life 
opportunities of homeless households. 
 
The councils recognise the importance of treating persons at risk of 
homelessness or who have become homeless with sensitivity and respect. 
The councils will also protect the identity of homeless persons. 
 
The common perception of homelessness tends to be persons living on the 
street.  Rough sleeping is the most visible form of homelessness, however it 
is a much broader issue affecting many thousands of households across the 
country. 
 
Homeless households may be accommodated in emergency shelters, 
refuges, hostels and in temporary accommodation provided by the local 
authority.  
 
In November 2018, the homelessness charity Shelter estimated that there 
are at least 320,000 people recorded as homeless in Britain.  These figures 
however do not include the larger number of households referred to as the 
“hidden homeless”.  These households may be living with friends and not 
have a bedroom, known as “sofa-surfing, or they may be living in statutory 
overcrowded or unsatisfactory housing.  
 
The most common reason for homelessness in England is family or friends 
no longer being willing or able to accommodate. The second most prevalent 
reason is the termination of a private rented tenancy1.   
The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 sets out how 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils will tackle 
homelessness and rough sleeping over the next five years. 
 
The strategy has been developed following a review of homelessness 
services that included a series of stakeholder engagement exercises. 
 
The strategy will be published and progress against key performance 
indicators and the action plan will be reviewed annually.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 Ministry of Housing, Community and Housing; Statutory Homelessness, October to December 
(Q4) 2018:England.   

Page 20



 
 

7 
 

 
3. THE HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 2017  
 
The Homeless Reduction Act was implemented on 3 April 2018.   The act 
places new duties on local housing authorities to intervene early to prevent 
homelessness and to take reasonable steps to relieve homelessness2 for all 
eligible applicants, not just applicants that have a priority need.3 

The Homelessness Reduction Act does not replace previous legislation, it 
introduces additional duties on local housing authorities and public bodies. 
 
The aims of the Homelessness Reduction Act are to improve the quality of 
housing advice; to refocus local housing authorities on prevention work; to 
increase support for single people and to strengthen links between public 
bodies in order to prevent homelessness. 

The main duties introduced by the Act can be summarised as follows: 

 
• The extension of the period someone is threatened with 

homelessness from 28 to 56 days. 
 

• A duty on local authorities to take reasonable steps to prevent 
homelessness for all eligible households regardless of priority 
need. 
 

• A duty on local housing authorities to take reasonable steps to 
relieve homelessness for all eligible households regardless of 
priority need for 56 days. 
 

• A duty on local housing authorities to carry out a holistic 
assessment of an applicant’s housing needs and to produce a 
Personalised Housing Plan for each applicant. 
 

• A duty on named public services to notify the local housing 
authority of potentially homeless households. 

 

The 1996 Housing Act (Part VII) establishes what duties may be owed by 
the local housing authority to provide temporary accommodation.  The type 
of duty owed is dependent upon whether the applicant is eligible for 
assistance; whether they are homeless; if they are in priority need and if 
they are intentionally homeless. 

 

 
2 Appendix 2: Definitions of key terms Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 
 
3The main priority need categories are: households with dependent children; pregnancy; persons 
aged 16 or 17; care leavers aged 18 to 20; and households who are vulnerable as a result of old age, 
physical disability, mental health problems, fleeing domestic abuse or time spent in care, prison or 
the armed forces.  The priority need categories are defined by the 1996 Housing Act (Part VII and 
the Homelessness Act 2002. 
 

Page 21



 
 

8 
 

 
HOMELESSNESS REVIEW 
 
4. THE REVIEW PROCESS  
 
The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is informed by a detailed 
review of homelessness services in South Oxfordshire and the Vale of 
White Horse. 
 
The review considers: 
 

 councils’ achievements during the lifetime of the previous strategy 
 actions outstanding from the previous strategy 
 demand on homelessness services 
 councils’ current provision of homelessness services 
 unmet demand for council homelessness services 
 future challenges facing the councils’ homelessness service. 

 
The review included engagement exercises with key stakeholders: 
 
Stakeholder workshop event 
 

Date(s) held 

Housing needs team 
 

18 March 2019 
21 March 2019 
 

Internal and external partners4 
 

18 June 2019 
21 June 2019 
 

South Oxfordshire councillors 
 

25 June 2019 

Vale of White Horse councillors 
 

26 June 2019 

 
Telephone interviews were conducted with eight households in temporary 
accommodation to receive feedback from services users. 
 
 
5. ACHEIVEMENTS DURING THE LIFETIME OF THE PREVIOUS   
    STRATEGY 
 
The key achievement of the previous strategy was to help reduce 
homelessness. This was during a period when nationally homelessness and 
rough sleeping increased significantly. 
 

 
4 Appendix 1: Partner organisations attending stakeholder workshops 

Page 22



 
 

9 
 

The introduction of new services and work processes focussed around the 
prevention of homelessness were central to achieving this result. 
 
The main service improvements introduced during the lifetime of the 
previous strategy can be summarised as follows: 
 
 Enhanced Housing Options (EHO) 
 

EHO is a web-based self-help tool that allows households to answer a 
series of questions and receive a personalised housing plan.  The plan 
provides tailored advice and information to help the household either 
maintain their current accommodation or secure alternative 
accommodation.  In the last two years 4234 EHO assessments have 
been completed in South and Vale. 
 
An important feature of EHO assessments are that if the applicant 
indicates they are at risk of homelessness, they will be contacted by a 
Housing Needs Officer to be offered help with their housing situation. 
 
Enhanced Housing Options has increased the capacity of Housing 
Needs Officers to focus resources upon the more complex and 
vulnerable homelessness cases. 
 

 Front-to-end customer service 
 

A new model of working has been introduced to streamline and 
accelerate housing advice and assistance. The traditional service 
delivery method of a customer contacting a housing assistant, being 
referred to a Housing Needs Officer and then potentially a homelessness 
officer, was replaced by a direct line to a Housing Needs Officer who 
becomes the caseworker for that person. 

 
 Adult Homeless Pathway 

 
In 2017/18 South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse District 
Councils entered into a funding agreement with Cherwell District 
Council, Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire County Council and 
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group to support the Adult 
Homeless Pathway.  The pathway provides over 200 supported beds for 
homeless households.   
 

 Outreach support for rough sleepers.  
 
In 2017 the councils entered into a joint contract with Connection 
Support to provide an outreach service for rough sleepers.   The service 
offers rough sleepers intensive and holistic support focussed on securing 
sustainable accommodation. 
 

Page 23



 
 

10 
 

 Housing First Project 
 
South Oxfordshire District Council are working in partnership with SOHA 
and Aspire Oxfordshire to provide support and accommodation for rough 
sleepers.  The Housing First Project will accommodate six former rough 
sleepers in sustainable long-term housing. 
 

 Oxfordshire Trailblazers 
 
In 2016 the Government funded a network of homelessness prevention 
trailblazers.  South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse were part of 
a successful bid led by Oxford City Council.  The Oxfordshire Trailblazer 
brings together key partners to prevent homelessness. The trailblazer 
has three workstreams: targeted upstream prevention, resilience 
services and a Homeless Champions Network. 
 
Funding for the project ends in 2019, however South and Vale are keen 
to explore options with trailblazer partners to ensure a legacy for the 
project. 
  

 Goldrose Supported Accommodation Project 
 

From September 2018 the councils entered into an agreement with Mind 
Oxfordshire to provide support for eight households with mental health 
issues.  The accommodation is provided by Advance Housing. 
 

 The Gold Standard 
 

The National Practitioner Support Service5 issued the Gold Standard 
challenge to local housing authorities in England.  The Gold Standard is 
ten service standard challenges for housing advice services.   In April 
2018 South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse became the first 
councils with a shared housing service to achieve the silver level award.  

 
 Partnership working with advice agencies 
 

The council has established rapid referral protocols with debt advice 
agencies to help customers quickly access specialist benefits and debt 
advice.  
 

 The Duty to Refer 
 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse worked in partnership with 
public bodies across Oxfordshire to successfully introduce a new web-
based referral system.  

 
 

5 The National Practitioner Support Service supports local authorities and their partners to deliver 
early intervention and prevention-focussed housing option services 

Page 24



 
 

11 
 

6.  THE STRENGTHS OF THE COUNCILS’ HOMELESSNESS SERVICE 
 
 Dedicated Officers who offer a high-quality service to partner agencies 

and customers. 
 

 Effective partnership working with Registered Providers, statutory 
agencies, advice agencies and volunteer groups. 
 

 A practical, problem solving approach to tackling homelessness 
 

 Protocols with partner agencies to provide timely support to homeless 
households 

 
 White Horse Lettings6 provides an excellent service to both private 

landlords and prospective tenants. 
 
 An innovative approach to providing sustainable accommodation for 

homeless households and rough sleepers. 
 

 Effective participation in county-wide partnerships including the Adult 
Homeless Pathway and Housing Support Advisory Group. 

 
 
The feedback received from service users on the overall housing 
needs service 
 
“Very good, lovely, very impressed. Kept me updated”. 
 
“Handled my case very well, placed me in temporary accommodation after 
initial meeting, made a successful bid shortly afterwards” 
 
“absolutely fine, very informative” 
 
“Happy with how quickly I was offered accommodation after a house fire” 
 
“Very well handled, felt looked after, felt there was someone on my team, 
would say 95 per cent positive” 
 
“Handled my case well” 
 
“Dealt with extremely well, good communication” 
 
“Can’t fault initial advice from caseworker.  Set up plan straightaway” 
 
 

 
6 White Horse Lettings is the councils’ in-house social lettings agency 

Page 25



 
 

12 
 

7. AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT  
 
The review identified six areas for further development: 
 

 Closer county-wide partnership working. 
 

Build upon the strong relationships with county-wide partners to 
develop a strategic county-wide approach to tackling homelessness 
and rough sleeping that will deliver a more consistent service and  
share best practice across Oxfordshire. 

 
 Build upon the strong existing relationships with Registered Providers 

and private landlords to increase access to sustainable 
accommodation. 

 
 Review the provision of temporary accommodation 

 
Vale of White Horse District Council owns 19 units of temporary 
accommodation.  The council owns three houses in Abingdon and 
two hostels in Wantage and Faringdon that have shared bathrooms. 
South Oxfordshire District Council does not own any temporary 
accommodation. 
 

 Increase support and accommodation for rough sleepers 
 
Connection Support provides a high-quality outreach service in South 
and Vale, however the councils should consider increasing the 
support available to rough sleepers. 
 
The Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) in Oxfordshire 
provides emergency accommodation to rough sleepers in extreme 
weather conditions.  
 
The councils are investigating provision of a trial winter shelter. The 
shelter would be local and accommodate persons rough sleeping in 
South or Vale.  Rough sleepers accessing the shelter would receive 
intensive support to rapidly secure alternative accommodation.  

 
 Better consultation with service users 

 
Develop a customer feedback framework to promote continuous 
service improvement. 

 
  Raise awareness of the homelessness service  

 
Aim to promote the quality of its homelessness services in the media 
and provide a practical guide to councillors on rough sleeping. 

Page 26



 
 

13 
 

8. FUTURE CHALLENGES  
 
The review identified a number of challenges facing the homelessness 
service.  The main challenges identified can be summarised as follows: 
 

 The increasing demand upon the homelessness service to prevent or 
relieve homelessness. 
 

 The greater complexity and increased vulnerability of homeless 
cases. 

 
 The increased administrative burden of the Homelessness Reduction 

Act. 
 

 The increasing demand for affordable rented housing. 
 

 The rising cost of home ownership and open market renting. 
 

 The impact of welfare reform, particularly the four-year freeze on 
local housing allowance. 
 

 The continuing roll-out of Universal Credit. 
 
 The rise in household debt and rent arrears. 

 
 The reduction in county-wide funding for housing related services. 
 
 The withdrawal of private landlords from the housing benefit market 

as a result of the divergence between market rents and local housing 
allowance. 
 

 The affordability of “affordable rent” tenancies for the lowest income 
households. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 
 

14 
 

 
HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 
 
9. HOMELESSNESS – THE NATIONAL PICTURE 
 
Since 2010 the number of households in temporary accommodation has 
risen significantly in England.  By 31 December 2018, the number of 
statutory homeless households in temporary accommodation had increased 
by 63 per cent from 50,400 to 83,700.   
 
 

 
 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 
 

15 
 

 
 
The number of rough sleepers in England since 2010 has increased by 165 
per cent. 
 

 
 
 
The rise in homelessness and rough sleeping nationally has not been 
reflected in South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse, despite the 
increasing demand on the homelessness service. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 
 

16 
 

 
Homelessness in South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White 
Horse 
 
10. REASONS FOR HOMELESSNESS 
 
The main reasons for being at risk of homelessness in South Oxfordshire 
between April and December 2018 was the loss of private rented 
accommodation, followed by domestic abuse and relationship breakdowns.   
 
The loss of private rented accommodation is an increasing cause of 
homelessness.  Private landlords can secure significantly higher market 
rents in comparison with Local Housing Allowance.  
 

 
April to December 2018 
 
The loss of private rented accommodation is also the main cause of 
homelessness in the Vale of White Horse, followed by family or friend 
evictions and relationship breakdowns.  
 

Page 30



 
 

17 
 

 
April to December 2018 
 
11. HOUSEHOLDS WITH SPECIFIC HOUSING NEEDS 

Households experiencing domestic abuse 
 
Oxfordshire Domestic Abuse Services (ODAS) offers emotional and 
practical support to victims suffering or fleeing domestic abuse. Support can 
include: phone support, face to face meetings in a safe environment, safety 
planning, access to a confidential refuge where women (with or without 
children) can stay temporarily in order to escape an abusive relationship. 
 
The councils provide a Sanctuary Scheme to allow persons experiencing 
domestic abuse to remain safely in their home with enhanced security 
measures. 
 
The councils have a specialist Housing Needs Officer who leads on 
domestic abuse issues. The role includes attending Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conferences (MARAC) and multi-agency tasking meetings with 
partner agencies. 
 
The councils also refer persons experiencing domestic abuse to 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors for specialist support. 
 
SODC and VWHDC are members of the South and Vale Community Safety 
Partnership.  The partner organisations are the Police; Social Care; Health 
Services; Probation and housing providers.  The partners work together to 
tackle crime and safeguard vulnerable people in South Oxfordshire and 
Vale of White Horse.    
 
The South and Vale Community Safety Partnership provide funding to 
target-harden properties to help people feel safe and remain in their own 
homes, for example victims of domestic abuse or exploitation.   

 

Page 31



 
 

18 
 

The monthly joint tasking meeting, managed by the Community Safety 
Team, brings together multi-agencies to enhance partnership working and 
make best use of resources.   Cases of concern are discussed to identify 
appropriate actions to support vulnerable residents.   

 
Households with persons who have mental health needs 
 
Research by the homelessness charity Homeless Link reports that 86 per 
cent of homeless persons suffer from mental health issues. 44 per cent 
have a formal diagnosis of a mental health condition.  
 
In South Oxfordshire, between April and December 2019, a total of 42 
households at risk of homelessness had mental health issues.  In the Vale 
of White Horse 37 households at risk of homelessness had mental health 
issues.  This equates to 47 percent of households in South Oxfordshire and 
40 per cent of households in the Vale of White Horse. 
 
The Oxfordshire Mental Health Pathway provides supported 
accommodation for persons with high mental health support needs. 
 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse recognises that persons at risk 
of homelessness with low to medium mental health issues may not be 
eligible for supported housing. 
 
In September 2018 the councils entered into an agreement with Mind 
Oxfordshire to provide support for eight households with mental health 
issues in accommodation provided by Advance Housing. 
 

Households Leaving the Armed Forces 

The councils have developed strong links with the Armed Forces in South 

Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse.   

A specialist Housing Needs Officer attends events and forums held by the 

Armed Forces to promote the housing assistance available from the 

councils.  The councils work closely with SSAFA, the armed forces charity, 

to offer housing advice and support to members of the armed forces 

community.  This proactive approach reduces the number of persons 

leaving the armed forces who become at risk of homelessness. 

In 2018/19 South Oxfordshire were approached by six households leaving 

armed forces accommodation at risk of becoming homeless.  All six 

Page 32



 
 

19 
 

households avoided becoming homeless, and secured alternative 

accommodation with the assistance of the housing needs team   

The Vale of White Horse were approached by twelve households leaving 

armed forces accommodation at risk of becoming homeless.  The housing 

needs team helped secure alternative accommodation for ten of the 

households and one household left the area. 

Households with persons who have substance misuse issues 
 
The number of homeless households with substance misuse issues is 
significantly higher than in the general population.  Research by Homeless 
Link reports 41 per cent of homeless households have drug issues and 27% 
have issues with alcohol. 
 
In South Oxfordshire, between April and December 2018, a total of 16 
households at risk of homelessness had substance misuse issues.  The 
same number of households at risk of homelessness and suffering mental 
health issues approached the Vale of White Horse.  This equates to 18 per 
cent of households in South Oxfordshire and 17 per cent of households in 
the Vale of White Horse. 
 
There is local support available for persons experiencing substance misuse. 
Turning Point is a social enterprise that supports persons with drug and 
alcohol issues.  It has a support hub based in Didcot and offers weekly 
drop-in sessions in Abingdon and Henley.    
 
Young Persons in housing need 
 
Oxfordshire County Council has a statutory duty to provide support and 
accommodation for looked after children7 in Oxfordshire. 
 
The Young People’s Supported Housing Pathway provides supported 
housing for 16 to 24-year olds. It is delivered by Oxfordshire County Council 
in partnership with the five district councils.  The pathway provides 
accommodation for vulnerable young people, including those owed a 
statutory duty by the County Council. There are currently 227 units of 
accommodation in Oxfordshire, including 11 units in South Oxfordshire and 
21 units in the Vale of White Horse. 
 
The councils refer vulnerable young persons into the Young Persons 
Pathway. 
 

 
7 A child who has been in the care of their local authority for more than 24 hours is known as a 
looked after child. Looked after children are also referred to as children in care. 

Page 33



 
 

20 
 

Oxfordshire County Council recently published its Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy for Vulnerable Young People and Families in 
Oxfordshire.  The strategy has three broad aims; to provide the right 
buildings for young people, to provide appropriate support services and to 
offer clear housing pathways.  
 
The Strategy and a service review will inform the recommissioning of 
housing provision for young people in Oxfordshire in 2020.   The supported 
housing pathway model will be replaced by “Young People’s Supported 
Accommodation” (YPSA).   
 
South and Vale are active partners in the co-commissioning of services for 
young people in Oxfordshire which is led by Oxfordshire County Council.  
This reflects the close working relationship and commitment between 
Oxfordshire County Council and City and District Councils to jointly deliver 
housing-related services for vulnerable young people. 
 
The new delivery model focuses upon intensive intervention to ensure that 
young people access the support they need and then move on to 
independent accommodation. 

The YMCA Henley also provides 31 units of supported accommodation for 
young people aged 16-25 with a local connection to Henley or the 
surrounding area. 
 
In South Oxfordshire, between April and December 2019, a total of 44 
young persons at risk of homelessness approached the council for housing 
assistance.  The number approaching the Vale of White Horse for 
assistance was 40.  
 
12. DEMAND FOR HOMELESSNESS SERVICES 
 
A key indicator of demand on the council’s homelessness service is the 
number of successful homelessness prevention cases.   
 
The Homelessness Reduction Act changed the definitions of homelessness 
prevention and relief and introduced new reporting standards.  As a result, 
there has been a significant reduction in the number of recorded successful 
prevention cases from April 2018 onwards. 
 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils have a 
proactive, early intervention approach to prevent homelessness.  
The new reporting standards do not include upstream prevention work 
undertaken before the statutory 56-day period.   The new standards also 
redefine certain cases previously recorded as successful prevention as 
successful relief cases.  
 

Page 34



 
 

21 
 

A consistent indicator of demand between 2017/18 and 2018/19 are the 
number of Enhanced Housing Options assessments completed 
 
Households at risk of homelessness complete an on-line Enhanced Housing 
Options assessment.  The assessment helps inform the Personalised 
Housing Plan completed with the caseworker. 
 
The number of EHOs completed increased from 882 in 2017/18 to 915 in 
2018/19 which equates to an increase of 4 per cent. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
The Local Government Association has highlighted the additional casework 
generated by the Homelessness Reduction Act: 
 

Page 35



 
 

22 
 

“There have been significant new burdens associated with the Act’s 
implementation.  Local Housing Authorities have seen increasing footfall, 
and an increased administrative burden associated with each case”8. 
 
This quotation reflects the experience of South and Vale Housing Needs 
Offices. 
 
 
 
13. HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION AND OUTCOMES 
 
Despite rising demand, South and Vale continue to successfully prevent and 
relieve homelessness. The number of cases where the councils have failed 
to prevent or relieve homelessness has fallen significantly.   
 
The Homelessness Reduction Act requires local housing authorities to focus 
upon preventing or relieving homelessness.  The authority cannot make a 
main homeless decision until they have been unable to prevent 
homelessness or relieve homelessness within 56 days.   
 
The main duty decision determines if the applicant is owed the main 
housing duty. The decision assesses whether the applicant is homeless, if 
they are in priority need and whether they are intentionally homeless.  
 
An applicant who is homeless, in priority need and not intentionally 
homeless is owed the main housing duty.  The council will have an ongoing 
duty to provide temporary accommodation until they secure suitable 
alternative accommodation. 
 
The councils are focused upon preventing or relieving homelessness in 
agreement with the household before making a main duty homelessness 
decision that may affect them adversely. 
  
 

 
8 Local Government Association: Homelessness Reduction Act: one year on. Submission to 
Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee 5 April 2019 

Page 36



 
 

23 
 

 
 
 
South Oxfordshire completed 16 homelessness assessments during 
2018/19.  The table below shows the types of decision. 
 

Decision type Number of decisions 
 

Main duty 5 
Not homeless 3 
Not priority need 5 
Intentionally homeless 3 

  

 
 
 
Vale of White Horse completed 26 homelessness assessments during 
2018/19. 
 

Page 37



 
 

24 
 

 
The table below shows the types of decision. 
 

Decision type Number of decisions 
 

Main duty 12 
Not homeless 1 
Not priority need 5 
Intentionally homeless9 8 

 
South and Vale continue to work with intentionally homeless households to 
secure a housing solution and are exploring options with Oxfordshire 
County Council to improve housing outcomes for intentionally homeless 
families. 
 
The success of the councils in preventing or relieving homelessness is 
further evidenced by the decreasing number of households in temporary 
accommodation. 
 
The provision of temporary accommodation is often disruptive to homeless 
households, who do not normally have a choice over the type or location of 
the accommodation.  It may limit their access to support networks and affect 
work and school arrangements.  The councils’ approach is to secure 
suitable alternative accommodation in agreement with the applicant if it is 
not possible to prevent homelessness. 
 

 
Number of households in TA as of 31 March 
 
The number of households in temporary accommodation in South 
Oxfordshire fell by 43 per cent in the last five years. 

 
9 Applicants are considered intentionally homeless if they have lost their previous accommodation as 
a result of a deliberate act or omission on their part and the accommodation would have been 
available and reasonable to continue to occupy. 

Page 38



 
 

25 
 

 
Number of households in TA as of 31 March 

 
The number of households in temporary accommodation in Vale of White 
Horse fell by 56 per cent in the last five years. 
 
The councils can prevent or relieve homeless by either enabling the 
household to remain at home or by securing suitable alternative 
accommodation. 
 
In 2017/18 the three main outcomes for households at risk of homelessness 
in South and Vale was to securing social housing, to be able to remain at 
home, or securing accommodation in the private rented sector. 
 
 

 
2017/18 
 
 

Page 39



 
 

26 
 

 
2017/18 
 
 
Lettings by Registered Providers 
 
The supply of social or supported housing lettings is a key tool for 
preventing or relieving homelessness.  The number of lettings by Registered 
Providers has increased significantly over the last five years. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 40



 
 

27 
 

 
 
 
Private Lettings 
 
The councils both maintain a housing register for applicants to apply for 
social housing. Eligible applicants are placed in one of four priority bands10 
and bid for Registered Provider properties advertised on the Choice Based 
Lettings website.  
 
As of 31 March 2019, there were 859 applicants in housing need on South 
Oxfordshire’s housing register and 725 applicants in housing need on the 
Vale of White Horse’s housing register. 
 
The length of time an applicant may wait to make a successful bid varies 
widely depending upon their priority banding and the areas in which they are 
bidding. 
 
It is however often the case that households at risk of homelessness may 
have insufficient priority or waiting time to make a successful bid through 
Choice Based Lettings. 
 
It is therefore essential the councils can secure affordable tenancies in the 
private rented sector. 
 
White Horse Lettings is the councils in-house social letting agency. It works 
closely with private landlords to secure affordable tenancies for households 
at risk of homelessness.  White Horse Lettings offers a range of free 
services to landlords including tenancy support, a rent deposit scheme and 
rent-in-advance loans to tenants. 
 

 
10 Band 1: Exceptional Need,; Band 2: Urgent Need; Band 3: Significant Need; Band 4: Adequately 
housed  

Page 41



 
 

28 
 

Over the last three years White Horse Lettings has secured 112 new 
tenancies in South Oxfordshire and 115 tenancies in the Vale of White 
Horse. 
 
In 2018/19 White Horse Lettings worked with 15 new landlords in South 
Oxfordshire and 30 new landlords in the Vale of White Horse.   
 
Remaining at home 
 
To enable households at risk of homelessness to remain safely at home 
often requires the skilled intervention of Housing Needs Officers. 
 
It may be necessary to mediate and negotiate with friends or family to allow 
the household to remain at the property. 
 
The household may need legal or financial advice to help them remain in 
the property.  The councils have a rapid referral protocol with Citizens 
Advice and a strong relationship with independent advice agencies. 
 
 
Rough sleeping in South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White 
Horse 
 
A key aim of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is to end the 
need for rough sleeping in the districts. 
 
The Government’s definition of rough sleeping is as follows: 
 

 People sleeping, about to bed down (sitting on/in or standing next to 
their bedding) or actually bedded down in the open air such as on the 
streets, in tents, doorways, parks, bus shelters or encampments) 
 

 People in buildings or other places not designed for habitation (such 
as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, 
or “bashes”). 

 
The definition does not include people in hostels or shelters, people in 
campsites or other sites used for recreational purposes or organised 
protest, squatters or travellers. 
 
 
14. REASONS FOR ROUGH SLEEPING 
 
Connection Support provide an outreach service for rough sleepers in  
South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse.  Connection Support 
provides a weekly report to the councils on rough sleeping in the districts.  
 

Page 42



 
 

29 
 

Many of the rough sleepers in South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White 
Horse have chaotic lifestyles.  In most cases the complex nature of rough 
sleeping is further complicated by substance misuse or mental health 
issues.  There are also incidents where rough sleepers are not willing to 
engage with services or have been excluded from hostel accommodation. 
 
The outreach service is focussed upon supporting rough sleepers into 
secure, sustainable accommodation.  This may include suitable 
accommodation with family or friends, private rented accommodation or 
access into the Adult Homeless Pathway. 
 
 
15. LEVELS OF ROUGH SLEEPING 
 
In 2018/19 Connection Support received 61 referrals for rough sleepers in 
South Oxfordshire and 47 referrals for the Vale of White Horse.  
 
The tables below illustrate the gender and age of rough sleepers referred to 
the council’s outreach service in 2018/19. 
 
Gender: Male  Female Unknown Total 
Number 
SODC: 

38 9 14 61 

Number 
VOWH 

30 8 9 47 

 
 
Age: 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65 

and 
over 

Unknown Total 

Number 
SODC: 

10 8 11 5 2 1 24 61 

Number 
VOWH: 

7 7 5 6 3 1 18 47 

Connection Support have reported increasing demand for their services 
over the last three years. 
 
The official annual rough sleeper count, undertaken by all local housing 
authorities, shows a low level of rough sleeping in South Oxfordshire and 
the Vale of White Horse.  These figures reflect the success of the councils, 
in partnership with Connection Support, in resolving incidents of rough 
sleeping. 
 

Page 43



 
 

30 
 

3
5

7

2 3

0

5

10

15

20

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

SODC - official rough sleeper count

 
 
 

5 5

8
10 9

0

5

10

15

20

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

VWHDC - official rough sleeper count

 
 
The outreach service started in the Vale of White Horse District in 2017.  
The outreach service provides a more accurate, intelligence-led estimate of 
rough sleeping in the districts.  The number of rough sleepers recorded in 
the Vale of White Horse at the end of June 2019 was six persons. 
 
 
Persons of no fixed abode 
 
There are single homeless households who are not rough sleeping but have 
no permanent address.  These households are described as having no fixed 
abode and are sometimes referred to as “sofa surfers”. 
 
This “hidden homeless” is far more prevalent than rough sleeping but it is 
difficult to measure due to its hidden nature. 
 
As of 30 June 2019, there were 46 persons on South Oxfordshire District 
Council’s housing register and 64 on the Vale of White Horse District 
Council’s housing register who were either of no fixed abode or lacking a 
bedroom.  This figure however only reflects households who have applied to 
the housing registers.   
 

Page 44



 
 

31 
 

 
16. SUPPORT FOR ROUGH SLEEPERS 
 
The councils continue to increase support and accommodation for rough 
sleepers. 
 
The councils financially support the Adult Homeless Pathway in Oxfordshire.  
The funding provides twelve high support hostel beds in Oxford and thirteen 
supported flats in Abingdon.   The Pathway provides short to medium-term 
accommodation for rough sleepers and supports them into sustainable long-
term accommodation. 
 
In September 2018 the councils entered into an agreement with Mind 
Oxfordshire to support eight households with mental health issues in 
accommodation provided by Advance Housing.  
 
South Oxfordshire District Council, working in partnership with SOHA and 
Aspire Oxfordshire, have launched a Housing First Project.  The project 
provides six units of accommodation with intensive support for former rough 
sleepers.  The project will offer long term accommodation in a supportive 
and sustainable environment.  Vale of White Horse District Council are 
exploring options with Registered Providers to develop a Housing First 
project. 
 
The councils support female rough sleepers, with access to female only 
temporary accommodation and will provide sanitary products in an 
emergency. 
 
The councils, when necessary,  can also arrange temporary 
accommodation for pets belonging to homeless households while 
attempting to secure sustainable accommodation for their owner(s). 
 
 
The increasing support and accommodation available to rough sleepers 
supports the strategy’s aim to end the need for rough sleeping in South and 
Vale. 
 
 
17. STRATEGIC AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 
 
This strategy, supported by a detailed action plan, has three central aims: 
 

 to prevent homelessness whenever possible 
 

 to end incidents of homelessness at the earliest opportunity 
 
 to end the need for rough sleeping  

 

Page 45



 
 

32 
 

Following stakeholder engagement exercises and a review of 
homelessness, five key objectives have been identified to achieve the 
strategic aims: 
 
Objective 1: To improve county-wide partnership working to prevent  
                     and reduce homelessness. 
 

 Further develop county-wide partnership working to improve the 
delivery of homelessness services. 
 

 Improve partnership working with key agencies to prevent 
homelessness. 
 

 Improve engagement with councillors. 
 

 Develop a communications strategy.  
 
Objective 2: To minimise the use of temporary accommodation. 
 

 Prevent the need for households to access temporary 
accommodation. 
 

 Assist households to move quickly into suitable and sustainable 
accommodation. 
 

 Review the provision of council-owned temporary accommodation. 
 
Objective 3: To further develop our housing needs service to prevent 
                      and relieve homelessness at the earliest opportunity. 
 

 Further improve the quality of housing advice offered to customers. 
 

 Improve performance monitoring and service development. 
 

 Create a customer feedback framework to promote continuous 
service improvement. 

 
Objective 4: To improve access to emergency accommodation 
                      and increase support for rough sleepers. 
 

 Improve access to emergency accommodation for rough sleepers. 
 

 Improve the support available for rough sleepers. 
 

 Better data collection to tackle rough sleeping. 
 
Objective 5: To improve access to sustainable accommodation for  
                     households at risk of homelessness or who are homeless. 

Page 46



 
 

33 
 

 
 Improve the availability of supported accommodation for vulnerable 

persons. 
 

 Encourage private landlords to let their properties to households at 
risk of homelessness. 
 

 Bring empty properties back into use for households at risk of 
homelessness. 

 
Measurable Outcomes 
 
The success of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy will be 
measured against Key Performance Indicators (KPIs): 
 

 The percentage of successful homeless prevention cases.*  
The KPI target for 2020/21 will be 80% successful prevention cases** 

 
 the number of homeless households in temporary accommodation  

The KPI target for 2020/21 will be a ceiling of 15 households per 
council. 
 

 the length of stay for homeless households in emergency temporary 
accommodation.  
The KPI target for 2020/21 will be a ceiling of 42 days. 
 

 The number of rough sleepers. 
The KPI target for 2020/21 will be a maximum of six rough sleepers 
in each district at month end. 

 
* The definition of a successful homelessness prevention case is that the 
household has suitable and sustainable accommodation available for a 
minimum of six month. 
 
**  The reported figure will include the number of successful cases as well 
as the percentage of successful cases.  
 
The most recent South East regional figure for successful homelessness 
prevention11 is 56 per cent. 
 
 
 
  
 

 
11 Average of quarterly figures from Jul-Sep 2018 to April-June 2019 

Page 47



 

 

34 
 

 
 
 
 
 

South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils 
 
 
 

18. Joint Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2020-2025 

 
 
 

ACTION PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 48



 

 

35 
 

 
1. Improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness 
 

Objective Key Actions  
 

Timescales Resources 
required 

Responsible 
Officer 

 
Further develop county-
wide partnership working 
to improve the delivery of 
homelessness services 
 
 
 

 
 Develop with county-wide partners proposals to improve the delivery 

of homelessness services in Oxfordshire.  The proposals will 
consider the potential benefits of county-wide partnership working, 
including pooled budgets and co-commissioning. 

 
 In partnership with Cherwell District Council, Oxford City Council and 

West Oxfordshire District Council, recruit to the position of an 
Oxfordshire Homelessness Co-Ordinator to help develop proposals 
on county-wide working 

 
 To work in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council and the 

Oxfordshire district councils to improve housing services for 
vulnerable young people through co-commissioning of services and 
the development of the Young Persons Housing Strategy.  
 

 Work with Oxfordshire County Council, Cherwell District Council, 
Oxford City Council, West Oxfordshire District Council and the 
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group to commission and deliver 
the Adult Homeless Pathway in 2020/21 and 2021/22. 
 
 
 

 
Year 1  
 
 
 
 
Years 1 - 2 
 
 
 
 
Years 1 - 5 
 
 
 
 
Years 1-2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Office time 
 
 
 
 
FHSG** 
 
 
 
 
Officer time 
FHSG 
 
 
 
FHSG 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
HNM* 
 
 
 
 
HNM & HATL 
 
 
 
 
HATL 
 
 
 
 
HNM & HATL 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 49



 

 

36 
 

 
 To work with partners from “Oxfordshire Homeless Prevention 

Trailblazer” to maintain and develop links with probation services, 
hospitals and Oxfordshire County Council children’s services to 
prevent homelessness through early intervention. 
 

 Work with Oxfordshire County Council to develop better housing 
outcomes for families found to be intentionally homeless. 

 

 
Years 1-5 
 
 
 
 
Year 1 
 
 

 
Officer time 
 
 
 
 
Officer time 
 
 

 
HNM &  
HATLs 
 
 
 
HNM 
 
 

 
Improved partnership 
working with key 
agencies to prevent 
homelessness 
 
 

 
 Work with supported housing providers to increase move-on options 

for their residents to help them move into sustainable, independent 
accommodation. 

 
 Host an annual Registered Provider Forum with a focus upon support 

for tenants at risk of homelessness. 
 

 Develop a protocol with the Police, Community Safety and housing 
providers to ensure a co-ordinated response for victims of modern 
slavery. 

 
 Host an annual Homelessness Forum for partner agencies. 

 
 Work with the Police to develop a rough sleeper housing protocol. 

 
 Participate in the development of the Oxfordshire Domestic Abuse 

Strategy and assist in securing accommodation for victims of 
domestic abuse. 

 
Years 1 – 5 
 
 
 
Years 1 -- 5 
 
 
Year  2 
 
 
 
Years 2 – 5 
 
Year 1 
 
Years 1-2 
 
 

 
Officer time 
 
 
 
Officer time 
 
 
Officer time 
 
 
 
Officer time 
 
Officer time 
 
Officer time 
 
 

 
HNM & 
HATLs 
 
 
LTL 
 
 
HATL 
 
 
 
HNM 
 
HNM & HATL 
 
HATL 
 
 

P
age 50



 

 

37 
 

 
 Build upon our links with the Armed Forces by attending local events 

and forums and providing specialist housing advice from a 
designated Officer. 

 
 Host an annual Private Landlord’s Forum to promote White Horse 

Lettings.  
 

 
Years 1-5 
 
 
 
Years 1-5 

 
Officer time 
 
 
 
Officer time 

 
HNO 
 
 
 
HATL 

 
Improved engagement 
with councillors 
 

 
 Provide guidance for councillors on reporting and supporting rough 

sleepers. 
 
 Publish an annual review of the homelessness and rough sleeping 

strategy. 
 

 
Year 1 
 
 
Years 1-5 
Ongoing 

 
Officer time 
 
 
Officer time 

 
HATL 
 
 
HNM 
 

 
Development of a 
communications strategy  
 

 
 Increase the awareness of our homelessness service with partners, 

support agencies, service users and the public by developing a 
communications strategy. 

 
 Promote the success of the housing needs service through traditional 

and social media.  

 
Years 1-5 
 
 
 
Years 1-5 

 
Officer time 
 
 
 
Officer time 

 
HNM 
 
 
 
HNM 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 51



 

 

38 
 

2. Minimise the use of temporary accommodation 
 

Objective Key Actions  
 

Timescale Resources 
required 

Responsible 
Officer 

 
Prevent the need for 
households to access 
temporary 
accommodation 

 
 Maintain focus upon early intervention to prevent homelessness in 

the first instance, including the early identification of at-risk 
households with specific housing requirements. e.g. large families or 
households with disabled persons. 
 

 Maximise the opportunities through White Horse Lettings for 
households at risk of homelessness to secure alternative 
accommodation. 
  

 
Years 1 – 5 
 
 
 
 
Years 1 – 5 
Ongoing 
 

 
Officer time 
 
 
 
 
Officer time 
 
 

 
HATLs, LTL & 
HNOs 
 
 
 
HATLs & 
HNOs 

 
Assist households to 
move quickly into 
suitable and sustainable 
accommodation  

 
 Proactively work with households in temporary accommodation to 

identify and secure suitable alternative accommodation. 
 
 Review and update temporary accommodation procedures with a 

focus upon the early relief of homelessness. 
 

 Produce an exit plan for all households entering temporary 
accommodation and monitor on a weekly basis. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Years 1 - 5 
 
 
Years 1 – 5 
 
 
Years 1 - 5 
 
 

 
Officer time 
 
 
Officer time 
 
 
Officer time 

 
HNOs, WHL & 
LTL 
 
LTL 
 
 
HATLs & LTL 
 
 
 

P
age 52



 

 

39 
 

 
Review the provision of 
council-owned 
temporary 
accommodation 
 

 
 Undertake an options appraisal for the future provision of council-

owned temporary accommodation, including the needs of disabled 
households. 

 
 

 Review joint protocol arrangements with Registered Providers. 
 

 
Years 2 3  
 
 
 
 
Year 1 
 

 
Officer time 
 
 
 
 
Officer time 

 
HNM and 
property team 
 
 
 
LTL 
 

 
  
3. Further develop our homelessness service to prevent and relieve homelessness at the earliest opportunity  
 

Objective Key Actions Timescale 
 

Resources 
required 

Responsible 
Officer 

 
Further improve the 
quality of housing advice 
offered to customers  
 

 
 Review the Homelessness Reduction Act procedures to ensure they 

are structured around securing practical housing solutions as well as 
compliance with the legislation.  

 
 Develop individual training programmes for Housing Needs Officers. 

 

 
Year 1 
 
 
 
Year 1 

 
Officer time 
 
 
 
Officer time 
 

 
HATLs 
 
 
 
HATLs 

 
Improve performance 
monitoring and service 
development 

 

 
 Complete the development of the housing needs dashboard that 

provides weekly and monthly key performance data.  
 
 
 
 

 
Year 1 
 
 
 

 
Officer time 
 
 
 

 
HNM 
 
 

P
age 53



 

 

40 
 

 
Create a customer 
feedback framework to 
promote continuous 
service improvement 
 

 
 Design and promote a questionnaire to capture customer feedback.  

 
 Ensure service improvement actions are taken in response to 

customer feedback. 

 
Years 2-5 
 
Years 2-5 
 

 

 
Officer time 
 
Officer time 
 

 
HNM 
 
HNM & HNOs 
 
 

 
 
4.  Improve access to emergency accommodation and increase support for rough sleepers 
 
 

Objective Timescale 
 

Timescale Resources 
required 

Responsible 
Officer 

 
Improve access to 
emergency 
accommodation for rough 
sleepers 

 
 Establish access to a winter shelter for rough sleepers. 
 
 Recruit to a winter shelter co-ordinator role that will help 

rough sleepers accessing the shelter to secure alternative 
accommodation. 

 
 Investigate options for providing a local winter shelter. 

 
 

 
Year 1  
 
Year 1 
 
 
 
Year 1 

 
Officer time 
FHSG 
 
Officer time 
FHSG 
 
Officer time 
FHSG 

 
HATL 
 
 
HATL 
 
 
HATL 

 
Improve the support 
available for rough 
sleepers 

 
 Provide a dedicated, specialist Housing Needs Officer to 

casework rough sleepers. 
 
 

 
Year 1  
 
 
 

 
Existing 
resources 
 
 

 
HNO 
 
 
 

P
age 54



 

 

41 
 

 
 Recruit to a floating support role to support vulnerable 

households at high risk of homelessness. 
 
 Organise bi-annual operational meetings for rough sleeping 

support services and accommodation providers. 
 

 Review the outreach service provision for rough sleepers. 
 

 
Year 1 
 
 
Year 2 
 
 
Year 2 

 
Officer time 
FHSG 
 
Officer time 
 
 
Officer time 

 
HATL 
 
 
HATLs 
 
 
HNM 
 

 
Better data collection to 
tackle rough sleeping 

 
 Use the Government statistical returns on homelessness 

(HCLIC) to analyse the support needs of rough sleepers. 

 
Year 2 

 
Officer time 
 
 

 
HNM & HATL 

  
5. Improve access to sustainable accommodation for households at risk of homelessness or who are homeless.  
 

Objective Key Actions  
 

Timescale Resources 
required 

Responsible 
Officer 

 
Improve the availability of 
supported accommodation 
for vulnerable persons 

 
 Complete the evaluation of Housing First in partnership 

with SOHA and Aspire Oxfordshire. 
 

 Explore the option to develop Housing First projects with 
other Registered Providers. 

 
 Review our current provision of supported accommodation 

for persons with mental health issue. 

 
Year 1  
 
 
Year 2  
 
 
Year 1 

 
FHSG 
 
 
FHSG 
 
 
FHSG 
 
 

 
HNM & HATL 
 
 
HATL 
 
 
HATL 
 
 

P
age 55



 

 

42 
 

 
Encourage private landlords 
to let their properties to 
households at risk of 
homelessness 

 
 Review the incentives offered to private landlords to let 

properties through White Horse Lettings. 
 

 Promote White Horse Lettings services at the private 
landlord’s forum. 

 

 
Year 2 
 
 
Years 1 – 5  
 

 
Officer time 
 
 
Officer time 

 
WHL 
 
 
WHL 

 
Bring empty properties back 
into use for households at 
risk of homelessness 

 

 
 Create a private sector housing database of medium to 

long term empty properties. 
 

 Develop a package of incentives for owners that includes 
both White Horse Lettings incentives and private sector 
team incentives. 

 
 Implement a programme for contacting empty property 

owners. 
 

 
Year 1 
 
 
Year 1 
 
 
 
Years 1 - 2 
 

 
Officer time 
 
 
Officer time 
 
 
 
Officer time 

 
PSH 
 
 
PSH 
 
 
 
PSH 
 
 

 
Develop a marketing 
strategy 
 

 
 Work with the Communications teams to develop a 

marketing strategy for White Horse Lettings. 
 

 
Year 1 

 
Officer time 

 
WHL 

 
*  Flexible Homelessness Support Grant.  This is a Government grant that is ring-fenced for the purposes of preventing or relieving    
   homelessness. 
 
** HNM Housing Needs Manager   LTL Lettings Team Leader  WHL White Horse Lettings 
    HATL  Housing Advice Team Leader  HNO Housing Needs Officer      PSH Private Sector Housing 

P
age 56



 

43 
 

 
20. APPENDICIES 
 
Appendix 1: Partner organisations attending stakeholder  

  workshops 
 
Appendix 2: Definition of key terms: Homelessness Reduction Act   
                    2017  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 

44 
 

Appendix 1: Partner organisations attending stakeholder 
workshops  
 
 
A2 Dominion 
Abingdon Foyer 
Catalyst Housing 
Community Safety team 
Connection Support 
Department of Works and Pensions Oxfordshire 
Housing lettings team 
Mind Housing 
Oxford City Council 
Oxfordshire County Council 
Oxfordshire NHS Foundation Trust 
Private Sector Housing team 
SOHA 
SSAFA Oxfordshire 
Silva Homes 
Turning Point 
Wantage and Grove Foodbank 
Wantage Independent Advice Centre 
YMCA Henley 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 

45 
 

Appendix 2: Homelessness Reduction Act 2017: definition of terms  

Households who are statutorily homeless are owed legal duties that fall into 
three main categories: 

 

 Prevention duties include any activities aimed at preventing a 
household threatened with homelessness from becoming homeless. 
This would involve activities to enable an applicant to remain in their 
current home or find alternative accommodation in order to prevent 
them from becoming homeless. The duty lasts for 56 days but may be 
extended if the local authority is continuing with efforts to prevent 
homelessness. 

 

 Relief duties are owed to households that are already homeless and 
require help to secure settled accommodation. The duty lasts 56 days 
and can only be extended by a local authority if the households would 
not be owed the main homelessness duty. 

 

 Main homelessness duty describes the duty a local authority has 
towards an applicant who is unintentionally homeless, eligible for 
assistance and has priority need.  This definition has not been changed 
by the 2017 HRA. However, these households are now only owed a 
main duty if their homelessness has not been successfully prevented or 
relieved. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



  

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2020 – 2025 
CONSULTATION SUMMARY

A review of the feedback on the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2020 – 2025, which sets out how we believe we can tackle and 
prevent homelessness and rough sleeping in our districts  

 

JANUARY 2020

Page 60



CONTENTS

SUMMARY 1

BACKGROUND TO THE CONSULTATION 3

CONSULTATION METHODOLOGY 4

KEY FINDINGS – QUANTITATIVE DATA 5

KEY FINDINGS – QUALITATIVE DATA 15

HOW WE HAVE USED RESULTS OF THE CONSULTATION 45

FURTHER INFORMATION 46

APPENDIX A – BACKGROUND TO THE CONSULTATION 47

APPENDIX B – CONSULTATION COMMUNICATION 47

APPENDIX C – SURVEY 47

APPENDIX D – DEMOGRAPHIC DATA 47

APPENDIX E – FULL LIST OF COMMENTS RECEIVED 47

Page 61



1
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

SUMMARY
This report has been produced to analyse the comments received to the draft Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 – 2025 consultation. The strategy sets out how we believe 
we can prevent and tackle homelessness and rough sleeping in South Oxfordshire and Vale of 
White Horse.

We consulted on our draft aims and objectives, which we believe will increase the support and 
accommodation available for homeless households and rough sleepers across both districts. 
By law, we are required to publish a homelessness and rough sleeping strategy every five 
years and our current strategy lasts until September 2020.

The consultation ran for six weeks between 14 October and 25 November 2019. In total 198 
responses were received, specifically 155 online submissions and 43 postal responses. The 
postal responses were manually inputted into our online consultation system, Smart Survey. 
Participants were asked a range of questions relating to the draft aims and objectives of the 
strategy.

The majority of people responding, 176, did so as an individual or member of the public (89%), 
while six responses were made by a business or organisation and ten as a district, county or 
town / parish councillor or officer. Six responded as ‘other’. 

The consultation highlighted that there is strong overall support for the draft aims and 
objectives in the strategy. The strategy objectives received a variety of comments which will be 
explored further in this report.

Key findings:

Proposed objective 1: To improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and 
reduce homelessness
An exceptionally high proportion of respondents to this question (91%) either strongly agreed 
or agreed with this objective. Only 5% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, and a 
similar number (3%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. The issue raised most 
frequently in relation to this objective related to involving all relevant agencies and 
organisations in partnership working, especially mental health agencies.

Proposed objective 2: To minimise the use of temporary accommodation
More than two-thirds of respondents to this question (68%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
with this objective. This objective received the lowest support when compared with the other 
four proposed objectives. A small number of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed 
(10%), while double the number of respondents (20%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the 
objective. The issue raised most frequently in relation to this objective related to the view that 
temporary accommodation is occasionally necessary and if well-coordinated and maximised, 
can reduce the time this type of support is needed.

Proposed objective 3: To further develop our housing needs service to prevent and 
relieve homelessness at the earliest opportunity
A very high proportion of respondents to this question (88%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
with this objective. Only 4% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, while a slightly 
higher number (7%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. The most frequently 

Page 62



2
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

raised comments about this objective were positive and relate to this being a core objective 
that should be prioritised.

Proposed objective 4: To improve access to emergency accommodation and increase 
support for rough sleepers
A very high proportion of respondents to this question (88%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
with this objective. Only 5% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, while almost the 
same number (6%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. The issue raised most 
frequently in relation to this objective concerned working more closely with the voluntary sector 
and those organisations who are best placed to help coordinate rough sleeping programmes. 
Respondents also thought that there could be closer working with churches and clergy.

Proposed objective 5: To improve access to sustainable accommodation for 
households who are at risk of homelessness or who are homeless
A very high proportion of respondents to this question (90%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
with this objective. Only 3% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, while double the 
number (6%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. The issue raised most frequently 
in relation to this objective related to building social and sustainable housing as a matter of 
priority, including the suggestion to increase council taxes to help with delivery. 

Overall, how far do you agree or disagree with the proposed aims and objectives in the draft 
strategy 
A high proportion of respondents to this question (83%) either strongly agreed or agreed with 
this proposal. Only 4% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, while a relatively 
higher number (9%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. The most frequently 
raised comments highlighted general agreement with the proposed aims and objectives, 
though at the same time recognising that homelessness will never be eliminated.

A summary of findings is collated in this report and will be presented to our Cabinets. Following 
any comments from Cabinet, and final approval, the updated Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 will be published on our South and Vale websites, with the new 
strategy coming into effect from the date of publication. 

Page 63

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/housing-policies
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/housing-policies


3
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

BACKGROUND TO THE CONSULTATION
Since 2010 homelessness and rough sleeping has risen significantly in England. South 
Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse have not witnessed a similar rise, despite the 
increasing demands placed upon the homelessness service.

The new draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 increases 
the support and accommodation available for homeless households and rough 
sleepers in the districts. The strategy has been developed following a review of 
services that included a series of stakeholder engagement exercises with 
councillors; service users and partner organisations. 

The review considered the councils’ achievements during the lifetime of the previous 
strategy; the current demands on the homelessness service, and the ability to meet 
these demands in the future. The review findings informed the aims and objectives 
of the new draft strategy. More information about the review of homelessness 
services can be found in the strategy.

What’s happening now? 

The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025, supported by a detailed 
action plan, has three aims: 

 to prevent homelessness wherever possible;
 to end incidents of homelessness at the earliest opportunity;
 to end the need for rough sleeping.

We have identified five strategic objectives to help to achieve these aims: 

1. to improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness;
2. to minimise the use of temporary accommodation;
3. to further develop our housing needs service to prevent and relieve homelessness at the 

earliest opportunity;
4. to improve access to emergency accommodation and increase support for rough 

sleepers;
5. to improve access to sustainable accommodation for households who are at risk of 

homelessness or who are homeless.

More information

The consultation material, including a background summary document setting out why we are 
proposing the actions, was available to be viewed at Appendix A, during the consultation 
period. 

The detailed actions that are proposed to meet each of the objectives of the strategy are set 
out on pages 33 to 41 of the draft strategy document that was on the South and Vale websites 
during the consultation period.

Page 64



4
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

CONSULTATION METHODOLOGY
The consultation methodology consisted of the following: 

 an email notification to 69 key stakeholders and interested parties, comprising local 
registered providers, advice centres, homeless charities, neighbouring local authorities, 
and town and parish councils in the districts;

 an email notification to the councils’ consultee database, to provide a link to a short 
background document and the draft strategy document along with details of how to 
comment. The notification was issued through the online consultation system Smart 
Survey. A total of 1,601 email notifications were sent out. A copy of the email notification 
can be found at Appendix B;

 a letter to those consultees who opted in for postal correspondence. This included the 
background information document, the survey, details on to how to obtain a copy of the 
draft strategy and a letter notification (see the email notification as an example of the 
text used at Appendix B). A total of 346 letters were issued;

 informing South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse district councillors through our 
internal councillor e-newsletter;

 a background information document including the five key strategic objectives proposed 
for the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, for ease of understanding;

 updating the website and publishing the background information document, the draft 
strategy document and a link to the online survey;

 a focused online survey, offering participants opportunity to indicate their level of 
agreement to the five objectives and comment on each objective in a free text box. A 
copy of the survey can be found at Appendix C.

 a press release was issued on the consultation launch date, and social media 
messages (Twitter and Facebook) posted during the first half of the consultation period 
(until Purdah began on 6 November and we were unable to promote the consultation) to 
further publicise and encourage wide participation from the public;

 the consultation was carried out in conformity with our public engagement charter1.
 a six-week consultation period for submitting responses.

Reporting methodology

 a total of 198 responses were received, made up of 176 completed responses and 22 
partial responses (these are where the survey has been partly completed). From the 
initial 146 partial responses received, where an email address was available (from those 
who used the save and continue option) responses were checked against completed 
responses to check for duplicates and 124 were deleted, 22 were put through manually 
as responses (where the respondent had answered at least one of the three main 
questions). Three comment forms were received several days after the survey closed 
and aren’t included in this analysis;

 two handwritten comment forms were scanned as the responses were unreadable; 
 338 free text comments were received. A summary of the comments is included in this 

report. Some spelling, grammatical and punctual errors in the original comments raised 
were corrected in the main body of this report; a full list of unedited comments can be 
found at Appendix E.

1 http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/our-commitments-public-engagement   

Page 65

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/our-commitments-public-engagement


5
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

KEY FINDINGS – QUANTITATIVE DATA
The key quantitative findings from the consultation are summarised below. 

Respondents were not required to answer all of the questions. The few questions that were 
required to be answered in the online survey had the option of ticking ‘this doesn’t apply to me’ 
or ‘prefer not to say’. The survey provided an opportunity to make comments or suggestions on 
each of the objectives and to the overall strategy. 

There were 198 responses to the consultation. Nearly all responses were received from 
individuals (89%), with a further 8% of responses from businesses/organisations, or local 
district, county or town / parish councillors or officers. Respondents also included six people 
who ticked the ‘other’ box (3%).

Note: text in italics is added to help with clarity

Other (please specify):
Landlord
Academic
Individual and also a landlord of homes
No response to this question
Placement Team OCC (Oxfordshire County Council)
I am also a parish councillor

What is the name of your business / organisation or council? 
Oxfordshire County Council
Lewknor Parish Council
Chapel of the Holy Cross Church

88.9%

3.0% 2.5% 2.5% 3.0%

An individual / 
member of the 

public

A business / 
organisation

A district, county 
or town/parish 

councillor

A district, county 
or town/parish 

officer

Other
0.0%

10.0%
20.0%
30.0%
40.0%
50.0%
60.0%
70.0%
80.0%
90.0%

100.0%
Are you responding to this survey as:

Page 66



6
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

SSAFA
Soha Housing Ltd
Stoke Row Parish council
Sandford-on-Thames Parish Council
NPS (housing organisation)
Science (answered by ‘Academic’)
Thame Town Council
Rotherfield Greys Parish Council
Oxfordshire CC (County Council)
Abingdon Town Council
Milton (Abingdon) Parish Council
Watchfield Parish Council
Oxford City Council
Kidmore End
SODC (South Oxfordshire District Council)

A number of questions asked about personal circumstances that relate to the nature of the 
consultation. Responses highlighted that 14 respondents (7%) currently receive, or have at 
some time received, support from the South Oxfordshire or Vale of White Horse housing needs 
team.

Yes 
[VALUE]

No 
[VALUE]

This doesn't apply 
to me 

[VALUE]

Yes No This doesn't apply to me

Do you currently receive, or have you ever received, 
support from the South Oxfordshire or Vale of White Horse 

housing needs team?

Across South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse district councils, there are nearly 200 
households currently receiving support from our housing needs team.

Page 67



7
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

We asked for a range of demographic information to help determine whether the individuals 
who took part in the survey are representative of the local population and, of those, who could 
be affected by the proposed objectives. 

The demographic data collected showed that for those respondents who answered this 
question a slightly higher proportion of respondents identified as female (50%) than male 
(43%), while a few respondents preferred not to say (5%). 

Seventeen per cent of respondents who answered the question specified that their day to day 
activities were limited because of a health problem or disability. Additional demographic data 
can be found at Appendix D.

Page 68



8
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

PROPOSED OBJECTIVES FOR THE DRAFT HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING 
STRATEGY 2020-2025 

Respondents were asked to comment on the five proposed objectives that have been identified 
to support the three aims of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025. 
Respondents were also asked to comment on the overall proposed aims and objectives of the 
strategy.

To find out what people think of the five proposed objectives and the overall strategy, we 
explained the aims of the strategy, the five strategic objectives that we identified to help 
achieve these aims and the detailed actions that are proposed to meet each of the objectives 
of the strategy. More information on the proposed aims and objectives was provided to 
respondents in the background information document and the full draft strategy, these are 
included at Appendix A.

Respondents were asked how much they agree or disagree with each of the five proposed 
objectives and the overall draft strategy and were given choices ranging from strongly agree to 
strongly disagree, and don’t know. There was also an opportunity to provide comments or 
suggestions to each of the objectives and the overall strategy. These questions were not 
required to be answered and respondents could skip these questions completely. 

Please note: As respondents had a choice of whether or not to answer questions, the 
percentages used in this report represent the percentage of respondents who answered the 
question being discussed. For all other questions, although respondents were required to 
respond, they were given an option of ‘this doesn’t apply to me’ or ‘prefer not to say’. 

The survey results show that the objective of improving county-wide partnership working to 
prevent and reduce homelessness received the most support (91%) from the percentage of 
respondents who answered the question, with either ‘strongly agree’ or agree’ to the proposed 
objective.

Based on respondents who answered the other questions, this was very closely followed by 
the objectives to improve access to sustainable accommodation for households who are at risk 
of homelessness or who are homeless (90% support), further develop our housing needs 
service to prevent and relieve homelessness at the earliest opportunity (88% support) and 
improve access to emergency accommodation and increasing support for rough sleepers (88% 
support). Receiving less support was the objective to minimise the use of temporary 
accommodation (68%), again based on respondents who answered this question. 

When asked overall how far respondents agree or disagree with the proposed aims and 
objectives in the draft strategy, the percentage of respondents who answered either ‘strongly 
agree’ or ‘agree’ was 83%.

There were a high number of comments made to each of the proposed objectives and to the 
overall strategy, with 338 individual comments received in total. A full list of the comments can 
be found at Appendix E.

When we looked at how those who have received support from the councils housing needs 
team (14 people, 7%) responded to the overall strategy, we noticed that the level of agreement 
with the overall aims and objectives was slightly higher from this group (86% either ‘strongly 
agree’ or ‘agree’) compared to those who do not receive this support (83%). 

Page 69



9
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

PROPOSED OBJECTIVE 1: TO IMPROVE COUNTY-WIDE PARTNERSHIP WORKING TO 
PREVENT AND REDUCE HOMELESSNESS

We are proposing a strategic objective to improve county-wide partnership working to prevent 
and reduce homelessness. This is one of the five objectives identified to help achieve the aims 
of the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025.

An exceptionally high proportion of respondents to this question (91%) either strongly agreed 
or agreed with this objective. Only 5% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, and a 
similar number (3%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. Sixty-seven respondents 
provided comments, which are discussed later in the report.

60.5%

30.8%

2.6% 2.6% 2.1% 1.0% 0.5%
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Not answered

How far do you agree or disagree with proposed objective 1: 
Improving county-wide partnership working 

to prevent and reduce homelessness? 

Page 70



10
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

PROPOSED OBJECTIVE 2: TO MINIMISE THE USE OF TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION

We are proposing a strategic objective to minimise the use of temporary accommodation. This 
is one of the five objectives identified to help achieve the aims of the draft Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025.

More than two-thirds of respondents to this question (68%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
with this objective. This objective received the lowest support when compared with the other 
four proposed objectives. A small number of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed 
(10%), while double the number of respondents (20%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the 
objective. Fifty-seven respondents provided comments, which are discussed later in the report.

35.2%
32.6%

20.2%

8.3%

2.1% 1.6% 0.0%
0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Not answered

How far do you agree or disagree with objective 2: 
Minimising the use of temporary accommodation? 

Page 71



11
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

PROPOSED OBJECTIVE 3: TO FURTHER DEVELOP OUR HOUSING NEEDS SERVICE TO 
PREVENT AND RELIEVE HOMELESSNESS AT THE EARLIEST OPPORTUNITY

We are proposing a strategic objective to further develop our housing needs service to prevent 
and relieve homelessness at the earliest opportunity. This is one of the five objectives 
identified to help achieve the aims of the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
2020-2025.

A very high proportion of respondents to this question (88%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
with this objective. Only 4% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, while a slightly 
higher number (7%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. Fifty respondents 
provided comments, which are discussed later in the report.

59.8%

27.8%

7.2%
1.5% 2.1% 1.0% 0.5%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Not answered

How far do agree or disagree with proposed objective 3: 
Further developing our housing needs service to prevent and relieve 

homelessness at the earliest opportunity?

Page 72



12
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

PROPOSED OBJECTIVE 4: TO IMPROVE ACCESS TO EMERGENCY ACCOMMODATION 
AND INCREASE SUPPORT FOR ROUGH SLEEPERS 

We are proposing a strategic objective to improve access to emergency accommodation and 
increase support for rough sleepers. This is one of the five objectives identified to help achieve 
the aims of the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025.

A very high proportion of respondents to this question (88%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
with this objective. Only 5% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, while almost the 
same number (6%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. Fifty-two respondents 
provided comments, which are discussed later in the report.

66.7%

21.4%

6.3%
1.6% 2.6% 1.6% 0.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Not answered

How far do you agree or disagree with proposed objective 4: 
Improving access to emergency accommodation and 

increasing support for rough sleepers

Page 73



13
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

PROPOSED OBJECTIVE 5: TO IMPROVE ACCESS TO SUSTAINABLE ACCOMMODATION 
FOR HOUSEHOLDS WHO ARE AT RISK OF HOMELESSNESS OR WHO ARE HOMELESS

We are proposing a strategic objective to improve access to sustainable accommodation for 
households who are at risk of homelessness or who are homeless. This is one of the five 
objectives identified to help achieve the aims of the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2020-2025.

A very high proportion of respondents to this question (90%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
with this objective. Only 3% of respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed, while double the 
number (6%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the objective. Fifty-four respondents provided 
comments, which are discussed later in the report.

62.1%

27.7%

6.2%
0.5% 2.1% 1.5% 0.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Not answered

How far do you agree or disagree with proposed objective 5: 
Improving access to sustainable accommodation for households 

who are at risk of homelessness or who are homeless

Page 74



14
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

OVERALL, HOW FAR DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSED AIMS AND 
OBJECTIVES IN THE DRAFT STRATEGY 

The draft Joint Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 has three aims: to 
prevent homelessness whenever possible; to end incidents of homelessness at the earliest 
opportunity; and to end the need for rough sleeping. We have identified five strategic 
objectives to help achieve the aims of the draft strategy, and this is supported by detailed 
actions to meet each of the objectives.

A high proportion of respondents to this question (83%) either strongly agreed or agreed 
overall with the proposed aims and objectives. Only 4% of respondents disagreed or strongly 
disagreed, while a relatively higher number (9%) neither agreed nor disagreed with the 
objective. Fifty-eight respondents provided comments, which are discussed later in the report.

38.3%

44.3%

8.7%

1.6% 2.2% 1.6% 1.1% 2.2%0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%
50.0%

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Not answered

Overall, how far do you agree or disagree with the proposed
aims and objectives in the draft strategy? 

Page 75



15
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

KEY FINDINGS – QUALITATIVE DATA 
The consultation allowed participants to provide free text responses to the five proposed 
objectives and how they felt about the overall proposed aims and objectives in the strategy. 
This opportunity allowed respondents to openly indicate reasons behind their answers to the 
previous tick box questions, which asked them to tell us how far they agreed or disagreed with 
each proposed objective and the overall strategy. 

A range of comments and suggestions were received. A summary of all the comments, along 
with how frequently they were mentioned, can be found in the tables below. Comments raised 
more than twice, highlighted in the tables, have been responded to by the housing needs team. 
Some spelling, grammatical and punctual errors in the original comments raised were 
corrected in the main body of this report; a full list of unedited comments can be found at 
Appendix E.

Proposed objective 1: to improve county-wide partnership working to 
prevent and reduce homelessness

A summary of the key themes emerging from the comments received on the objective to 
improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness can be found 
below.

These comments show that the issue raised most frequently related to involving all relevant 
agencies and organisations in partnership working, especially mental health agencies.

The next most frequently raised comment related to the importance of addressing the 
relationship between addictions – particularly alcohol and drugs – to homelessness and 
comments on early prevention work especially regarding mental health issues. 

Comments were also made about working more with local communities, the movement of 
rough sleepers migrating to Oxford city from the districts and vice versa, and also that 
homelessness and people being on the streets should not happen, especially in a wealthy 
country.

Table 1: Frequency of comments raised to improve county-wide partnership working to prevent 
and reduce homelessness

Comment type Frequency
Involve all agencies / organisations 10

Address relationships: addiction (alcohol / drugs), physical and emotional issues and homelessness 5
Prevention / early intervention is 'key', especially with mental health issues 4

Work more with local communities (eg schools, colleges, pubs, volunteers) 3
Rough sleepers might leave SODC / Vale and migrate to Oxford / vice versa 3
Homelessness should not happen (eg in a wealthy country), get people off streets is No 1 priority 3

Keep homeless near friends and family / schools 2
Have more affordable housing in / near places of work, offer jobs 2

Vital to find solutions to creating more viable move on options 2
This objective appears focused on bureaucracy rather than results 2

Page 76



16
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

INVOLVE ALL AGENCIES / ORGANISATIONS
The highest frequency of comments from respondents related to working closely with all 
relevant agencies and organisations to improve county-wide partnership working to prevent 
and reduce homelessness. Most comments related to working across all relevant organisations 
especially working with mental health agencies.

Agreed every agency should be involved. (ID 129038408)

Working together across all relevant and contributing organisations has got to be the 
right approach. This may also include approved voluntary organisations, but because 
homelessness can have many complex issues such as drug abuse or mental health 
issues it needs to be tacked collaboratively with expert resources. (ID 129737336)

I strongly agree with organisations working together to tackle homelessness issues. 
When things are fragmented well- being people step in to help and this is not always a 
good idea or sustainable. (ID 130200027)

Concerned this strategy will act as magnet / offer accommodation for local people 2
Engagement with landlords (and property owners) is important and could be more developed 2
Hostels needed in many localities / more small 'pods' before situation is critical 2

Work closer with people who have criminal record / imprisoned 2
All possible problems associated with homelessness to be analysed / solutions sought, taken 
seriously

2

Partnership is meaningless statement, not clear enough 2
Make homeless aware of Personal Housing Plan system 1
Like idea of a Homelessness Coordinator 1

Building on Trailblazer network is good 1
Involve local businesses in issues and help with solutions 1
You can only support those who want support 1
Town councils should have emergency funds / process to help 'through sleepers' on way to Oxford 1

Fear I will be paying for this 1
Make public aware of how they can give support 1
Is system flexible / robust enough to share agency information quickly and efficiently 1
These are good intentions, but 'how' will practical ideas be accomplished 1
Just work countywide (not nationwide) 1

Homeless on streets of Oxford are an eyesore and embarrassing 1
Ensure taxes are not spent in other areas 1

Encourage homeless to work when possible 1
Emphasis should not be financial, rather we need to make decision from heart and use our heads 1
Extra help and support to young people 1

Housing and help should be given to people that deserve it / given on good behaviour 1
Admirable proposals, if enough funds to make reality 1

Use council actions and funds to solve problems, not add to them (eg taking non council tax payers to 
court / prison)

1

Page 77



17
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Link up teams from District and Town Councils in order to count numbers of homeless 
people. (ID 130316359)

One respondent wondered why there isn’t already close partnership working. 

One wonders why there has not been close cooperation in this matter in the past. 
(ID 129123371)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy recognises the importance of building upon the existing strong partnership 
arrangements across the county to tackle homelessness.  These partnerships include 
statutory, non-statutory and voluntary agencies to ensure a ’joined-up’ approach to 
addressing both the housing and support needs of homeless households.

ADDRESS RELATIONSHIPS: ADDICTION (ALCOHOL / DRUGS), PHYSICAL AND 
EMOTIONAL ISSUES AND HOMELESSNESS
There were several views expressed about the relationship between addiction, in particular to 
alcohol and drugs, and homelessness. Comments also reflected other possible reasons for 
people being homeless, such as physical or mental issues caused by marital break-up or being 
ex-forces.

The relationship between addiction (and alcohol / drugs) and homelessness needs to be 
addressed. (ID 129397780)

I do know some people who are homeless…Most people come to Oxford City to beg for 
money for drugs or drink. These people need to be helped to get out of their downward 
spiral. (ID 130191359)

Try and find out why people are homeless. Health? Physical / mental. Ex forces. 
Marriage break-up etc. (ID 130316359)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
Addressing the underlying support needs of homeless households is essential in order to 
secure long term housing solutions. Every household at risk of homelessness is provided 
with a Personal Housing Plan that identifies specific support needs, including substance 
misuse, and then works with a Housing Needs Officer to help address these needs and 
secure sustainable accommodation.

PREVENTION / EARLY INTERVENTION IS 'KEY', ESP WITH MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES
Several comments focused on the importance of prevention and early intervention in reducing 
homelessness and working with mental health organisations where homeless are suffering 
from mental health issues.

Prevention is the key. Most data show that early intervention is the primary indicator in 
reduced homelessness. Especially where that intervention is with those who suffer 
mental issues. (ID 129029394)

Mental health agencies should be involved as often the inability to cope with ‘normal’ life 
leads to opting out which can result in homelessness. (ID 129029923)

Page 78



18
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy is strongly focussed upon early intervention to prevent homelessness 
occurring in the first place. The housing needs team works closely with statutory and 
volunteer organisations to support people with mental health issues and also provides 
supported accommodation for persons with mental health issues.

WORK MORE WITH LOCAL COMMUNITIES (EG SCHOOLS, COLLEGES, PUBS, 
VOLUNTEERS)
Comments were made about working with partners beyond those listed in the strategy to help 
identify homeless and vulnerable people, for example by working with very local organisations 
and communities who are often best placed to help.

Work more with the local communities (ID 129035261)

On reading the actions my only concern is that the necessary communication could 
extend beyond the partners listed - To identify homeless people, potentially vulnerable 
families / individuals. You could even involve schools, colleges, pubs – i.e. use the 
community. (ID 129943823)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The partner organisations listed at Appendix 1 of the strategy refers only to the agencies that 
attended the stakeholder engagement workshops. The housing needs team works with a 
wide range of community-based volunteer agencies, including advice agencies, food banks 
and charities that provide housing-related assistance.  The draft strategy action plan includes 
an action to increase public engagement through a communications strategy.

ROUGH SLEEPERS MIGHT LEAVE SOUTH OXFORDSHIRE / VALE AND MIGRATE TO 
OXFORD / VICE VERSA
A few people are concerned that rough sleepers are migrating between the districts and Oxford 
city and back again.

Does the fact that there is little rough sleeping in SODC mean that they migrate to 
Oxford where it is rampant in the city centre? (ID 129054256)

… avoid Oxford City pushing homeless people into VWH! (ID 129470082)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
There is a perception that rough sleepers may migrate from South and Vale into Oxford City.  
The more recent official rough sleeper count identified only two rough sleepers in Oxford City 
with a local connection to either South or Vale.  The very low levels of rough sleeping in 
South and Vale illustrates that Oxford City rough sleepers are not migrating to the districts.

HOMELESSNESS SHOULD NOT HAPPEN (EG IN A WEALTHY COUNTRY), GET PEOPLE 
OFF STREETS IS NO 1 PRIORITY
Some respondents felt that homelessness should not happen in a wealthy country, and that 
getting people off the street should be a number one priority.

I feel homelessness should not be happening in this country, a wealthy one. 
(ID 129270403)

Getting people off the streets should be no 1 priority. (ID 130198035)

Page 79



19
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Feedback from the housing needs team:
A key aim of the draft strategy is to end the need for rough sleeping. There are a number of 
actions in the strategy designed to achieve this aim by both preventing rough sleeping and to 
get any rough sleepers into accommodation at the earliest opportunity.

Comments from business, organisations or councils:

Oxfordshire County Council

I like the idea of a Homelessness Coordinator and building on Traliblazer network links 
is good.  I think finding solutions to creating more viable move on options is vital. 
(ID 129040219)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
South and Vale are co-funding the position of a Homelessness Co-ordinator together with 
the county council and district councils.  Developing a countywide approach, building upon 
the successful legacy of Trailblazers to prevent homelessness, is a key objective of the draft 
strategy. 

Sandford-on-Thames Parish Council (officer)

Are the links and shared databases between district councils and housing associations 
robust enough? Are the systems to facilitate housing swaps flexible enough? Neither 
flexible nor robust is enough if the information is not managed quickly and efficiently eg 
is there a system for the Friday afternoon crisis? (ID 129211841)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team work closely with Registered Providers and have protocols in place 
for the early identification of households at risk of homelessness. The joint Housing 
Allocations Policy enables management moves by Registered Providers to quickly respond 
to potential homelessness situations.

NPS (housing organisation)

Work closer with people that have a criminal record, still don't like the term intentionally 
homeless. There is a void still with people who are imprisoned. (ID 129227602)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The Oxfordshire trailblazers project funded an embedded housing worker who supported 
prison resettlement teams and Probation officers. This initiative successfully reduced the 
number of prisoners in Oxfordshire who were homeless on release. This countywide work is 
being continued by a Housing Options Officer based in Oxford City who is a dedicated link 
worker supporting criminal justice colleagues to further reduce incidents of prisoners 
becoming homeless on release.

Watchfield Parish Council (councillor)

In section 1, Improve country-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce 
homelessness, you indicate your wish to work with county-wide partners. However, 
nowhere is it mentioned that very local organisations, charities and volunteers are 

Page 80



20
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

sometimes best placed to identify issues around current and prospective homelessness 
in their own communities. (ID 131347173)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team works with a wide range of community-based volunteer agencies, 
including advice agencies, food banks and charities that provide housing-related assistance.  
The team agrees that local organisations play a key role in tackling homelessness and will 
continue to work closely with these partner agencies.

Proposed objective 2: to minimise the use of temporary accommodation
A summary of the key themes from the comments received on the objective to minimise the 
use of temporary accommodation can be found below.

These comments show that the issue raised most frequently related to the view that temporary 
accommodation (TA) is occasionally necessary and if well-coordinated and maximised, can 
reduce the time this type of support is needed.

The next most frequently raised comment related to the feeling that this objective is reliant on 
new and permanent housing being available, as well as suitable, in order to be successful.

There were also comments about temporary accommodation sometimes being the only 
answer and that it is better to use temporary accommodation than to be on the streets.

Table 2: Frequency of comments raised to minimise the use of temporary accommodation

Comment type Frequency

TA occasionally necessary, reduces time in TA if well-coordinated, maximise for those 
who need it

10

Objective dependent on new / permanent housing availability / suitable accommodation 8

TA sometimes the only answer / better than being on the streets 5

Turn vacant shops into rented housing, use ex-army barracks and hotels 3

Need an exit plan in place to avoid being 'dumped' into TA 2

TA is main focus for early prevention 2

Fear I / taxpayers will be paying for this 2

Involve all agencies including charity sector 2

More small 'pods' to help before situation is critical / blocks of living units 2

All possible problems associated with homelessness to be analysed / solutions sought, 
taken seriously

2

Ensure enough TA available, it's very important 2

Landlords shouldn't get rich from / run sub-standard temporary accommodation 2

Temporary accommodation transient and puts people in limbo 1

Temporary accommodation disruptive and depressing, to be avoided 1

Don't use cheap B&B's / allow people to stay in B&B during the day 1

Concerned this objective will act as a magnet 1

Charge appropriate rent to support bank of spare housing 1

Right to buy too heavily discounted 1

Page 81



21
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

These are good intentions, but 'how' will practical ideas be accomplished 1

More accommodation needed for elderly being released from custody 1

TA means people struggle to get work, credit, schools as don't have regular address 1

TA okay if doesn't cause more problems 1

TA should be evenly distributed 1

Deliver TA support from Community Navigators 1

TA should include cooking facilities 1

TA for 24 hours maybe, but for months is unsustainable 1

Objective should be to 'minimise the need' for TA 1

Homeless on streets of Oxford are an eyesore and embarrassing 1

Break up social groups to help people move in right direction / get right help 1

Relocate single people to other council accommodation (across county) to make room 
for families

1

Should be better council inspected / run hostels for very short-term emergency shelter 1

We should accommodate our local people first 1

Use TA for very short-term emergencies 1

TA great if you have the funds 1

Build more council homes for less well-off / homeless 1

Spend funds more constructively rather than on courts / imprisonment 1

TA OCCASIONALLY NECESSARY, REDUCES TIME IN TA IF WELL COORDINATED, 
MAXIMISE FOR THOSE WHO NEED IT
The highest number of comments made about this objective were around temporary 
accommodation being occasionally necessary and appropriate, but that it should be well 
coordinated, and maximised for those who actually need it.

Temp accommodation is transient and puts people in limbo but is necessary from time 
to time. (ID 129034383)

Why minimise the use TA when the need is still there if they move on from the TA was 
better coordinated than the time in TA would be reduced. (ID 129073067)

Rather than ‘minimising the use’ the objective should be to ‘minimise the NEED’. The 
use of emergency accommodation should be maximised to ensure that all who need it 
can have it. (ID 129671775)

Some respondents thought there will always be a need for temporary accommodation. 

I cannot understand why there’s a need to ‘minimise’ usage of temporary housing when 
there’s an apparent need for it. (ID 129679426)

Surely there will always be a need for temporary accommodation? (ID 130734175)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The use of temporary accommodation is often disruptive and distressing for homelessness 
households. The focus of the draft strategy is that whenever possible to avoid the dislocation 
and cost of temporary accommodation by preventing homelessness in the first place. 

Page 82



22
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

There will be an ongoing need to provide temporary accommodation in an emergency, 
however the incidents and duration of these placements should be minimised through 
securing better, sustainable housing outcomes.

OBJECTIVE DEPENDENT ON NEW / PERMANENT HOUSING AVAILABILITY / SUITABLE 
ACCOMMODATION
A high frequency of comments were made about how this objective is highly dependent on the 
availability of suitable permanent housing – the lack of its availability – and how the ‘housing 
crisis’ needs to be addressed earlier on at the planning stage.

Idealistic and obviously positive in its intention, but so dependant [sic] on new housing 
being available. (ID 129033571)

Yes we need more permanent housing to be able to support this problem 
(ID 129041287)

I do not think this type of accommodation can be ignored, if the availability of long term 
properties are not present. (ID 130202740)

Build some suitable accommodation. (ID 130200027)

One comment was critical of the planning system and stated that the wrong type of houses are 
being built, rather they the type actually needed.

The Planning Dept needs attention. The ‘housing crisis’ is not too few ‘houses’ but too 
many of the wrong type of houses (3 & 4 bed built by developers FOR developers) and 
too few of the type needed (1 & 2 bed units in places accessible by public transport).   
Planners seem to be allowing developers to ‘set the rules’.  Planners should be working 
for the community they serve - not the government. (ID 131201818)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team recognises and supports the need for an increase in genuinely 
affordable housing to help provide long term housing solutions to homelessness and housing 
need.  Effective use of the current housing stock can ensure that use of temporary 
accommodation is kept to an absolute minimum.

TA SOMETIMES THE ONLY ANSWER / BETTER THAN BEING ON THE STREETS
Some respondents felt that the use of temporary accommodation has its place and was 
sometimes the only way of helping people who would otherwise end up on the streets.

While I agree with the policy, for those with a chaotic lifestyle or immediate relationship 
breakdown, temporary accommodation is sometimes the only answer, so this policy 
should not be a reason for poor provision of temporary accommodation. (ID 129110446)

Why? Anything is better than being on the streets. (ID 129138501)

Temporary housing is better than the streets - as long as it does put more people onto 
the streets it has a place. Minimise is key word not eliminate. (ID 130198035)

Page 83



23
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy aims to end the need for rough sleeping and minimise the incidents of 
homelessness.  The use of short-term emergency accommodation for rough sleepers or 
homeless households may be necessary, albeit undesirable, while making rapid 
arrangements for more sustainable accommodation.

TURN VACANT SHOPS INTO RENTED HOUSING, USE EX ARMY BARRACKS AND 
HOTELS
A few comments suggested that vacant shops should be purchased and turned into houses 
that could then be rented out. Another suggestion was to use ex-army barracks and hotels as 
temporary accommodation.

See item C on question 7: C - Shops are closing due to Amazon (online shopping). 
Take over these shops (compulsory purchase) for a reasonable price and turn them into 
houses and collect rent for them. (ID 129698304)

Use ex-army barracks and hotels so there is an incentive to get a job and move on. 
(ID 129940633)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The change of use from retail outlets to residential properties is a matter for planning policy. 
We will feedback these comments to our Planning Policy team. 

Comments from business, organisations or councils:

Oxfordshire County Council

Early intervention is key, I agree with this as a main focus for prevention (ID 129040219)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
Early intervention and the prevention of homelessness is central to the draft strategy.

Sandford-on-Thames Parish Council (officer)

As this is likely to be more expensive and dislocating for those affected, the only 
solution is to have some capacity in the housing stock but therein lies the problem. 
Ideally each area would have one or two homes available for emergency use to avoid 
temporary accommodation- or a block of 4 living units (ID 129211841)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy includes an action to undertake an options appraisal for the provision of 
council-owned temporary accommodation that will include the location of temporary 
accommodation in the districts. 

NPS (housing organisation) 

Temporary accommodation is all well, but if no duty is accepted after that, then they are 
street homeless. More accommodation is needed for the elderly people being released 
from custody. (ID 129227602)

Page 84



24
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy aims to prevent or relieve homelessness before a ‘main duty’ 
homelessness decision is required that may consider a person as ‘non-priority’ need.  This 
preventative approach includes intervening early when people are due to be released from 
prison.

Proposed objective 3: to further develop our housing needs service to 
prevent and relieve homelessness at the earliest opportunity
A summary of the key themes from the comments received on the objective to further develop 
our housing needs service to prevent and relieve homelessness at the earliest opportunity can 
be found below.

These comments show that the matters raised most frequently were positive ones relating to 
this being a core objective that should be prioritised.

The next most frequently raised comment related to whether the objective has enough detail, 
and how it will be achieved, practically and financially. 

There were also comments about working more with mental health charities, taking a proactive 
approach in identifying who might be at risk of being homeless and looking for solutions for the 
many and varied reasons people become homeless.

Table 3: Frequency of comments raised to further develop our housing needs service to prevent 
and relieve homelessness at the earliest opportunity

Comment type Frequency

This is core objective / good to do 6

This objective needs more detail around how it will be achieved / funding problem 4
Work more with organisations / charities eg mental health charity MIND 3
Take a proactive approach, identify people at risk before they become homeless 3

All possible problems around homelessness to be analysed / solutions sought, look at individuals 3

Need to do what is necessary / homelessness is immediate 2
Use redundant schools / derelict buildings as hostel 2

Make best use of existing housing 2
For those unwilling to work / manage addiction, hostels only in severe weather 2

Why build homes if people can't afford rent 2
Objective dependent on new / permanent housing availability / suitable accommodation 2
Need more long-term secure accommodation for all / private renters 1
Use Community Navigators, evidence-based approach 1
Have a longer term and more joined-up strategy to strengthen and support objective 1

Good projects already in place eg Oxfordshire Trailblazers, Housing First, Gold Rose 1
Use adapted shipping containers (as seen in Reading) 1
Easily accessible on-line and phone advice service for tenants 1
Give short term loans for rent arrears while waiting for UC 1
Objective should depend on homeless working, paying for damages / repairs, respecting 
neighbours 1

Page 85



25
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Increased housing needs infrastructure eg schools, GP practice 1
Don't impinge on housing for locals 1
Build affordable (no down payment) housing / reasonable rent, prioritise families with children 1

Turn vacant shops into rented housing 1
Affordable housing which enables people to 'buy' a stake is important 1
Housing (for homeless) should be mixed in with private and professional rented property, stop 
slum area 1
Work more with local communities (Eg schools, colleges, pubs, volunteers) 1

Don't know how to access the 'housing needs service' - suggest it's advertised 1
Not fair for poor taxpayers to foot the bill 1
Raise council tax to provide fund to build council properties, incentivise local builders 1
Provide financial planning support 1
Make public aware of how they can give support 1

Spend funds more constructively rather than on courts / imprisonment 1

THIS IS CORE OBJECTIVE / GOOD TO DO
The highest frequency of comments were made in support of this objective, stating that its 
core, close to where the work is and should be prioritised.

This is a core objective (ID 129034759)

…this should be close to where work is (ID 129080682)

Yes to the objective.  (ID 130185790)

This is definitely a need and should be prioritised. (ID 130198035)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The further development of our housing needs service to prevent and relieve homelessness 
is recognised as a key priority in the draft strategy.

THIS OBJECTIVE NEEDS MORE DETAIL AROUND HOW IT WILL BE ACHIEVED / 
FUNDING PROBLEM
In contrast to the positive comments above, a few respondents felt that this objective needs 
more qualification and questions how it will actually be achieved and whether funding is 
needed to achieve the actions.

Clearly there are many good intentions.  But what I so far do not see are any practical 
ideas for how to accomplish those good intentions.  The important question is always 
‘How’. (ID 129226925)

 
This is a funding problem. I’m not aware if this proposal can ever be met. 
(ID 130202740)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The practical actions that will achieve the objective are set out in the detailed action plan.   
The funding streams to implement the action plan have been identified and will be met within 
existing budgets. The draft strategy will be amended to include further details on funding 
arrangements. 

Page 86



26
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

WORK MORE WITH ORGANISATIONS / CHARITIES EG MENTAL HEALTH CHARITY MIND
Working closely with organisations and charities, especially mental health charities and 
volunteers was mentioned by a few respondents.

I believe that working with organisations such as Mind could be effective. 
(ID 129070411)

Yes to the objective.  Some creativity might be useful i.e using rundown existing stock / 
asking charities / volunteers help to get it back to use. (ID 130185790)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team are currently working with MIND to provide supported 
accommodation to people with low to medium level mental health needs. The team also 
work closely with mental health support services and housing providers across the county to 
help people with mental health issues access support and housing.

TAKE A PROACTIVE APPROACH, IDENTIFY PEOPLE AT RISK BEFORE THEY BECOME 
HOMELESS
Some strong views were expressed by a few respondents about the importance of identifying 
people in the community who may be at risk of being homeless and taking action to prevent 
this happening in the first place. 

A clear objective to do more and not allow a culture of just doing enough to meet the 
need of HRA. More proactive, finding people in the community who may have a future 
housing crisis, before they present at the LA (ID 129073067)

This would be good to avoid homeless e.g. people who pay rent and fall behind are 
much better looked after before they become homeless. I should imagine it is cheaper 
to look after them before they become homeless as well. (ID 129254553)

The primary objective should be to identify risk of homelessness and be able to take 
action to prevent it. This is difficult but would avoid many more difficult situations which 
arise from homelessness both for families and single people. Financial planning help is 
badly needed by many with support to manage limited funds. (ID 130729011)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team already intervenes in many potential homeless cases before the 
statutory 56-day period. The Enhanced Housing Options online housing module helps 
identify people at risk of homelessness before they approach the councils. 

From January 2020, a grant-funded specialist floating support officer will be working with 
vulnerable individuals and families in their homes and communities to pro-actively provide 
holistic support to prevent homelessness.

ALL POSSIBLE PROBLEMS AROUND HOMELESSNESS TO BE ANALYSED / SOLUTIONS 
SOUGHT, LOOK AT INDIVIDUALS
Respondents also felt strongly that just providing accommodation won’t necessarily lead to a 
reduction in homelessness. Comments highlighted that many of the root causes of 
homelessness can have a greater impact and need to be analysed and tackled, partly by 
looking at individual cases. 

Page 87



27
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

From what I’ve read the availability of alternative accommodation does not necessarily 
lead to a reduction in homelessness. Other factors can be more influential - i.e. use of 
drugs, need for companionship, mental instability - and need to be taken into account. 
(ID 129671775)

Ditto 6: I would say you have produced 5 objectives but without any analysis of the 
problems. Are you dealing with age, sex, finances, mentality, education, social or 
antisocial, hard working or shy of work. Are the clients local or international. Are they 
different in every case. Do they have physical, mental, sexual, cultural etc problems. 
You haven’t met your solutions with questions rather than defined problems and 
individuality. (ID 129674194)

Society cannot and must not ignore homelessness. We must tackle and eliminate the 
roots causes of homelessness. Local and District authorities have a key role to play in 
both helping provide accommodation and in educating their residents to stop ignoring 
the homeless. (ID 131299453)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy includes analysis of the key cohorts of homeless households in the 
districts that have distinct housing needs.  It is important however to recognise that each 
incident of homelessness is specific to that household.  The needs of individual households 
are addressed through a Personal Housing Plan and the ongoing support of a dedicated 
caseworker.  This individual, holistic approach addresses both the immediate and any 
underlying causes of homelessness. 

Comments from business, organisations or councils:

Oxfordshire County Council

I think this is a bit thin and needs more qualification around how you intend to achieve 
this (ID 129040219)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy includes a detailed action plan that explains how we intend to achieve this 
objective. 

Sandford-on-Thames Parish Council (officer)

Easily accessible on-line and telephone service to advise tenants of measures they can 
take when threatened with eviction and possible short-term loans for rent arrear 
difficulties (eg while waiting for UC). (ID 129211841)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing pages on the councils’ websites provide information for tenants, and any tenant 
threatened with eviction can phone a direct number for advice and assistance from a 
Housing Needs Officer.  Rent loans may be available to potentially homeless households in 
certain circumstances 

Proposed objective 4: to improve access to emergency accommodation 
and increase support for rough sleepers

Page 88



28
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

A summary of the key themes from the comments received on the objective to improve access 
to emergency accommodation and increase support for rough sleepers can be found below.

These comments show that the issue raised most frequently related to working more closely 
with the voluntary sector and those organisations who are best placed to help coordinate rough 
sleeping programmes. Respondents also thought that there could be closer working with 
churches and clergy.

The next most frequently raised comment related to the view that no one should sleep rough in 
winter and the importance of addressing the relationship between homelessness and 
addictions and unemployment. The same number of respondents also thought that this 
objective could have the most impact for the least cost.

There were also comments about no one sleeping rough, unless by choice, and that more use 
could be made of military barracks and houses, out of season student accommodation and 
converted office blocks as a supply of emergency accommodation.

Table 4: Frequency of comments raised to improve access to emergency accommodation and 
increase support for rough sleepers

Comment type Frequency

Work more with / closer cooperation with organisations / charities / churches 5
No rough sleepers especially in winter 4
Address relationship of homelessness & addiction (alcohol / drugs), unemployment, offer 
counselling 4
This is essential / urgent objective, where most impact can be made for least cost 4
No one should sleep rough (unless by choice) 3
Use army barracks and military houses / converted office blocks for singles 3
Use university accommodation out of term time as shelters 2
Set up proper emergency accommodation 2
Might encourage people from outside districts to use our (improved) services 2
All possible problems around homelessness to be analysed / solutions sought, look at 
individuals 2
Refer to Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) to access to winter time shelter 1
Support specialist housing needs officer idea 1
Create local provision in districts 1
Set up smaller hostel projects in districts 1
Make public aware of how they can give support 1
use adapted shipping containers (as seen in Reading) 1
More hostels over a wider area to provide address for work applications 1
These are good intentions, but 'how' will practical ideas be accomplished 1
Use redundant schools as hostel 1
Provide separate female only hostels for safety 1
Look at other factors: drugs, need for companionship, mental instability 1
Offer mediation for young rough sleepers and their parents 1
Ensure accommodation is secure / address fears of drugs, theft, violence 1

Page 89



29
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Give homeless community work and pay them in kind (food / drinks not money) 1
Offer literacy programmes and ways to access to medical care 1
Open Didcot Civic Hall overnight for people that behave 1
Address fear of inquiries, police etc if setting up extra accommodation 1
Long term accommodation and support is the key, but this is needed as interim 1
Make best use of existing housing 1
Focus intervention on new rough sleepers 1
Spend funds more constructively rather than on courts / imprisonment 1

WORK MORE WITH / CLOSER COOPERATION WITH ORGANISATIONS / CHARITIES / 
CHURCHES 
The most frequently mentioned comments were in support of working more closely with the 
voluntary sector and organisations who can help coordinate rough sleeping programmes. 
Respondents thought that the churches and clergy could be better utilised.

I agree.  This is a context in which the local authority could beneficially co-operate with 
the St. Dismas charity, which is specifically dedicated to relieving homelessness and 
rough sleeping. (ID 129033571)

I don’t think that working with the voluntary sector was mentioned in this draft statement. 
With proper coordination, this could be very helpful. (ID 129110446)

Involve churches and clergy in towns. (ID 129698012)

Some rough sleepers may be illiterate. Churches should be used to enable this 
objective. I believe all rough sleepers programmes should have access to medical care / 
literacy and know how to access these. (ID 129939310)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team engage with local churches and clergy to help develop improved 
services for rough sleepers.  The potential development of a local winter shelter was also 
discussed, however due to the geography of the districts it was not possible to develop a 
similar model to Oxford City.  The trial local winter shelter scheduled for January 2020 will be 
provided and managed by a specialist housing provider, however we will be looking to 
secure voluntary assistance if the trial shelter is successful.

NO ROUGH SLEEPERS ESPECIALLY IN WINTER
There were several views expressed in support of this objective and in particular ensuring that 
there is enough emergency accommodation available so that no-one sleeps rough in the 
winter.

Particularly in winter there should be no rough sleepers. (ID 129254553)

This seems to me the most urgent objective - especially throughout winter when people 
should not be sleeping rough (ID 130064224)

There are obviously some genuine rough sleepers. It seems strange they gather in the 
city centre and not in rural areas. I think there should be access to emergency 

Page 90



30
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

accommodation if the weather conditions could threaten life. It should not be seen as 
the norm. Who is paying for this? (ID 130191359)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
A trial local winter shelter for a six-week period is planned to start from January 2020.  The 
shelter is being funded by a Government grant. It will be available only to rough sleepers 
from South or Vale and has been subject to thorough risk assessments. 

ADDRESS RELATIONSHIP OF HOMELESSNESS & ADDICTION (ALCOHOL / DRUGS), 
UNEMPLOYMENT, OFFER COUNSELLING
A few people had the view that the relationship between homelessness and wider issues like 
drug and alcohol dependency need to be addressed.

Need to tackle unemployment and drug / alcohol dependency in parallel as these are 
factors in homelessness. (ID 129398497)

Homeless accommodation should also provide drug counselling for those who need it. 
(ID 129691837)

Getting rough sleepers out of a cycle has got to be the way forward - temporary 
accommodation without addressing the wider issue is just papering over the cracks. 
(ID 129737336)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
Households with support needs, including drug or alcohol issues, are addressed as part of 
preparing a Personal Housing Plan.  A Housing Needs Officer can arrange specialist support 
from agencies including referrals to Turning Point (health and social care organisation for 
persons with substance misuse issues). 

THIS IS ESSENTIAL / URGENT OBJECTIVE, WHERE MOST IMPACT CAN BE MADE FOR 
LEAST COST
A few respondents gave strong support to this objective, commenting that it is essential and 
can have the most impact for the least cost.

This is the front line where the most impact can be made for least cost. (ID 129678633)

Agree - essential - otherwise numbers of homeless and street sleepers will increase. 
(ID 129679426)

Yes increase support for rough sleepers (ID 130182236)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy contains a number of practical measures to increase support for rough 
sleepers or those at risk of rough sleeping and to increase emergency accommodation.

NO ONE SHOULD SLEEP ROUGH (UNLESS BY CHOICE)
A few comments were made that stated no one should be sleeping rough on the streets, 
unless they’ve chosen to do so.

No one should be forced to sleep rough unless they choose to. (ID 129041287)

Page 91



31
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Most support seems to be given by charity workers and i believe elected councils should 
provide a ‘safety net’ for rough sleepers. In the present day, no one should be sleeping 
on the streets. (ID 129944974)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
A key aim of the draft homelessness and rough sleeping strategy is to end the need for 
rough sleeping through prevention and emergency accommodation. The action plan sets out 
how this will be achieved.

USE ARMY BARRACKS AND MILITARY HOUSES / CONVERTED OFFICE BLOCKS FOR 
SINGLES
Some respondents felt that there were several types of accommodation that could be used or 
converted for emergency accommodation and rough sleepers including Army barracks and 
military houses, student accommodation and office blocks.

What sort? Barracks, open a hostel, not housing (ID 129940633)

Are there any Army / Air Force houses that could be used? Older student 
accommodation in Oxford City during Summer Holidays? Houses such as those 2 in 
Summerfields Abingdon North which are deserted? (ID 130316359)

Converted office blocks are not suitable for families, but better suited to single people, 
as long as there is a communal area, so they don’t feel isolated. (ID 131480128)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The proposal for a trial local winter shelter, planned to start from January 2020 with grant 
support from Government, will provide specialist accommodation and support to meet the 
needs of rough sleepers.  This type of accommodation is most suitable for meeting the 
specific needs of rough sleepers.

Comments from business, organisations or councils:

Oxfordshire County Council

Specialist Housing Needs Officer and Winter Shelter are great ideas (ID 129040219)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The specialist Housing Needs Officer and Winter Shelter are key components to help end 
the need for rough sleeping in South and Vale.

Sandford-on-Thames Parish Council (officer)

More hostels over a wider area with the status to support those who need an address to 
apply for work. (ID 129211841)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The Adult Homeless Pathway is responsible for the hostel network that provides over 200 
supported hostel beds in Oxfordshire. South and Vale financially contribute to the Adult 
Homeless Pathway that provides essential housing and support for former rough sleepers.

Page 92



32
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Proposed objective 5: to improve access to sustainable accommodation for 
households who are at risk of homelessness or who are homeless
A summary of the key themes from the comments received on the objective to improve access 
to sustainable accommodation for households who are at risk of homelessness or who are 
homeless can be found below.

These comments show that the issue raised most frequently related to building social and 
sustainable housing as a matter of priority, including the suggestion to increase council taxes 
to help with delivery.

The next most frequently raised comment offered strong support for this objective, being seen 
as the ultimate solution to this growing problem.

There were also comments supporting the idea that more could be done to help utilise empty 
accommodation.

Table 5: Frequency of comments raised to improve access to sustainable accommodation for 
households who are at risk of homelessness or who are homeless

Comment type Frequency
Build social / sustainable housing as a priority (raise Council Tax, encourage builders) 6

This objective is ultimate solution to growing problem / good aims / absolutely necessary 4
Do more to use empty property 3
How will this be funded? 2

Housing First project is good scheme, we should use this 2

Housing should be basic human right / not something to get out of 2
Have more sustainable accommodation close to places of work / school and public transport 
links

2

Engagement with landlords is important / work more in partnership 2
Involve all agencies 2

These are good intentions, but 'how' will practical ideas be accomplished 2
Address relationship between addiction (alcohol / drugs) and homelessness 2
Being homeless / getting accommodation should not be something anyone can claim from public 
funds

2

Compulsory purchase of vacant / run down property, provide access to empty properties 2
What does sustainable mean in this case / if one is homeless? 2
Early prevention is best 1
Work with banks and building societies to halt evictions 1

More understanding of reasons and causes for homelessness 1
Consider longer term shared accommodation for single (working) homeless people 1

Prevent worsening mental health and unemployment 1
Work better with difficult family tenants to reduce threat of eviction 1
Create charter for families at risk to support them to thrive 1
Might encourage people to use our (improved) services 1
use adapted shipping containers (as seen in Reading) 1

Page 93



33
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Make subsidised rentals affordable 1
Restrict Council Tax reductions except on second / third homes 1
Need more good, reasonable, safe accommodation for stability 1

All possible problems around homelessness to be analysed / solutions sought, look at individuals 1
Let council houses at affordable rent 1
Access to affordable housing where people can 'buy a stake' rather than renting 1
Developing a marketing strategy sounds too commercial 1
Make people aware of options when at risk and provide advice 1
Build more social and affordable homes / bungalows instead of large expensive houses 1

Tenants in council owned property should keep communal gardens, clear paths etc 1
High housing costs challenge people on all incomes 1
Prevent foreign investors from profiteering from housing stock 1

Necessary it is suitable (no cubicles in converted buildings) 1
Spend funds more constructively rather than on courts / imprisonment 1

BUILD SOCIAL / SUSTAINABLE HOUSING AS A PRIORITY (RAISE COUNCIL TAX, 
ENCOURAGE BUILDERS)
The highest number of comments made on this objective were concerned with the lack of 
social and sustainable housing at the expense of larger executive style homes and the 
importance of actually building new social housing as a priority.

Make the building of social housing a priority, even if it implies a rise in Council Tax. 
(ID 129033165)

Perhaps be more explicit including the term ‘building’ sustainable accommodation - not 
just ‘improving access’ (ID 129139302)

Forget shared ownership, please start building proper council housing available for long 
term assured tenancies, without right to buy.   I do appreciate this is a more national 
policy issue rather than local. But we need more good, reasonable, safe 
accommodation in order to provide stability. (ID 129620662)

There were a couple of comments that suggested that the type of accommodation being built 
should include more social housing and less large ‘luxury’ detached houses. 

Encourage builder to build a % of all accommodation products to be available to these 
people and first time buyers - rather than…4-5 bedded luxury houses which seem to be 
being built. (ID 130198035)

It is not great that areas of the greenbelt are being developed for ‘executive’ housing - 
what about more social housing? Where I live there are already plenty of nice 4 
bedroom detached homes. The huge development down the road has the social 
housing and ‘affordable’ homes as the final phase. Will it ever happen? In the 
meanwhile there are even more large expensive houses. What about bungalows? 
(ID 130200027)

Page 94



34
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The increased development of social, genuinely affordable housing is supported by the 
housing needs team as a key tool for tackling homelessness. The type and level of house 
building in the district is set out in the Local Plans for South and Vale.

THIS OBJECTIVE IS ULTIMATE SOLUTION TO GROWING PROBLEM / GOOD AIMS / 
ABSOLUTELY NECESSARY
In slight contrast to the comments above, several respondents told us that these are good aims 
and are necessary, but accommodation needs to be suitable.

Well this is the ultimate solution to a growing problem.  But I wonder if there is adequate 
funding to enable this laudable aim. (ID 129033571)

Proposed objective 5 is important to improve (ID 130182236)

Good aims, though i am not really sure what the last action is - developing a ‘market 
strategy’, sounds too commercial to me. Should I worry? (ID 129943823)

Absolutely necessary.  And necessary it is SUITABLE. (No cubicles in converted 
buildings) (ID 131480128)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
Access to sustainable accommodation is not only limited to social housing. The councils 
established a social lettings agency, White Horse Lettings, ten years ago to secure 
affordable tenancies in the private rented sector across both districts. The marketing strategy 
is to encourage private landlords to offer medium-term tenancies at Local Housing 
Allowance rates.  These tenancies are essential to prevent homelessness against the 
background of an acute shortage of affordable housing.

DO MORE TO USE EMPTY PROPERTY
A few comments supported the idea to provide incentives to let empty property, as well as 
doing more to put empty accommodation into use.

I don’t think that enough is done to bring empty accommodation into use. 
(ID 129110446)

…address empty houses quicker. (ID 129254553)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The draft strategy includes specific actions to encourage owners of empty properties to bring 
them back into use, including offering the property to White Horse Lettings, the councils’ 
social lettings agency.

Comments from business, organisations or councils:

Oxfordshire County Council

Housing First model development good. Also great to see ambition to provide incentives 
to let empty property (ID 129040219)

Page 95



35
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The Housing First pilot project with SOHA and Aspire will provide long-term supported 
tenancies to former rough sleepers in South Oxfordshire.  The housing needs team are also 
in discussions with housing providers to introduce Housing First in Vale of White Horse. 

Sandford-on-Thames Parish Council (officer)

Affordability is the main issue so some subsidised rentals. (ID 129211841)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The affordability of housing is a significant challenge to the housing needs team.  An 
increase in Registered Provider accommodation being provided at social rent levels, as 
opposed to affordable rent levels, would help tackle homelessness in the districts.

Overall, how far do you agree or disagree with the proposed aims and 
objectives in the draft strategy  

A summary of the key themes emerging from the comments received on the overall aims and 
objectives in the draft strategy can be found below.

These responses show that the comment raised most frequently highlighted strong agreement 
with the proposed aims and objectives, though at the same time recognising that 
homelessness will never be eliminated.

The next most frequently raised comment concerned how these good intentions will be 
achieved and asking about actual targets and the importance of providing evidence to support 
the strategy. 

There were also comments about building on the success of the current strategy, supporting 
people with substance misuse, maintaining and extending partnerships and tackling the many 
reasons for homelessness.

Table 6: Frequency of comments raised on the overall proposed aims and objectives in the draft 
strategy 

Comment type Frequency

Agree with the proposal in general / looks thorough (but homelessness will never be eradicated) 7
These are good intentions, but 'how' will practical ideas be accomplished, what are actual targets 4
Strategy should include research on proposals to provide evidence, be person-centered 4
Builds on successes so feel confident it is sound / in total agreement 3
Not sure strategy is sufficient to support those with substance misuse problems (are they 
homeless due to behaviour?) 3
Maintain partnership with agencies and advice centres, neighbouring councils 3
Reasons people become homeless must be faced - support for jobs, health care, addiction, family 3
Need positive action, not committees and meetings 2
Balance offering accommodation for rough sleepers that isn't so attractive it's 'desirable' 2

Should offer a clear pathway to help homeless get back to life they want / improve, develop 2

Page 96



36
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Support in helping get employment / useful activities to gain self respect, improve conditions 2
Target so undeserving aren't encouraged to take advantage of 'system' / become dependent 2
Provide houses but also support people from returning to sleeping on streets 2

Rough sleeping should be Government policy (supported financially and morally) 2
Keen for council to meet increasing demand for affordable rented housing esp for low income 
households, eg though Local Plan 2
Ensure limited funds are focused on projects proven to make a difference (not contribute to rent / 
property value inflation) 2
You can only support those who want support, some choose to sleep rough / victim of 
circumstance 1
Rough sleepers might leave SODC and migrate to Oxford 1

Prevention for private renters who retire as they could be at risk of homelessness 1
Private landlords don't like renting to those on benefits 1
Have more affordable housing in / near places of work - use brown field sites 1
Means test for rent 1
Offer large hostel type short-term accommodation with basic facilities, health services, job / 
education support 1
Strategy needs a financial impact statement (for rent schemes, staffing costs) 1

Fast track Housing First - proposed timescale is too long 1

Aims are weak and overlap, need to say which agencies you'll work with, need shorter vision 1
Homeless should be seen as failure of the welfare state 1
Addicts / alcoholics should have accommodation if they cooperate / behave 1
To improve your knowledge about 'homelessness prevention' broaden information to councillors, 
parish councils, share with schools through e-newsletter 1

Suggest using the Oxford Street Pastor group in Didcot, Henley etc 1
Use unused rooms above shops for accommodation 1

Does giving money to beggars help or hinder the problem? 1
People using service should help review and improve service 1
Authorities / police / agencies should be on the streets interacting with street sleepers / homeless 
to remove them to suitable place 1

Provide mental health and addiction services 1
Use empty properties (temporary take over) eg work with CofE on empty rectory 1

Seems vague, no detail - not clear what you are proposing 1
Use churches for rough sleepers as long as they behave 1
This is long overdue - too many homeless needing support 1
Use collection boxes (eg for stamps) at libraries / town halls 1
Open community centres and offer food in bad weather 1
Disagree with selling off council and social housing 1

Need more joined up thinking eg with developers 1

Homeless provided with accommodation should help their communities (parks, litter, roadsides) 1
Clarity sought for definition of 'type of household' mentioned in strategy 1
Council and Community Safety Partnership to work at very local level with community 
organisations 1
Ending rough sleeping requires transformation in approach eg countywide strategic lead for 
singles 1
Continue learning from homelessness Trailblazer, further develop links 1

Page 97



37
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

AGREE WITH THE PROPOSAL IN GENERAL / LOOKS THOROUGH 
(BUT HOMELESSNESS WILL NEVER BE ERADICATED)
The most comments received to this question were positive ones where respondents agreed in 
general with the strategy and thought it was thorough and well thought through. It was 
recognised that homelessness will never be eradicated.

I agree with the proposal in general. I would like to think there is a clear pathway to help 
homeless individuals get back to a life they would like.  I would like to think that anyone using 
the service is given a chance to review the service for continuous improvement e.g. if I was 
homeless I would like to feel safe in whatever help was offered (ID 129111678)

A policy must be in place, therefore what is proposed is as good any other. (ID 129255839)

Well meaning, but will never be eradicated.  On-street begging and homelessness seems to go 
together. (ID 129397780)

Looks thorough, well thought through. (ID 129943823)

I think the overall proposed aims and objectives are laudable. (ID 130200027)

There is nothing to disagree with. Ensuring that everyone has a home to live in that is fit for 
purpose and meets any special needs should be a top priority (ID 131378888)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team notes the strong overall support for the aims and objectives of the 
draft homelessness and rough sleeping strategy.

THESE ARE GOOD INTENTIONS, BUT 'HOW' WILL PRACTICAL IDEAS BE 
ACCOMPLISHED, WHAT ARE ACTUAL TARGETS
Several respondents were concerned about how the actions will be achieved in practice, the 
‘how’ of actually accomplishing the targets.

…these are good but how are these going to be achieved? I am not seeing the HOW in 
these statements (ID 129041287)

Aims and objectives are all very well on paper but we need to see action and 
implementation, not just words. (ID 129944974)

My concern is that it’s all a bit motherhood and apple-pie but there are no actual targets. 
What does each action hope to achieve in actual numbers, and how? How will more 
people in need actually be housed? How will their needs be met? Are there safeguards 
in place to ensure there is no revolving door of homelessness? (ID 131378888)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The detailed action plan sets outs how the aims and objectives of the draft strategy will be 
achieved. The key performance indicators will be challenging targets based upon historically 
strong performance levels and will be reviewed and published annually.

Spend money on constructive things like building homes and helping people and spend less on 
punishing them 1

Page 98



38
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

The Year One KPI targets have been added to the strategy document. 

STRATEGY SHOULD INCLUDE RESEARCH ON PROPOSALS TO PROVIDE EVIDENCE, 
BE PERSON-CENTERED
Several respondents commented that the strategy should be focused on individual 
circumstances and that there should be more research done to provide evidence about the 
cause of homelessness.

My only comment would be that this strategy needs to be person-centred and evidence-
based. Research should be done on any proposals to ensure that there is evidence that 
they will improve services. (ID 129117339)

As stated I do not have access to detail.  How can you object to such aims. Practicalities 
of implementation pose many issues of financing and its implications for other services 
and how to prioritise.   It is stated as not a great problem in SODC and VOWH, some 
practical assessment would be useful and also be categorised e.g. Individual with 
(mental health, family breakdown, addiction)…families (young / school children) without 
data it’s shadow boxing comment. (ID 129395841)

I think all are necessary, but there could be more research into the cause of 
homelessness. (ID130202740)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The focus of the draft strategy is to provide practical, timely interventions based around the 
specific needs of the household. The reasons for homelessness, the support needs of 
particular groups of people, and the person-centred approach to tackling homelessness are 
concisely addressed in the strategy. 

BUILDS ON SUCCESSES SO FEEL CONFIDENT IT IS SOUND / IN TOTAL AGREEMENT
Strong support for the overall aims and objectives was given by a few respondents who feel 
confident the strategy is sound.

In many ways you are continuing and building upon successes already achieved so I 
feel confident the strategy is sound (ID 129034759)

In total agreement with aims and objectives (ID 130185468)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The aim of the draft strategy is to build upon the success of preventing and relieving 
homelessness in the districts.

NOT SURE STRATEGY IS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THOSE WITH SUBSTANCE 
MISUSE PROBLEMS (ARE THEY HOMELESS DUE TO BEHAVIOUR?)
A few respondents commented that they weren’t sure if the strategy was sufficient to help 
those with substance misuse problems into suitable accommodation, and question whether 
homeless people could do more to help themselves. 

Not sure there is a sufficient strategy in place to help those with substance misuse 
problems to find and remain in suitable accommodation. Are not these people the very 

Page 99



39
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

ones who might be said to be intentionally homeless due to their behaviour? 
(ID129051685)

I do feel that some homeless people do not do enough to help themselves.
(ID 129132465)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
All households who are either homeless, or at risk of homelessness, complete a detailed 
Personal Housing Plan that identifies support needs including drug or alcohol issues.  A 
Housing Needs Officer can arrange specialist support from agencies, including referrals to 
Turning Point and floating support services to help vulnerable households maintain their 
accommodation.

MAINTAIN PARTNERSHIP WITH AGENCIES AND ADVICE CENTRES, NEIGHBOURING 
COUNCILS 
A few comments were made about encouraging partnership working with agencies like 
Citizens Advice, neighbouring local authorities and including churches and schools.

Do maintain and develop your partnership working with other housing agencies and 
advice and guidance agencies such as Citizens Advice.  In your draft Homelessness 
and Rough Seeping Policy you talk about improving knowledge about Homelessness 
Provision.  Could you broaden the information you are planning to provide to District 
Councillors and makes sure that it is also promoted to Town and Parish Councils?  
Could you also make it available to Schools?  Possibly via Head Teachers, but also 
School Nurses (at Secondary Schools).  OCC has a weekly ‘Schools News’ emailed 
newsletter that goes out to all state schools in the County. (ID 129257280)

You should be looking at all the empty properties we have in SODC and coming up with 
a plan to take them over until the owners act responsible. Example there is a five 
bedroom rectory on our village that has been empty for over a year. I thought the C of E 
was one of your partners? (ID 129927499)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team work closely with Citizens Advice and have developed a rapid 
referral protocol for households at risk of homelessness.  The action plan includes improving 
communication with councillors and bringing empty homes back into use.

REASONS PEOPLE BECOME HOMELESS MUST BE FACED - SUPPORT FOR JOBS, 
HEALTH CARE, ADDICTION, FAMILY
A small number of comments suggested that the reasons people become homeless should be 
broken down and not seen in isolation.  

Well meaning, but will never be eradicated.  On-street begging and homelessness 
seems to go together. Does giving money to beggars help or hinder the problem? I’ve 
often been asked for money to stay in a night-shelter but strongly suspect it is for other 
reasons. The reasons WHY people have become homeless must be faced. 
(ID 129397780)

Page 100



40
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Homelessness cannot be seen in isolation. Help may be needed with job applications, 
literacy, health care access, drug rehabilitation. (ID 129939310)

Break it down to causes: Families, Single people on hard times, Addiction problems with 
help on site to help with problems (ID 131480128)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The councils’ outreach service and Housing Needs Officers take a holistic approach when 
working with homeless households and rough sleepers to address their wider, individual 
support needs to help them towards sustainable accommodation.  

Comments from business, organisations or councils:

Sandford-on-Thames Parish Council (officer)
Homelessness should be regarded as a failure of the welfare state. Even hardened 
addicts and alcoholics should have somewhere to stay if they will cooperate with basic 
standards of behaviour. (ID 129211841)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team attempt to work with all rough sleepers to secure sustainable 
housing solutions.

Abingdon Town Council (officer)
Members welcomed the strategy.  It was understood that the District Council had 
recently approved Part 2 of the 2031 Local Plan. It was understood that for future Local 
Plans the District Council would place a higher priority on affordable housing and a 
higher proportion of affordable housing would be provided in future developments.  The 
Council welcomed this as a key objective for the future planning of the Vale. 
(ID 130718613)

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team note that Abingdon Town Council welcome the draft strategy.

Watchfield Parish Council (councillor)
"In section 1, Improve country-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce 
homelessness, you indicate your wish to work with county-wide partners. However, 
nowhere is it mentioned that very local organisations, charities and volunteers are 
sometimes best placed to identify issues around current and prospective homelessness 
in their own communities. 

As far as I am aware, neither the District or County Councils have bothered to identify 
the myriad of organisations and networks which work in our communities. Certainly, the 
Community Safety Partnership has never shown an interest in community or safety at a 
local level. If you really want to pre-empt homelessness issues, please engage with 
really local networks and work out a way that they can feed into your strategy. At the 
moment, this seems to be an office-based exercise to tick the box for a Homelessness 
Strategy." (ID 131347173)

Page 101



41
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team works with a wide range of community-based volunteer agencies, 
including advice agencies, food banks and charities that provide housing-related assistance.  
The team agrees that local organisations play a key role in tackling homelessness and will 
continue to work closely with these partner agencies.

Oxford City Council (officer)
"One of Oxford City Council’s key corporate priorities is to meet housing need, both by 
tackling and preventing homelessness, and by supporting and delivering an increased 
supply of homes. We recognise that in order to achieve these objectives it depends on 
us working closely with our neighbouring district authorities. 

Many of the housing related problems the city currently faces, including unacceptably 
high levels of rough sleeping, unaffordability in the housing market, and limited access 
to the private rented market for those on a low income, are faced by people and 
communities countywide, and will not be solved in isolation by any one council. 

We agree with the objective contained in the draft joint S&V homelessness and rough 
sleeping strategy to continue with and develop joint working and a partnership approach 
between Oxfordshire’s local authorities. Oxford City Council shares this vision and 
welcomes its inclusion in the draft strategy. 

Ending rough sleeping in Oxfordshire requires a transformation in approach. As part of 
this partners including South, Vale and Oxford councils have recognised that there is a 
need to step up collaborative working to tackle rough sleeping across the County and 
the commitment to the continuation of the joint commissioning arrangements is 
recognition of that.  

A key early step is the appointment of a Countywide Strategic Lead for single homeless 
and rough sleeping which has been made recently, who will lead work on developing a 
strategy for rough sleeping and single homelessness in Oxfordshire which is further 
testament to a ‘step-change’ in the way we are working together.

We also welcome the strategies action to work with us and other partners to ensure 
learning from the countywide homelessness trailblazer is maintained and links are 
further developed with probation and prison services, social care and the hospitals.

We also share many of the same objectives that the draft strategy identifies, in particular 
around rough sleeping and the prevention of homelessness. It is positive to see the 
direction of travel the city is moving to with services for our clients, is shared by the 
neighbouring authorities.

We share the draft strategies objective to further move to a focus on the prevention of 
homelessness, in order to allow households to stay in their homes if possible, or if not to 
move on to different suitable accommodation before they are affected by homelessness. 
As part of this we are ensuring the prevention of homelessness is embedded in all our 
services. We are also working to bring empty homes back into use, and developing our 
offer to ensure continued access to the private rented sector for low income tenants." 
(ID 131366720)

Page 102



42
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team note Oxford City Council’s support for the aims and objectives of 
the draft homelessness and rough sleeping strategy.

Page 103



43
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy was considered at South Oxfordshire 
District Council Scrutiny Committee and Vale of White Horse District Council Scrutiny 
Committee on 26 and 28 November 2019, respectively. 

The South Oxfordshire District Council Scrutiny Committee made the following 
observations:

Councillors should be prepared on how to report incidents of rough sleeping.
Feedback from the housing needs team:
The 29 November 2019 edition of the South and Vale internal councillor e-newsletter included 
information on how to report incidents of homelessness. A further guide concerning rough 
sleeping will be circulated shortly to councillors.

The councils’ websites should include information on accessing emergency accommodation.
Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing pages of the council’s websites will be updated with clearer information on 
accessing emergency accommodation.

The treatment of rough sleepers should be respectful.  Rough Sleepers should not be identified 
in media photographs.
Feedback from the housing needs team:
South and Vale do not photograph or identify any rough sleepers in their media. All homeless 
households are treated respectfully

The action plan should support victims of Domestic Abuse 
Feedback from the housing needs team: 
The draft action plan includes an action to participate in the development of the Oxfordshire 
Domestic Abuse Strategy and assist in securing accommodation for victims of domestic abuse.

The strategy should address the issue of period poverty for female homeless cases
Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team can arrange for free sanitary products for any female homeless 
person in a financial crisis.  

The needs of homeless people with pets should be considered
Feedback from the housing needs team:
The housing needs team can make short term kennelling arrangements for rough sleepers with 
dogs to enable them to access emergency accommodation.  Their Housing Needs Officer will 
then seek to secure suitable alternative accommodation that allows dogs. 

The section of the draft strategy outlining support for 18-24 years olds should be expanded.
Feedback from the housing needs team: 
The draft strategy has been amended to include further additional details on the support 
available for 18-24 year olds at risk of homelessness.

Page 104



44
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

The Vale of White Horse District Council Scrutiny Committee made the following 
observations:

Strive for better connections with other agencies to provide fast response for those in need 

Feedback from the housing needs team: 
The housing needs team has established rapid referral protocols with local advice agencies 
and Registered Providers to intervene at an early stage to prevent homelessness. South and 
Vale are also members of the countywide “Alert” system that enables statutory agencies, 
including prisons, probation and social care, to notify the housing authority of households at 
risk of homelessness.

Explore best practice on how to establish accurate number of homeless people and rough 
sleepers.
Feedback from the housing needs team: The number of households approaching the 
council as either at risk of homelessness or who are homeless are recorded and submitted in 
quarterly returns to the Government who publish the statistics online. The number of rough 
sleepers is recorded on a weekly basis.

Refer to how the council could better engage and help people with specialist needs
Feedback from the housing needs team: 
New Government statistical returns on homelessness cases, H-CLIC, introduced with the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2018, provides improved data on the support needs of homeless 
households.  The draft strategy action plan includes an action to use this data to improve 
services for people with specialist needs.

The draft strategy includes information on the specialist needs of particular cohorts and how 
these needs are being addressed.

Include a reference to the work of the Community Safety Partnership.

Feedback from the housing needs team: 
The draft strategy has been amended to include additional information on the work of the 
Community Safety Partnership in relation to domestic abuse and homelessness.

Include Key Performance Indicators or state that the aim is to build on current targets

Feedback from the housing needs team: 
Key Performance Indicators are identified in the draft strategy.  The draft strategy has been 
amended to include how the baseline figures for the KPIs will be calculated.

Set out the level of resourcing required to deliver the strategy and its action plan.

Feedback from the housing needs team: 
The action plan sets out the funding sources available to deliver the strategy and the action 
plan.  All of the costs incurred by proposed actions will be met within existing budgets.

Page 105



45
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

HOW WE HAVE USED RESULTS OF THE CONSULTATION
Thank you to everyone that has participated in the consultation. 

This report shows the outcome of the public consultation on the draft aims and objectives to 
the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025, which sets out how we believe 
we can prevent and tackle homelessness and rough sleeping in South Oxfordshire and Vale of 
White Horse.

The consultation highlighted that there is overall support for the draft aims and the five 
objectives in the strategy. Based on this response, the aims and strategic objectives of the 
draft strategy and the action plan have not been changed.

There were a variety of considerations, and although only the most frequently mentioned 
comments are explored further in this report, all comments received are taken into 
consideration and are included at Appendix E.

Following consideration of the comments received at consultation, the draft strategy has been 
amended in the following areas:

 further details added on the support available to 18-24 year olds.
 information on the work of the Community Safety Partnership in relation to domestic 

abuse and homelessness.
 further information added on how performance against the objectives of the strategy will 

be measured.
 information on the assistance available for homeless households with pets.

A summary of findings is collated in this report and will be presented to our Cabinets. Following 
any comments from Cabinet, and final approval, the updated Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 will be published on our South and Vale websites, with the new 
strategy coming into effect from the date of publication. 

Page 106

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/housing-policies
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/housing-policies


46
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

FURTHER INFORMATION
For information about the consultation or the results presented in this report, please contact:

Consultation and Community Engagement Team
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils
01235 422125
haveyoursay@southandvale.gov.uk

To enquire about the councils work on the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, 
please contact the Housing Needs Team:

Phil Ealey, Housing Needs Manager
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils
01235 422436
phil.ealey@southandvale.gov.uk

Page 107

mailto:haveyoursay@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:phil.ealey@southandvale.gov.uk


47
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Consultation summary report, January 2020

Appendices
The appendices to the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy consultation summary 
report are in a separate document. The appendices document can be found on the housing 
policies page of our South and Vale websites alongside this consultation summary report and 
the strategy.

APPENDIX A – BACKGROUND TO THE CONSULTATION

APPENDIX B – CONSULTATION COMMUNICATION

APPENDIX C – SURVEY

APPENDIX D – DEMOGRAPHIC DATA 

APPENDIX E – FULL LIST OF COMMENTS RECEIVED

Page 108

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/housing-policies
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/housing-policies


 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

 

 
 
 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2020 – 2025 
APPENDICES A TO E FOR THE CONSULTATION SUMMARY 
  
The appendices for the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
2020-2025 consultation summary report. The full report is available to 
view on our South and Vale websites. 
 
 
JANUARY 2020 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 109



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

APPENDIX A – BACKGROUND TO THE CONSULTATION 
 
 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
There is a legal requirement for Local Housing Authorities to publish a homelessness and 
rough sleeping strategy every five years that sets out the scale and cause of the problem 
and how to prevent and tackle it. 

 
Since 2010 homelessness and rough sleeping has risen significantly in England. South 
Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse have not witnessed a similar rise, despite the 
increasing demands placed upon the homelessness service. 

 
The councils have a proactive approach to tackling homelessness, with a strong focus upon 
prevention, early intervention and increasing access to sustainable accommodation. These 
actions have helped maintain low levels of homelessness and rough sleeping in the districts. 

 
The joint Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 retains a clear focus 
upon early intervention to prevent homelessness; or if prevention is not possible, to end 
homelessness at the earliest opportunity. 

 
The new strategy increases the support and accommodation available for homeless 
households and rough sleepers in the districts. 

 
The strategy has been developed following a review of services that included a series of 
stakeholder engagement exercises with councillors; service users and partner 
organisations. 

 
The review considered the councils’ achievements during the lifetime of the previous 
strategy; the current demands on the homelessness service, and the ability to meet these 
demands in the future. The review findings informed the aims and objectives of the new 
strategy. 

 
The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, supported by a detailed action plan, has 
three aims: 

 
 to prevent homelessness whenever possible 
 to end incidents of homelessness at the earliest opportunity 

 to end the need for rough sleeping 
 
 
Five strategic objectives have been identified to support the achievement of the aims: 

 
1. To improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness. 

 
2. To minimise the use of temporary accommodation. 

 
3. To further develop our housing needs service to prevent and relieve homelessness at the 

earliest opportunity. 
 

4. To improve access to emergency accommodation and increase support for rough 
sleepers. 

 

Page 110



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

5. To improve access to sustainable accommodation for households who are at risk of 
homelessness or who are homeless. 

 
The success of the strategy will be measured against Key Performance Indicators and 
targets will be set annually. 

 
The strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis and the findings published on the 
councils’ websites. 
 
Have your say 
To give your views on the proposed strategy please complete our survey, using this link 
https://survey.southandvale.gov.uk/s/Homelessness2019/ by 5pm on Monday 25 
November 2019. 

 
If you have any questions about the survey or require it in alternative format (for example 
large print, Braille, audio, email, easy to read and alternative languages), please email 
haveyoursay@southandvale.gov.uk or call 01235 422425. If you have any questions for our 
housing team please email housing@southandvale.gov.uk or call 01235 422436. 
 
More information 
You can find out more by reading the full draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
2020-2025 available on our websites www.southoxon.gov.uk/housingpolicies or 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/housingpolicies. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils, October 2019 
 
 

  

Page 111



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

APPENDIX B – CONSULTATION COMMUNICATION 
 
A copy of the email notification sent out to consultees is below. The text was adapted for the 
letter sent to those who opted to receive postal notifications. 
 
 
Subject: Your comments are invited on the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
2020-2025  
 
Dear [NAME] 
 
We are asking for comments on our draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-
2025, which sets out how we believe we can prevent and tackle homelessness and rough 
sleeping in South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse. 
 
By law, we are required to publish a homelessness and rough sleeping strategy every five 
years and our strategy lasts until 2020.  
 
We would like to know what you think of the draft aims and objectives, which we believe 
increases the support and accommodation available for homeless households and rough 
sleepers in the districts. You will also have the opportunity to suggest other measures that 
could be taken to prevent or relieve homelessness.  
 
You can find out more by reading the short background document or the full draft 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 on our South and Vale websites – 
you can find the proposed actions on pages 33 to 41.  
  
To give your views on our proposed strategy please complete the online survey here 
[SURVEYLINK] by 5pm on Monday 25 November 2019.  
 
This link is uniquely tied to this survey and your email address. Please do not forward this 
message. 
 
We will not ask for your name or any contact details. Your response is linked to your email 
address but all raw data will be deleted after a summary consultation report is published. You 
also do not have to answer any questions that you do not want to.  
 
Once the survey has closed, we will present a consultation summary report to our Cabinets; 
we currently expect this to happen in January 2020. Subject to approval, we will then publish 
full details of the updated strategy on our South and Vale websites alongside the consultation 
summary report. Once published, we will delete the raw data. The new strategy will come into 
effect from the date of publication. 
 
If you have any questions about this survey or require it in an alternative format (for example 
large print, Braille, audio, email, easy to read and alternative languages), please email 
haveyoursay@southandvale.gov.uk or call 01235 422425. If you have a query regarding your 
housing, please email housing@southandvale.gov.uk or telephone 01235 422436. 
 
Kind regards 
 
Phil Ealey 

Page 112



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

Housing Needs Manager 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils 
 

 
If you do not wish to receive further emails from us, please click the link below, and you will be 
removed from our consultation mailing list. Please note, we may still need to contact you for 
certain consultations if we have a legal obligation to do so.  [OPTOUT] 
 
  

Page 113



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

APPENDIX C – SURVEY 
 
A copy of the paper comment form is below; it is based on the online survey. 
 

Comment form for the Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping: consultation on proposed 
strategy for 2020-2025 
 

Introduction  
We are asking for comments on our draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-
2025, which sets out how we believe we can prevent and tackle homelessness and rough 
sleeping in South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse. By law, we are required to publish a 
homelessness and rough sleeping strategy every five years and our strategy lasts until 2020. 
 
This survey will ask you a few questions to find out your views on our draft aims and 
objectives. You can find out more by reading the background information document, enclosed 
with this survey. Alternatively, you can view the full strategy available on our websites, 
southoxon.gov.uk/housingpolicies or whitehorsedc.gov.uk/housingpolicies  
 
The deadline for completing this survey is 5pm on Monday 25 November 2019. 
 
How to comment 
Comments can be made by: 

 completing this comment form and posting or emailing it back to us (addresses below) 
 emailing haveyoursay@southandvale.gov.uk 
 writing to us using our freepost address: Freepost SOUTH AND VALE 

CONSULTATIONS (no stamp is needed) 
 using our online comment form, which is available here: 

https://survey.southandvale.gov.uk/s/Homelessness2019/ 
 

What happens next? 
Once the consultation has closed, we will present a consultation summary report to our 
Cabinets; we currently expect this to happen in January 2020. Subject to approval, we will then 
publish full details of the updated strategy on our South and Vale websites alongside the 
consultation summary report (see addresses above). Once published, we will delete the raw 
data. The strategy will come into effect from the date of publication.  
 
If you require this comment form or any of the supporting documents in an alternative format 
(for example large print, Braille, audio, email, easy to read and alternative languages) please 
contact haveyoursay@southandvale.gov.uk or call 01235 422425. 
  
If you are responding as an individual, you are not required to provide your name or contact 
details. Any personal information you provide to the council within your comments that could 
identify you will not be published in the summary report. If you are responding in your capacity 
as a councillor or council officer, we ask you to provide the name of your council, and if you are 
responding on behalf of an organisation or business, we ask you to provide its name – the 
summary report will include this information.  Further information on data protection is available 

Page 114



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

in our privacy statement available on our websites, www.southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/have-
your-say or www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say 
 
 
 

A. General  
1. Do you currently receive, or have you ever received, support from the South 
Oxfordshire or Vale of White Horse housing needs team?  
 

   Yes 

   No 

   This doesn't apply to me 

2. Are you responding to this survey as:  
 

   An individual / member of the public (Please go to section B) 

   A business / organisation 

   A district, county or town/parish councillor 

   A district, county or town/parish officer 

   Other (please specify):  
3. What is the name of your business / organisation or council?  
 
  

 
 
 
 
B. Aims and objectives of the strategy  
  
The draft Joint Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025, supported by a 
detailed action plan, has three aims:  
 

 to prevent homelessness whenever possible; 
 to end incidents of homelessness at the earliest opportunity; 
 to end the need for rough sleeping. 

 
We have identified five strategic objectives to help to achieve these aims: 
 
1. To improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness.  
2. To minimise the use of temporary accommodation.  
3. To further develop our housing needs service to prevent and relieve homelessness at the 
earliest opportunity.  
4. To improve access to emergency accommodation and increase support for rough sleepers.  
5. To improve access to sustainable accommodation for households who are at risk of 
homelessness or who are homeless.  

Page 115



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

 
Proposed actions:  
The detailed actions that are proposed to meet each of the objectives of the strategy are set 
out on pages 33 to 41 of the draft strategy document on our website (see addresses above).   
 
4. How far do you agree or disagree with each of the proposed objectives that have 
been identified to support the aims of the strategy?  
 

 Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t know 

1. Improving county-
wide partnership 
working to prevent 
and reduce 
homelessness 
  

                  

2. Minimising the use 
of temporary 
accommodation 
  

                  

3. Further developing 
our housing needs 
service to prevent 
and relieve 
homelessness at the 
earliest opportunity 
  

                  

4. Improving access 
to emergency 
accommodation and 
increasing support for 
rough sleepers 
  

                  

5. Improving access 
to sustainable 
accommodation for 
households who are 
at risk of 
homelessness or who 
are homeless 
  

                  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

5. Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 1?  
 

  
 
  

  
 
6. Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 2?  
 

 

  
7. Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 3?  
 

  
 
  

  
8. Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 4?  
 

  
 
  

9. Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 5?  
 

  
 
  

  
 

Page 117



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

10. Overall, how far do you agree or disagree with the proposed aims and objectives in 
the draft strategy?  
 

   Strongly agree 

   Agree 

   Neither agree nor disagree 

   Disagree 

   Strongly disagree 

   Don't know 

 
 
 
Do you have any comments or suggestions on the overall proposed aims and objectives?   

  
 
  

 
 

 

NOTE: If you are responding to this survey on behalf of an 
agency, organisation or council please go straight to section D. 

 
 
C. Equalities  
 
We are committed to making sure that residents have equal access to services. The answers 
to the following questions will help inform how the strategy will address the needs of residents 
with particular characteristics. 
 
Please help us to keep track of how successfully we are achieving this by ticking the 
appropriate boxes below. All information is confidential and will only be used to help us monitor 
whether views differ across the community. 
  
11. Which of the following describes how you think of yourself?  
 

   Male 

   Female 

   In another way 

   Prefer not to say 

Page 118



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

 12. How old are you?  
 

   16-24 

   25-34 

   35-44 

   45-54 

  55-64 

  65+ 

  Prefer not to say 

 
13. Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which 
has lasted or is expected to last 12 months or more? (please include problems related 
to old age)  
 

   Yes 

   No 

   Prefer not to say 

 
 
If yes, please specify:   

 

 
14. What is your ethnic group?  
 
  White 

   White English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern Irish, British 

  Irish 

  Gypsy or Irish Traveller 

  Any other White background 
   Black or Black British 

  Caribbean 

  African 

  Any other Black background 
    Mixed or multiple ethnic groups 

  White & Black Caribbean 

  White & Black African 

  White & Asian 

  Any other mixed background 
    Asian or Asian British 

  Indian 

Page 119



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

  Pakistani 

  Bangladeshi 

  Chinese 

  Any other Asian background 

   Prefer not to say 

   Other ethnic group (please specify):  
 
15. Which of the following best describes your religion or belief? (please tick one)  
 

   Buddhist 

   Hindu 

   Muslim 

   Jewish 

   Sikh 

   Christian 

   No religion 

   Prefer not to say 

   Other (please specify):  
  
16. Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation? (please tick one)  
 

   Heterosexual / straight 

   Gay man 
 

 Gay women/ lesbian 

   Bisexual 

   Prefer not to say 

   Other (please specify):  
  

 
 
 
D. And finally...  
17. How did you hear about the homelessness and rough sleeping survey? (please 
select all that apply)  
 

   Twitter 

   Facebook 

   Newsletter 

Page 120



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

   Email 

   Letter 

   Our website 

   Word of mouth 

   Radio/TV 

   Read it in the newspaper 

   Other (please specify):  

 
Thank you for your comments. 
 
  

Page 121



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

APPENDIX D – DEMOGRAPHIC DATA  
 
Below is all the demographic data collected in the consultation. 

 
 

 

Male 
43.3%

Female 
50%

Prefer not 
to say

5%

Not 
answered 

1.7%

Which of the following describes how you think of yourself?

Male Female Prefer not to say Not answered

1.7%
3.9%

8.3%

13.3%

23.3%

40.6%

7.2%

1.7%
0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

45.0%
How old are you?

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ Prefer not to say Not answered

Page 122



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

If yes, please specify:  
Chronic fatigue syndrome 
Stroke survivor 
Spinal problems, Parkinson’s, obstructive Sleep Apnoea.  
How does that question relate to me answering the questionnaire?  Do my answers have more 
or less credibility if I am disabled? 
Chronic back pain, Arthritis and Asthma. 
not limited by my health but I am full time career to husband who has early onset dementia 
(age 63) 
Arthritis  
Two left knee replacements that have not worked.  
Cannot do as much during the day as energy levels are not what they were - although given 
time can usually get it done.  Sight and hearing not what they were but then.........................    
Visual impairment. 
Wheelchair user but I don't say my activities are limited. I think that use a very poorly worded 
question. 
Unidentified nerve problem 
GCA and AF 
I'm old. Experience with age and social basis, ambition and failure (including death and 
despair) 
Lung and arthritic problems 
Old age 
heart disease and diabetes 
Arthritis in both legs and neck 
Rheumatoid arthritis 
Chronic arthritis and back issue but still work full time. 
Cancer 
Heart disease 

Yes 
16.7%

No
74.4%

Prefer not 
to say
7.2%

Not answered 
1.7%

Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or 
disability which has lasted or is expected to last 12 months or more? 

(please include problems related to old age)

Yes No Prefer not to say Not answered

Page 123



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

 
 
Other ethnic group (please specify): 
Mixed European 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

89.4%

0.0% 0.6% 0.0% 0.6%

7.8%
1.7%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

White Black or Black
British

Mixed or
multiple ethnic

groups

Asian or Asian
British

Other ethnic
group

Prefer not to
say

Not answered

What is your ethnic group?

Page 124



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other (please specify): 
Spiritualist 
ATHEIST 
Humanist 
 
 

1.1%

44.1%

0.0% 0.6% 0.6% 0.0%

38%

12.3%

1.7% 1.7%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

45.0%

50.0%

Buddhist Christian Hindu Jewish Muslim Sikh No
religion

Prefer
not to say

Not
answered

Other

Which of the following best describes your religion or belief? 

Page 125



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

 

Other (please specify): 
Mind your own business 
NO SEXUAL URGE - SUBLIMATED 
 
Comments: 
How is this relevant to anything? 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
  

79.9%

0.6% 0.0% 1.1%

15.6%

1.7% 1.1% 0.0%
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation? 
(please tick one)

Page 126



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

We also asked respondents to tell us how they heard about the consultation, to help us plan 
how we contact people and ensure that we offer a wide variety of ways to get involved. 
 

 
Other (please specify): 
I am a supporter of the St. Dismas Charity 
Trustee for a homeless charity in Reading 
Postal survey just received 
I didn't, survey was posted to me 
South Ox District Council Letters 
Community run what's app group 
Interest in local affairs 
Paper copy of survey 
 

 

 

 
  

2.9%

9.2%

2.3%

53.8%

22.0%

5.2% 2.9% 2.3%
5.2% 4.6%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

How did you hear about the homelessness and rough sleeping 
survey? (please select all that apply)

Twitter

Facebook

Newsletter

Email

Letter

Our website

Word of mouth

Radio/TV

Read it in the newspaper

Other

Page 127



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

APPENDIX E – FULL LIST OF COMMENTS RECEIVED 
A full list of comments raised in their original form can be found below. Please note, the 
following comments are taken as written and are unedited, which means they are a true 
reflection of the submission but may include spelling, grammatical and punctual errors.  

Two hard-copy responses were unreadable and have been scanned and added to this report.  

 
Proposed objective 1: 
To improve county-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness. 
 
Below are the comments received to the question:  
Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 1? 
 

Response ID Comments 
129029394 Prevention is the key. Most data show that early intervention is the primary indicator in reduced 

homelessness. Especially where that intervention is with those who suffer mental issues. 
129030303 None 
129030941 The Personal Housing Plan system was hidden from me when I was homeless. My housing officer 

didn’t suggest it. It was only through intervention by Shelter that they disclosed this existed! 
129033571 Agreed, the issue needs to be dealt with in the widest possible context. 
129035261 work more with the local communities 
129038408 Agreed every agency should be involved. 
129040219 I like the idea of a Homelessness Coordinator and building on Traliblazer network links is good.  I 

think finding solutions to creating more viable move on options is vital. 
129048027 no 
129041287 I think business have a place in help with this issue with the area.  We need to ask them how they 

are effected by this issue and ask them to get involved. 
129054256 You can only support those who want support.  Does the fact that there is little rough sleeping in 

SODC mean that they migrate to Oxford where it is rampant in the city centre?  This comment 
runs throughout all the questions. 

129053869 Be careful not to move people away from their friends and family. 
129067859 Each town council should be allotted a contingency emergency fund for through sleepers. Those 

who stop on their way to oxford. Ie Didcot had had approx 12 over the last 12 months. All have 
been helped and supported by didcot residents as town council have no process in place. Its not 
good enough. 

129070411 It appears focused on bureaucracy rather than results 
129072803 I fear that this strategy will simply act as a magnet and I will have to pay for it 
129080682 More affordable housing in/near places where work is, i.e. Town/city centre or brownfield such 

as Milton Park, make simpler! 
129110446 Particularly important with regard to rough sleepers as numbers in SODC and VOWH are small. As 

loss of private tenancy is a main factor in homelessness, engagement with landlords is important 
and this could be developed on a larger scale 

129123371 One wonders why there has not been close cooperation in this matter in the past. 
129138501 If you have no money you cannot travel county - wide. There needs to be hostels in many 

localities 
129142851 Making the public more aware of how it can support the council with working on prevention and 

support for communities. 
129171806 More small “pods” to assist before the situation becomes critical 

Page 128



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129211841 Are the links and shared databases between district councils and housing associations robust 
enough? Are the systems to facilitate housing swaps flexible enough? Neither flexible nor robust 
is enough if the information is not managed quickly and efficiently eg is there a system for the 
Friday afternoon crisis? 

129226925 Clearly there are many good intentions.  But what I so far do not see are any practical ideas for 
how to accomplish those good intentions.  The important question is always “How”. Perhaps the 
aim is to follow up this paper, after consultation, with another paper containing the practical 
suggestions/decisions taken by the Council.  If that is so then I would be eager to see that. This 
comment is the same comment I would make on all the proposed objectives. 

129227602 Work closer with people that have a criminal record, still don’t like the tern intentionally 
homeless. There is a void still with people who are imprisoned. 

129254553 Some councils people all over the country. I think working county wide is essential but not 
necessarily nationwide. 

129270403 I feel homelessness should not be happening in this country, a wealthy one.  Obviously there are 
many reasons for homelessness and these should be dealt with individually. 

129320214 No 
129360164 No 
129395841 I am unable to access your website for fuller information. 

It's a statement akin to 'are you for peace'. How will ??. - unreadable sentence, screenshot of 
scanned sentence provided below:  

129397780 The relationship between addiction (and alcohol / drugs) and homelessness needs to be 
addressed. 

129470082 Need to cooperate with other local authorities to find solutions to homelessness, BUT avoid 
Oxford City pushing homeless people into VWH! 

129620662 Working together is great but it should not mean local families shipped out to the far side of the 
county without the means to continue in schools etc. 

129653675 None 
129656306 Ensure South Oxfordshire taxes are not spent in other areas 
129671775 No - very general statement. Hard to disagree with it. 
129674194 I would say you have produced 5 objectives but without any analysis of the problems. Are you 

dealing with age, sex, finances, mentality, education, social or antisocial, hard working or shy of 
work. Are the clients local or international. Are they different in every case. Do they have 
physical, mental, sexual, cultural etc problems. You haven’t met your solutions with questions 
rather than defined problems and individuality. 

129678633 Sounds like a quango. Little agreement and even less action to help those who need help rather 
than strategies. 

129679426 Going into Oxford City on a regular basis I’m disappointed and disgusted to see grown men - 
sometimes women - asleep under piles of covers / blankets etc and huddled in shop doorways. 
Often surrounded by rubbish / debris. These are an eyesore and blight on ‘historic Oxford’. I have 
been sorely embarrassed to watch a street sleeper - apparently drunk - squaring up or forcing 
foreign tourist taking a photo of a landmark. To homeless man ‘thought’ man was photographing 
him! Dreadful. 

129691837 No one should be homeless, but sadly some people would rather spend any money allotted to 
them on drugs. A stronger effort to wean these people off their drugs. 

129693715 Mental health access needs to be improved along with the strategy’s. 
129693974 To ensure the homeless do not congregate where service is deemed better. 

Page 129



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129698304 A certain percentage have drink or drug problems - This is self inflicted and therefore they do not 
in my view need housing - they need treatment. Give the housing to the most deserving. Give 
them jobs - however manual i.e labouring, road works, grass cutting, washing up, cleaning, to 
name but a few (working for the council). 

129737336 Working together across all relevant and contributing organisations has got to be the right 
approach. This may also include approved voluntary organisations, but because homelessness 
can have many complex issues such as drug abuse or mental health issues it needs to be tacked 
collaboratively with expert resources. 

129927499 Yes forget about other areas and concentrate on your own area SODC 
129939310 Prevent ‘blocking’ of council-owned family properties by single people by relocating to one-

bedroom properties. (know of 2 in West Hagbourne). Assess this situation county-wide and if this 
situation is widespread, build more single accommodation. 

129940633 ‘partnership’ - what does this mean? Meaningless statement. 
129941148 No 
129943823 On reading the actions my only concern is that the necessary communication could extend 

beyond the partners listed - To identify homeless people, potentially vulnerable families / 
individuals. You could even involve schools, colleges, pubs - i.e use the community. 

129944974 I agree that all relevant organisations in the county should work together more closely to identify 
and resolve this problem. 

129955365 Accommodation for local people only. 
129995111 all people that can work e.g. people that don’t have disabilities or children 0-3 should be 

encouraged to work. the council should be allowed to tell them that they have to do something 
in order to help themselves as it is not fair on the families that do work hard and privately rent 
and have nothing to show for it 

130182236 Homelessness in the SODC area MUST be tackled seriously. 
130185468 No 
130191359 I do know some people who are homeless, there are few people who are genuinely homeless. 

Most people come to Oxford City to beg for money for drugs or drink. These people need to be 
helped to get out of their downward spiral. The VOWHDC is hard up so I think other councils and 
counties should get together and share responsibilities and ideas on the subject of homelessness. 

130198035 Getting people off the streets should be no 1 priority 
130200027 I strongly agree with organisations working together to tackle homelessness issues. When things 

are fragmented well- being people step in to help and this is not always a good idea or 
sustainable. 

130202740 I am not aware of any proactive methods of identifying arising problems in advance and question 
if there is a regulator which people can applied to if for any reason they are aware of being 
evicted. Noting this latter reason might not be their fault. 

130316359 Link up teams from District and Town Councils in order to count numbers of homeless people. 
Try and find out why people are homeless. Health? Physical / mental. Ex forces. Marriage break-
up etc. 

130383607 Rough sleepers are from other areas in many cases 
130729011 ‘Partnerships’ is not clear enough. It is important to ensure multiple property owners are not 

those who gain from (any greater) council investment but funds go to meet the needs of those 
risking homelessness. 

131201818 As a society / community the emphasis needs to be taken away from financial considerations. We 
need to make decisions from our hearts and use our heads to implement them, rather than 
trying to ‘control’ everything with our heads. 

131347173 In section 1, Improve country-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness, 
you indicate your wish to work with county-wide partners. However, nowhere is it mentioned 
that very local organisations, charities and volunteers are sometimes best placed to identify 
issues around current and prospective homelessness in their own communities. 

Page 130



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

131377786 Extra help and support to young people 
131480128 No 
129029923 Mental health agencies should be involved as often the inability to cope with “normal” life leads 

to opting out which can result in homelessness 
129075898 I think for all objectives housing and help should be given to homeless people that deserve it and 

if they commit a crime it should be revoked so given on good behaviour 
129150246 Admirable proposals, if they have enough funds to make them a reality 
131591655 Ensure that actions / potential actions by the council do not contribute to the problem. e.g taking 

non payers of council tax to court at great expense and then imprisoning them at great cost. That 
money could be better diverted to solving their problems... mental? financial? etc. rather than 
further causing problems 

 
 
Proposed objective 2: 
To minimise the use of temporary accommodation 
 
Below are the comments received to the question:  
Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 2? 
 

Response ID Comments 
129033571 Idealistic and obviously positive in its intention, but so dependant on new housing being 

available. 
129034383 Temp accommodation is transient and puts people in limbo but is necessary from time to time.   
129034759 Temporary accomodation is disruptive and depressing and the more you can avoid it the better I 

strongly support the principle of an exit plan being in place from the outset, so people aren’t 
‘dumped’ into temporary accomodation 

129035261 get them out of cheap B&B’s or if you do have to use it then let them stay in them during the 
day. 

129040219 Early intervention is key, I agree with this as a main focus for prevention 
129048027 no 
129041287 Yes we need more permanent housing to be able to support this problem 
129072803 See above 
129073067 Why minimise the use TA when the need is still there if they move on from the TA was better 

coordinated than the time in TA would be reduced.  TA  support should be delivered from a 
Stauturtory service but connecting more with the Charity sector, or support from community 
Navigators. 

129080682 I suggest temporary means just that, and is required to be used as there is no bank of spare 
housing, however increase in council housing by charging appropriate rent would support this. 
And right to buy needs to pay for council to replace, too heavily discounted. 

129110446 I note that SODC owns no temporary accommodation. While I agree with the policy, for those 
with a chaotic lifestyle or immediate relationship breakdown, temporary accommodation is 
sometimes the only answer, so this policy should not be a reason for poor provision of temporary 
accommodation. 

129123371 One wonders why there has not been close cooperation in this matter in the past. 
129138501 Why? Anything is better than being on the streets. 
129139302 ‘Minimising the use of temporary accommodation’ by..... This objective needs completing as it is 

almost a platitude as it stands. 
129142851 Temporary accommodation is needed anyway so it will be a struggle to minimise it. 
129171806 as above 
129211841 As this is likely to be more expensive and dislocating for those affected, the only solution is to 

have some capacity in the housing stock but therein lies the problem. Ideally each area would 

Page 131



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

have one or two homes available for emergency use to avoid temporary accommodation- or a 
block of 4 living units/ 

129226925 See above 
129227602 Temporary accommodation is all well, but if no duty is accepted after that, then they are street 

homeless. More accommodation is needed for the elderly people being released from custody. 
129254553 People struggle getting jobs, credit, schools etc if they do not have a regular address so 

temporary accomodation is neither good for the person and it is expensive for the tax payer. 
129320214 No 
129360164 No 
129395841 Currently if possible without causing more problems 
129397780 Where the accommodation is placed needs careful consideration. Needs to be evenly distributed. 
129620662 How is it acceptable for people to be housed in rooms with no access to cooking facilities? 

Foodbanks should not have to supply food which can only be prepared with a kettle or eaten 
cold. 24 hours maybe but for months on end is unsustainable. 

129653675 None 
129671775 Rather than ‘minimising the use’ the objective should be to ‘minimise the NEED’. The use of 

emergency accommodation should be maximised to ensure that all who need it can have it. 
129674194 Ditto 5: I would say you have produced 5 objectives but without any analysis of the problems. 

Are you dealing with age, sex, finances, mentality, education, social or antisocial, hard working or 
shy of work. Are the clients local or international. Are they different in every case. Do they have 
physical, mental, sexual, cultural etc problems. You haven’t met your solutions with questions 
rather than defined problems and individuality. 

129678633 Need temporary as much as permanent. 
129679426 I cannot understand why there’s a need to ‘minimise’ usage of temporary housing when there’s 

an apparent need for it - see reply as 1 (Going into Oxford City on a regular basis I’m 
disappointed and disgusted to see grown men - sometimes women - asleep under piles of covers 
/ blankets etc and huddled in shop doorways. Often surrounded by rubbish / debris. These are an 
eyesore and blight on ‘historic Oxford’. I have been sorely embarrassed to watch a street sleeper 
- apparently drunk - squaring up or forcing foreign tourist taking a photo of a landmark. To 
homeless man ‘thought’ man was photographing him! Dreadful.) 

129693715 Mental health 
129698304 See item C on question 7: C - Shops are closing due to Amazon (online shopping). Take over these 

shops (compulsory purchase) for a reasonable price and turn them into houses and collect rent 
for them. 

129737336 Not sure how temporary accommodation fits but sometimes it is important to break social 
groups up to help people move in the right direction and get the right help. 

129939310 Maybe this is linked to my comment above [objective 1: Prevent ‘blocking’ of council -owned 
family properties by single people by relocating to one-bedroom properties. (know of 2 in West 
Hagbourne). Assess this situation county-wide and if this situation is widespread, build more 
single accommodation].  If this situation is widespread, relocation would minimise temporary 
accommodation costs in the long-term. 

129940633 Use ex army barracks and hotels so there is an incentive to get a job and move on. 
129941148 No 
129943823 All good aims and actions - but this does assure that there is enough temporary accommodation 

to serve the needs - I guess this is part of the last action (objective 1: On reading the actions my 
only concern is that the necessary communication could extend beyond the partners listed - To 
identify homeless people, potentially vulnerable families / individuals. You could even involve 
schools, colleges, pubs - i.e use the community.). 

129944974 I only know from reports on TV about families being placed in poor standards of rented 
accommodation. There should be better council inspected / run hostels on homes for very short-
term emergency shelter. 

Page 132



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129995111 tempry accommodation should be available when needed e.g. social house/ privately rented 
house under repair due to unforeseen damage or a new build waiting to be signed off for a 
homeless family 

130182236 Temporary accommodation is very important - I should be used whenever possible. 
130185468 No 
130185790 1) Rehousing families as quickly as possible in more stable accommodation 2) For single 

individual, the situation is quite different and temporary accommodation might be a more short / 
medium term solution. 

130191359 Homeless people see the Oxford area as a very attractive place. There is far too much 
accommodation available already. Other councils need to do much more. Cheap / subsidised 
housing will not help the problem. Temporary accommodation will not help either. There are just 
too many people with complex problems. 

130198035 Temporary housing is better than the streets - as long as it does put more people onto the 
streets it has a place. - Minimise is key word not eliminate. 

130200027 Yes please stop making rip off landlords of substandard temporary accommodation rich. Build 
some suitable accommodation. 

130202740 I do not think this type of accommodation can be ignored, if the availability of long term 
properties are not present. 

130314963 No 
130316359 Temporary accommodation, should not wildly benefit private landlords. It should be clean dry 

and safe. Tenants would be there for fixed times, 3 months, 6, 9, 1 year. only. But a plan should 
be in place for them to move into COUNCIL OWNED flats / houses. 

130383607 We should accommodate our local people first 
130729011 Use of temporary accommodation can be appropriate but should be very short term for 

emergencies. 
130734175 Surely there will always be a need for temporary accommodation? 
131201818 The Planning Dept needs attention. The ‘housing crisis’ is not too few ‘houses’ but too many of 

the wrong type of houses (3 & 4 bed built by developers FOR developers) and too few of the type 
needed (1 & 2 bed units in places accessible by public transport).   Planners seem to be allowing 
developers to ‘set the rules’.  Planners should be working for the community they serve - not the 
government. 

131480128 Temporary accommodation is necessary whilst you sort individual cases.  
129150246 Again, great if you have the funds 
129035177 2. Surely providing accommodation  although not desirable is better than seeing homeless  on 

the street or living in tents or makeshift tarpaulins etc. 
130688836 better to prevent 
131591655 Yes build more council homes specifically for the less well off/ homeless. Money spent on courts 

/ imprisonment could be diverted for this more constructive way of dealing with this issue. 
 
  

Page 133



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

Proposed objective 3:  
To further develop our housing needs service to prevent and relieve homelessness at the 
earliest opportunity. 
 
Below are the comments received to the question:  
Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 3? 
 

Response ID Comments 
129034759 This is a core objective 
129038408 Need to do what is necessary to ensure that the homeless have somewhere to stay and not 

sleep on the streets 
129040219 I think this is a bit thin and needs more qualification around how you intend to achieve this 
129048027 no comment 
129053869 Yes. All private renters are at risk of homelessness. We need more long-term, secure 

accomodation for the general public. 
129070411 I believe that working with organisations such as Mind could be effective 
129072803 No 
129073067 A revisit of the Community Navigators, it’s an evidence-based approach that should have had a 

funding culture tailored to a local agenda,   A clear objective to do more and not allow a culture 
of just doing enough to meet the need of HRA, More proactive, finding people in the 
community who may have a future housing crisis, before they present at the LA 

129080682 No but this should be close to where work is 
129110446 There are good projects in place eg Oxfordshire Trailblazers, Housing First and Gold Rose. There 

should be a longer term and more joined-up strategy to strengthen and support this policy. It is 
good to see that the housing needs service is improving. I have never been homeless, but 
support and clear communication must be very important at this time. 

129123371 One wonders why there has not been close cooperation in this matter in the past. 
129138501 Homelessness is immediate and cannot wait for the earliest possible opportunity. 
129171806 use adapted shipping containers (as seen in Reading) 
129211841 Easily accessible on-line and telephone service to advise tenants of measures they can take 

when threatened with eviction and possible short-term loans for rent arrear difficulties (eg 
while waiting for UC). 

129226925 See above 
129254553 This would be good to avoid homeless e.g. people who pay rent and fall behind are much better 

looked after before they become homeless. I should imagine it is cheaper to look after them 
before they become homeless as well. 

129320214 No 
129360164 No 
129395841 Just now in Oxford there was a redundant school - ideal for hostel purposes. It was turned into 

luxury flats!! 
129397780 Make the best use of existing housing. Renovation of derelict buildings possibly. 
129653675 None 
129671775 From what I’ve read the availability of alternative accommodation does not necessarily lead to 

a reduction in homelessness. Other factors can be more influential - i.e use of drugs, need for 
companionship, mental instability - and need to be taken into account. 

129674194 Ditto 6: I would say you have produced 5 objectives but without any analysis of the problems. 
Are you dealing with age, sex, finances, mentality, education, social or antisocial, hard working 
or shy of work. Are the clients local or international. Are they different in every case. Do they 
have physical, mental, sexual, cultural etc problems. You haven’t met your solutions with 
questions rather than defined problems and individuality. 

Page 134



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129679426 Agree, providing that those who are housing there appreciate and respect what has been 
provided for them. They gain employment in order to pay their way. If they damage, trash or 
deface their accommodation, they pay for repairs. They do not upset decent neighbours. 

129691837 Increased housing without infrastructure will create other problems. Not enough schools, 
access to health - local G.P practices and forced to hospitals. 

129693715 Mental health 
129693974 As long as this does not impinge on the prospects of long-term locals acquiring houses. 
129698304 A - Build affordable housing (that’s no down payment) B - for a reasonable rent. Give families 

with children priority. C - Shops are closing due to Amazon (online shopping). Take over these 
shops (compulsory purchase) for a reasonable price and turn them into houses and collect rent 
for them. 

129737336 Housing is a complex issue. Affordable housing which enables people to “buy” a stake is an 
important factor but is this the group of people most at risk of homelessness? 

129927499 this type of property should be mixed in with private and professional rented property and not 
dumped in one place thereby creating a slum area and areas with no ambition 

129939310 For those who are unwilling (not unable) to remedy there situation by working / completing a 
substance abuse programme, housing should only be provided in severe weather conditions in 
hostel-type accommodation. 

129940633 What? developing? Says nothing. 
129941148 No 
129943823 Again, all good - though surely one development is to develop an improved communication 

network (see response to objective 1 - On reading the actions my only concern is that the 
necessary communication could extend beyond the partners listed - To identify homeless 
people, potentially vulnerable families / individuals. You could even involve schools, colleges, 
pubs - i.e use the community.). 

129944974 I have no experience of the ‘housing needs service’ I do not know how to access the service, 
where it is based, nor what it does. I would suggest it needs to advertised! 

129995111 availability for the homeless who’s fault is not in there hands should be offered services and 
guidance in order to change there circumstances asap but those who continuously play the 
system and do things in order to get there own place should be made to follow the procedures 

130182236 Yes develop. 
130185468 No 
130185790 Yes to the objective.  Some creativity might be useful i.e using rundown existing stock / asking 

charities / volunteers help to get it back to use. 
130191359 You could build thousands of homes, but if people have got no money because of debt 

unemployment, drug or drink problems they will not have money to pay rent. I do not think it is 
fair to expect the rate paying hard up families to foot the bill. 

130198035 This is definitely a need and should be prioritised. 
130202740 This is a funding problem. I’m not aware if this proposal can ever be met. 
130314963 No 
130316359 Raise Council Tax [difficult] to start a fund for COUNCIL OWNED properties and get local 

builders to build these homes. Builders get some sort of financial encouragement. Less Business 
Tax?, to join the scheme. 

130729011 The primary objective should be to identify risk of homelessness and be able to take action to 
prevent it. This is difficult but would avoid many more difficult situations which arise from 
homelessness both for families and single people. Financial planning help is badly needed by 
many with support to manage limited funds. 

131201818 The Planning Dept needs attention. The ‘housing crisis’ is not too few ‘houses’ but too many of 
the wrong type of houses (3 & 4 bed built by developers FOR developers) and too few of the 
type needed (1 & 2 bed units in places accessible by public transport).  Planners seem to be 

Page 135



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

allowing developers to ‘set the rules’.  Planners should be working for the community they 
serve - not the Government. 

131299453 Society cannot and must not ignore homelessness. We must tackle and eliminate the roots 
causes of homelessness. Local and District authorities have a key role to play in both helping 
provide accommodation and in educating their residents to stop ignoring the homeless. 

131480128 No, but you need a variety of types of accommodation for single people/families. 
129035177 New building projects although required to provide a % of affordable housing are still out of 

financial reach of the homeless as they are useally jobless as well.  
131591655 Yes... see above [build more council homes specifically for the less well off/ homeless. Money 

spent 
 
 
 
Proposed objective 4: 
To improve access to emergency accommodation and increase support for rough sleepers 
 
Below are the comments received to the question:  
Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 3? 
 

Response ID Comments 
129033571 I agree.  This is a context in which the local authority could beneficially co-operate with the St. 

Dismas charity, which is specifically dedicated to relieving homelessness and rough sleeping. 
129034759 The Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) is an admirable process and I strongly support 

your investigate providing access to a winter shelter throughout the winter months 
129035261 Open up more places and shelters i.e. University accommodation during the summer and 

Christmas when the students aren’t there. 
129038408 You need proper emergency accommodation set up to cater for them. 
129040219 Specialist Hosuing Needs Officer and Winter Shelter are great ideas 
129048027 no comment 
129041287 No on should should be forced to sleep rough unless they choose to. 
129065487 I am concerned that this objective may be counter-productive as it may encourage rough 

sleepers from outside the area to come into the area if they perceive that the services they 
receive are likely to be better here than in the area where they currently are. I would be 
supportive of this objective if it is accompanied by measures to prevent such an influx. 

129072803 No 
129073067 Create a local provision, reducing the need to be placed in the City for the Single Homeless,  set 

up smaller 3/4 bed projects in SODC/VALE reducing the larger hostel environments. 
129089806 surely if provision is improved this could attract more ‘homeless’ people to the area. 
129110446 I don’t think that working with the voluntary sector was mentioned in this draft statement. 

With proper coordination, this could be very helpful. 
129111678 On speaking with a homeless person in Oxford city the other year - this gentleman was really 

happy as he said something like: ‘great news - its dropping below zero tonight so that means 
the shelter will be open’.  I was horrified to hear this poor individual would only get ‘emergency 
shelter’ if the temperature is freezing.  I feel rough sleepers should always have a shelter to go 
to at any time. I appreciate some struggle with everyday accommodation and for those people 
regular housing is not an option, therefore I feel there needs to be a permanent shelter to go to 
should anyone need it   - it shouldn’t just be available ‘in an emergency’ 

129123371 One wonders why there has not been close cooperation in this matter in the past. 
129138501 This should be immediate 

Page 136



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129142851 Making people more aware who might be close to a homeless situation where they can seek 
help but also the wider public so they can support people who they know may be close to that 
situation. Maybe through a social media campaign. 

129171806 as above 
129211841 More hostels over a wider area with the status to support those who need an address to apply 

for work.. 
129226925 See above 
129254553 Partricularly in winter there should be no rough sleepers. 
129320214 No 
129360164 No 
129395841 See comment above: Just now in Oxford there was a redundant school - ideal for hostel 

purposes. It was turned into luxury flats!! 
129397780 Again, addiction / drugs needs to be addressed. Many homeless people won’t use emergency 

accommodation because of the hostile atmosphere. Separate hostels for women for safety. No 
women/female is going to feel safe in a hostel containing even 1/2 drunken old men! 

129398497 Need to tackle unemployment and drug / alcohol dependency in parallel as these are factors in 
homelessness. 

129653675 None 
129671775 The first part of the objective is OK. However the 2nd part ‘increasing the support’ needs 

further clarification (see my comment in 7 above: From what I’ve read the availability of 
alternative accommodation does not necessarily lead to a reduction in homelessness. Other 
factors can be more influential - i.e use of drugs, need for companionship, mental instability - 
and need to be taken into account.) 

129674194 Ditto 7: I would say you have produced 5 objectives but without any analysis of the problems. 
Are you dealing with age, sex, finances, mentality, education, social or antisocial, hard working 
or shy of work. Are the clients local or international. Are they different in every case. Do they 
have physical, mental, sexual, cultural etc problems. You haven’t met your solutions with 
questions rather than defined problems and individuality. 

129678633 This is the front line where the most impact can be made for least cost. 
129679426 Agree - essential - otherwise numbers of homeless and street sleepers will increase. 
129691837 Homeless accommodation should also provide drug counselling for those who need it. Also 

mediation between young rough sleepers and their parents. 
129693715 Mental health 
129693974 No-one should be ignored if found sleeping rough. But I understand the accommodation is 

often turned down, because of fears about fellow inmates - drugs, theft, violence. Therefore 
every bed offered should be secure for the individual. 

129698012 Involve churches and clergy in towns. 
129698304 Instead of begging - give them community work and pay them in kind - food and hot drinks (not 

money that they can spend on drugs or drink) 
129737336 Getting rough sleepers out of a cycle has got to be the way forward - temporary 

accommodation without addressing the wider issue is just papering over the cracks. 
129939310 Some rough sleepers may be illiterate. Churches should be used to enable this objective. I 

believe all rough sleepers programmes should have access to medical care / literacy and know 
how to access these. 

129940633 What sort? Barracks, open a hostel, not housing 
129941148 No 
129944974 Most support seems to be given by charity workers and i believe elected councils should 

provide a ‘safety net’ for rough sleepers. In the present day, no one should be sleeping on the 
streets. 

129955685 Open up Didcot Civic Hall for people 7pm - 7am - have only people that behave. 

Page 137



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

130064224 This seems to me the most urgent objective - especially throughout winter when people should 
not be sleeping rough 

130182236 Yes increase support for rough sleepers 
130185468 No 
130185790 Also, one would need to be sure that the extra accommodation for rough sleepers would be 

acceptable for them (fears of inquiries, police, etc ...) 
130191359 There are obviously some genuine rough sleepers. It seems strange they gather in the city 

centre and not in rural areas. I think there should be access to emergency accommodation if 
the weather conditions could threaten life. It should not be seen as the norm. Who is paying for 
this? 

130198035 Sticking plaster to the problem - long term accommodation and support is the key but as an 
interim whilst housing stock increased definitely needed. 

130314963 No 
130316359 Are there any Army / Air Force houses that could be used? Older student accommodation in 

Oxford City during Summer Holidays? Houses such as those 2 in Summerfields Abingdon North 
which are deserted? 

130729011 Where possible focusing intervention on those new to rough sleeping is likely to be more 
beneficial as once the behaviour is embedded it is more difficult to change. 

131480128 Homelessness is a result of many different scenarios and cannot be grouped. Converted office 
blocks are not suitable for families, but better suited to single people, as long as there is a 
communal area, so they don’t feel isolated. 

131591655 Yes. This is merely a temporary measure the need for which would be reduced are eliminated 
by proper response to 1, 2 and 3 above. 
[Response 1: Ensure that actions / potential actions by the council do not contribute to the 
problem. e.g taking non payers of council tax to court at great expense and then imprisoning 
them at great cost. That money could be better diverted to solving their problems... mental? 
financial? etc. rather than further causing problems] 
[Response 2: Yes build more council homes specifically for the less well off/ homeless. Money 
spent on courts / imprisonment could be diverted for this more constructive way of dealing 
with this issue.] 
[Response 3: Yes... see above - build more council homes specifically for the less well off/ 
homeless. Money spent on courts / imprisonment could be diverted for this more constructive 
way of dealing with this issue.] 

 
 
Proposed objective 4:  
To improve access to sustainable accommodation for households who are at risk of 
homelessness or who are homeless 
 
Below are the comments received to the question:  
Do you have any comments or suggestions on proposed objective 4? 
 

Response ID Comments 
129033165 Make the building of social housing a priority, even if it implies a rise in Council Tax. 
129033571 Well this is the ultimate solution to a gfrowing problem.  But I wonder if there is adequate 

funding to enable thislaudable aim. 
129034383 Consider longer term shared accommodation for single homeless people. I work in 

homelessness and this is something I have just created in London for working homeless people. 
Prevention of spiralling mental health and unemployment. 

129034759 Prevention is vastly better than cure after the event 
129035261 Get the banks and building societies to do more to stop evicting people 

Page 138



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129038408 Do we understand the reason as to why people become homeless. If we can understand that 
we can then put a plan in place to reduce the need. 

129040219 Hosuing First model development good. Also great to see ambition to provide incentives to let 
empty property 

129048027 no comment 
129053869 Access to housing should be viewed as a vasic human right. 
129072803 No 
129073067 Working better with the Difficult tenancies so Family’s faceless threat of eviction, creating a  

charter to do more for families at risk,  Not doing this from a stat objective but commissioned 
service with a clear social mission to engage and support families to thrive. 

129077520 The location of sustainable accommodation is important. It should be close to city/town centres 
and public transport links, so that vulnerable people are not disadvantaged by the lack of 
access to a private car for travel to work, school or place of study. 

129080682 Again needs to be near the places of jobs 
129089806 again, if people are aware of better options they may become homeless on purpose - how 

many people would genuinely evict their own child but if they thought they would receive 
care/accommodation then they may be less likely to find a solution to any issues they have. 

129110446 I don’t think that enough is done to bring empty accommodation into use. As above, improved 
relationships with private landlords could be very important. 

129123371 One wonders why there has not been close cooperation in this matter in the past. 
129136071 It seems imperative that to tackle homelessness we should address the homeless issue first and 

foremost by moving to a “Housing First” scheme where people are provided a stable home and 
offered suitable support rather housing being granted on the basis of people achieving certain 
criteria.  An execrated evaluation and exploration of this would be welcomed.    

129138501 This is urgent 
129139302 Perhaps be more explicit including the term ‘building’ sustainable accommodation - not just 

‘improving access’ 
129171806 as above 
129211841 Affordability is the main issue so some subsidised rentals. 
129226925 See above 
129254553 Perhaps retrict Council Tax breaks on second and certainly third homes. Also address empty 

houses quicker. 
129320214 No 
129360164 No 
129395841 No comment 
129397780 Try to enable homeless people out of addiction (where applicable) in the long term. 

‘Sustainable’ should not infer long-term. Homelessness is something need to get out of, not 
remain in. 

129398497 Create a direct link to landlords with HMO’s and work in partnership 
129620662 Forget shared ownership, please start building proper council housing available for long term 

assured tenancies, without right to buy.   I do appreciate this is a more national policy issue 
rather than local. But we need more good, reasonable, safe accommodation in order to provide 
stability. 

129653675 None 
129671775 The condition of ‘homelessness’ should be one that is suffered through circumstances beyond 

the control of the person claimed as such. It should not be something that anyone can claim at 
will. It should not result in a hand-out of public funds to people capable of supporting 
themselves unaided. 

Page 139



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129674194 Ditto 8: I would say you have produced 5 objectives but without any analysis of the problems. 
Are you dealing with age, sex, finances, mentality, education, social or antisocial, hard working 
or shy of work. Are the clients local or international. Are they different in every case. Do they 
have physical, mental, sexual, cultural etc problems. You haven’t met your solutions with 
questions rather than defined problems and individuality. 

129679426 None 
129693715 Mental health 
129698304 Stop selling council houses. Instead, let them for an affordable rent. Buy (compulsory) any 

property which has been run down or neglected and is standing empty. 
129737336 Access to affordable housing which people can ‘buy a stake’ into rather than perpetual renting 

has got to be the way forward for the majority of people. For a minority who get stuck in an at 
risk group of homelessness wider issues such as mental health and drug abuse need to be 
addressed as part of any housing solution. 

129939310 See above [not clear which comment respondent is referring to by saying ‘see above’] 
129940633 How, who pays, what terms and conditions? 
129941148 No 
129943823 Good aims, though i am not really sure what the last action is - developing a ‘market strategy’ 

sounds too commercial to me. Should I worry? 
129944974 I think this links into objective 1. There are so many empty properties around the county I cant 

understand why there isn’t a system in place already to provide access to them. 
129995111 people need to know there options when they are at risk and advised how to help themselves 

not just rely on the system to then find themselves worse off then before 
130182236 Proposed objective 5 is important to improve 
130185468 No 
130185790 Absolutely - There again the help of outfits like Citizen Advice Bureaux, to inform and steer in 

the right direction, would be essential to maximise the policy. 
130191359 If a household with children is at risk they can apply for credit / benefits. If a pensioner 

household is at risk they can also get credits / benefits to help them. So can disabled people. I 
do not think fit, healthy people of working age should have automatic access to sustainable 
accommodation. 

130198035 Encourage builder to build a % of all accommodation products to be available to these people 
and first time buyers - rather than the derive of 4-5 bedded luxury houses which seem to be 
being built. 

130200027 It is not great that areas of the greenbelt are being developed for ‘executive’ housing - what 
about more social housing? Where I live there are already plenty of nice 4 bedroom detached 
homes. The huge development down the road has the social housing and ‘affordable’ homes as 
the final phase. Will it ever happen? In the meanwhile there are even more large expensive 
houses. What about bungalows? 

130314963 No 
130316359 Do not really understand what sustainable means in this case. If council owned, the tenants 

would be expected to help cultivate communal gardens, and clear paths etc. 
130729011 The very high costs of housing in Oxfordshire present challenges to even moderate earners. 

Prevention of profiteering by foreign investors in Oxfordshire housing stock and more social 
housing is necessary. 

131201818 I don’t think sustainability is a consideration if one is homeless. 
131480128 Absolutely necessary.  And necessary it is SUITABLE. (No cubicles in converted buildings) 

Page 140



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

131591655 Yes, bearing in mind 1, 2, 3 and 4 above 
[Response 1: Ensure that actions / potential actions by the council do not contribute to the 
problem. e.g taking non payers of council tax to court at great expense and then imprisoning 
them at great cost. That money could be better diverted to solving their problems... mental? 
financial? etc. rather than further causing problems] 
[Response 2: Yes build more council homes specifically for the less well off/ homeless. Money 
spent on courts / imprisonment could be diverted for this more constructive way of dealing 
with this issue.] 
[Response 3: Yes... see above - build more council homes specifically for the less well off/ 
homeless. Money spent on courts / imprisonment could be diverted for this more constructive 
way of dealing with this issue.] 
Response 4: Yes. This is merely a temporary measure the need for which would be reduced are 
eliminated by proper response to 1,2 and 3 above.] 

 
 
Overall proposed aims and objectives in the draft strategy: 
 
Below are the comments received to the question:  
Overall, how far do you agree or disagree with the proposed aims and objectives in the draft strategy? 

Response ID Comments 
129034759 In many ways you are continuing and buiding upon successes already achieved so I feel 

confident the strategy is sound 
129048027 no comment 
129041287 I these are good but how are these going to be achieved? I am not seeing the HOW in these 

statements 
129051685 Not sure there is a sufficient strategy in place to help those with substance misuse problems to 

find and remain in suitable accommodation. Are not these people the very ones who might be 
said to be intentionally homeless due to their behaviour? 

129054256 You can only support those who want support.  Does the fact that there is little rough sleeping 
in SODC mean that they migrate to Oxford where it is rampant in the city centre? 

129053869 Private renters who retire will not be able to afford to pay rent and could become homeless. 
Please work on providing accomodarion in advance. Please bear in mind that private landlords 
do not like renting to those on benefits. 

129061081 Need positive action - not loads of committees and meetings! 
129072803 No 
129080682 Break the rules, people want to work and have pride, these homes need to have access to jobs 

and council housing is excellent but build where there’s jobs for people in real need, i.e. On 
brown field!  Don’t just sell stock cheap and means test for rent. At same time don't build a 
ghetto. 

129089806 I believe nobody should be forced to sleep rough on the streets but believe that the alternative 
should not be so attractive as to make it ‘desirable’.  Provision of a large hostel type 
accommodation which warm and provides basic facilities should be created - people should 
have access to health services and social services which can steer them to jobs/education and 
should only be short term and reviewed regularly to avoid being a social crutch forever. 

129110446 It is lacking a financial impact statement. Rent deposit schemes and rent-in advance loans may 
be important, but how much will this cost? How much will the increased staffing cost and when 
will funding for some of these supported schemes run out? 

129111678 I agree with the proposal in general. I would like to think there is a clear pathway to help 
homeless individuals get back to a life they would like.  I would like to think that anyone using 
the service is given a change to review the service for continuous improvement e.g. if i was 
homeless i would like to feel safe in whatever help was offered 

Page 141



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129117339 My only comment would be that this strategy needs to be person-centred and evidence-based. 
Research should be done on any proposals to ensure that there is evidence that they will 
improve services. 

129123371 This page seems to be a repeat of an earlier, albeit in a different format. 
129132465 I do feel that some homeless people do not do enough to help themselves. Drug use sees to be 

prevalent in stories I have heard. . Even though ‘cheap’ accommodation might be provided to 
rough sleepers I feel that support in helping or offering them employment would help them 
gain self respect. There are “poor people” as Mr Corbyn calls them that do not do anything to 
improve their conditions even though having a room above their head. 

129136071 “Housing First” should be fast tracked - the timescale is too long. 
129138501 Cannot it be realised that it needs urgent action, not more meetings! 
129139302 The aims are weak and overlap far too much. Perhaps you need a ‘vision’ which can encompass 

these aims in one sentence and then split the aims out more distinctly. At some point you need 
to say who you will be working with ie local and national charities, the police etc 

129211841 Homelessness should be regarded as a failure of the welfare state. Even hardened addicts and 
alcoholics should have somewhere to stay if they will cooperate with basic standards of 
behaviour. 

129255839 A policy must be in place, therfore what is proppsed is as good any other. 
129257280 Do maintain and develop your partnership working with other housing agencies and advice and 

guidance agencies such as Citizens Advice. In your draft Homelessness and Rough Seeping 
Policy you talk about improving knowledge about Homelessness Provision.  Could you broaden 
the information you are planning to provide to District Councillors and makes sure that it is also 
promoted to Town and Parish Councils?  Could you also make it available to Schools?  Possibly 
via Head Teachers, but also School Nurses (at Secondary Schools).  OCC has a weekly ‘Schools 
News’ emailed newsletter that goes out to all state schools in the County. 
(http://schools.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/node/132) 

129320214 No 

Page 142



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129395841 As stated I do not have access to detail. How can you object to such aims. Practicalities of 
implementation pose many issues of financing and its implications for other services and how 
to prioritise. It is stated as not a great problem in SODC and VOWH, some practical assessment 
would be useful and also be categorised e.g. Individual with (mental health, family breakdown, 
addiction), ??, families (young / school children) without data it’s shadow boxing comment. I 
have a friend who works as night volunteer in the City, he says there is amazing (?) array of 
temporary accommodation but not taken up. A recent article in the Daily Mail by an organiser 
of Finsbury Park Baptist Church Shelter raised the issue (?) of drugs and alcohol – what happens 
to addicts. I gather there is good ‘Street Pastor’ (?) group in Oxford. Is there a means for similar 
in Didcot, Henley etc? What does the Council do about neighbours from there? Protect the 
innocent but now house the offenders? The ?? is potentially a complicated problem – not 
getting easier. I had some connection with St George’s Crypt, Leeds, 60 years ago. It sounds 
little more than straight forward. Allied was Faith Lodge, a stepping stone from homelessness to 
an address / the possibility of work. Although – the so-called Bedroom Tax was seen as a partial 
answer until it was hijacked for political purposes (as well as legitimate concerns). Surplus 
accommodation remains an issue (having lodgers is in decline). Some years ago the government 
tried to encourage shop owners to open up unused rooms above the store. Grants were offered 
for separate access. The whole flopped. I still look at seemingly under utilised rooms above 
shops. 
 
(?) - unreadable words, screenshot of scanned response below for reference: 

129397780 Well meaning, but will never be eradicated.  On-street begging and homelessness seems to go 
together. Does giving money to beggars help or hinder the problem? I’ve often been asked for 
money to stay in a night-shelter but strongly suspect it is for other reasons. The reasons WHY 
people have become homeless must be faced. 

Page 143



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

129398284 Better understanding of other council depts - working together to find jobs and useful activities, 
could improve the ‘homeless situation’ (feeling life has a purpose, gives one strength to tackle 
these challenges). 

129671775 Public support for the disadvantaged while morally desirable can, if not properly targeted and 
administered, lead to the undeserving being encouraged to take advantage of the ‘system’ to 
avoid supporting themselves. 

129674194 Q4 identifies your suggestions but you provide no basis for the variety of problems. Helpless 
rather than homeless.  The following comment was hand written on the paper comment form 
next this question: It is a one concept analysis with no identification of the problem. 

129679426 I’m aware that some of these homeless and street sleepers lead dysfunctional and chaotic lives. 
However all humans should given a chance to improve / alter. Some choose to sleep rough. 
Others victim of circumstances.  I’d like to see city authorities, police and social services working 
on the streets of Oxford, and surrounding areas, visibly interacting with street sleepers, beggars 
and homeless to remove them from doorways, alleyways, car parks etc to places of suitable 
safety /comfort/shelter such that public are not blighted by their physical presence. Those that 
can’t/won’t conform are not allowed to remain in situ. 

129691837 Provide houses but also support so people do not return to sleeping on the streets. 
129693715 Mental health and addiction services 
129927499 You should be looking at all the empty properties we have in SODC and coming up with a plan 

to take them over until the owners act responsible. Example there is a five bedroom rectory on 
our village that has been empty for over a year I thought the C of E was one of your partners ? 

129939310 Homelessness cannot be seen in isolation. Help may be needed with job applications, literacy, 
health care access, drug rehabilitation. 

129940633 Seem vague. No detail. What are you proposing? This survey says nothing! 
129941148 No 
129943823 Looks thorough, well thought through. A few concerns listed on previous answers. 
129944974 Aims and objectives are all very well on paper but we need to see action and implementation, 

not just words. 
129955685 People must be able to sleep in a church as long as they behave. 
130182236 Homelessness / rough sleepers needs are vital to improve and develop 
130185468 In total agreement with aims and objectives 
130191359 If councils had endless pots of money, it would be great to help the homeless, but the more 

help you give people the more dependent they become, today’s favour becomes tomorrows 
expectation. Any money spent from the public purse needs careful scrutiny and should only be 
spent on high priority projects. That will benefit everyone. 

130198035 Long overdue - Oxford is a disgrace and other towns are following suite with far too many 
people homeless and needing support. 

130199600 Collection boxes donations (used postage stamps) at libraries / town halls - hopefully country 
wide.  During bad weather more community centres opened and supplying food. No one should 
be on the streets sleeping rough its morally degrading. 

130200027 I think the overall proposed aims and objectives are laudable. I strongly disagree with selling off 
council houses, and other social housing. Also developers seem to do what they want. There 
doesn’t seem to be any sort of joined up thinking in this country. 

Page 144



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

130202740 I think all are necessary, but there could be more research into the cause of homelessness. Such 
as... SENTENCE UNREADABLE - SEE ATTACHED ORIGINAL DOCUMENT. And possible reasons why 
older people land up homeless. Finding the reasons might to part of the route to prevent 
problems arising. 
 
Unreadable sentence, screenshot of scanned response below for reference: 

130316359 AIMS and OBJECTIVES will require much enthusiasm / energy of all those involved. We have 
helped Syrian families. VWHDC and SODC together should be able to reduce homelessness and 
rough sleeping over the years to come. In exchange, homeless people should be prepared to 
help their community where possible. Parks, litter picking, roadsides and verges. 

130383607 Rough sleeping should be a national government policy decision 
130508753 As requested by email, the respondent asked for these additional comments to be added to this 

response:  There seemed to be no mention on what the council is going to do to meet the 
increasing demand for affordable rented housing, and the affordability of ‘affordable rent’ 
tenancies for the lowest income households.   Secondly, I feel the statistics quoted in 
paragraphs below need clarity.   Households with persons who have mental health needs: ...... 
‘In South Oxfordshire, between April and December 2019, a total of 42 households at risk of 
homelessness had mental health issues. In the Vale of White Horse 37 households at risk of 
homelessness had mental health issues. This equates to 47 percent of households (What type 
of household - all types?) in South Oxfordshire and 40 per cent of households (What type of 
household - all types?) in the Vale of White Horse.    Households with persons who have 
substance misuse issues:  ........’ In South Oxfordshire, between April and December 2018, a 
total of 16 households at risk of homelessness had substance misuse issues. The same number 
of households at risk of homelessness and suffering mental health issues approached the Vale 
of White Horse. This equates to 18 per cent of households (What type of household - all types?) 
in South Oxfordshire and 17 per cent of households (What type of household - all types?) in the 
Vale of White Horse. 

130718613 Members welcomed the strategy.  It was understood that the District Council had recently 
approved Part 2 of the 2031 Local Plan. It was understood that for future Local Plans the District 
Council would place a higher priority on affordable housing and a higher proportion of 
affordable housing would be provided in future developments.  The Council welcomed this as a 
key objective for the future planning of the Vale. 

130729011 It is important to ensure the limited funds available are focused on projects that are proven to 
make a difference and do not contribute to rent or property value inflation. 

131201818 Nice ideas - but ‘all mouth & no trousers’ unless we stand up for local people. 
131299453 The strategy needs the funding to deliver on its promises. Central Government must support it 

both financially and morally. 

Page 145



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

131347173 In section 1, Improve country-wide partnership working to prevent and reduce homelessness, 
you indicate your wish to work with county-wide partners. However, nowhere is it mentioned 
that very local organisations, charities and volunteers are sometimes best placed to identify 
issues around current and prospective homelessness in their own communities.  As far as I am 
aware, neither the District or County Councils have bothered to identify the myriad of 
organisations and networks which work in our communities. Certainly, the Community Safety 
Partnership has never shown an interest in community or safety at a local level. If you really 
want to pre-empt homelessness issues, please engage with really local networks and work out a 
way that they can feed into your strategy. At the moment, this seems to be an office-based 
exercise to tick the box for a Homelessness Strategy. 

131366720 One of Oxford City Council’s key corporate priorities is to meet housing need, both by tackling 
and preventing homelessness, and by supporting and delivering an increased supply of homes. 
We recognise that in order to achieve these objectives it depends on us working closely with 
our neighbouring district authorities.  Many of the housing related problems the city currently 
faces, including unacceptably high levels of rough sleeping, unaffordability in the housing 
market, and limited access to the private rented market for those on a low income, are faced by 
people and communities countywide, and will not be solved in isolation by any one council.   
We agree with the objective contained in the draft joint S&V homelessness and rough sleeping 
strategy to continue with and develop joint working and a partnership approach between 
Oxfordshire’s local authorities. Oxford City Council shares this vision and welcomes its inclusion 
in the draft strategy.   Ending rough sleeping in Oxfordshire requires a transformation in 
approach. As part of this partners including South, Vale and Oxford councils have recognised 
that there is a need to step up collaborative working to tackle rough sleeping across the County 
and the commitment to the continuation of the joint commissioning arrangements is 
recognition of that. A key early step is the appointment of a Countywide Strategic Lead for 
single homeless and rough sleeping which has been made recently, who will lead work on 
developing a strategy for rough sleeping and single homelessness in Oxfordshire which is 
further testament to a ‘step-change’ in the way we are working together. We also welcome the 
strategies action to work with us and other partners to ensure learning from the countywide 
homelessness trailblazer is maintained and links are further developed with probation and 
prison services, social care and the hospitals.  We also share many of the same objectives that 
the draft strategy identifies, in particular around rough sleeping and the prevention of 
homelessness. It is positive to see the direction of travel the city is moving to with services for 
our clients, is shared by the neighbouring authorities.  We share the draft strategies objective to 
further move to a focus on the prevention of homelessness, in order to allow households to 
stay in their homes if possible, or if not to move on to different suitable accommodation before 
they are affected by homelessness. As part of this we are ensuring the prevention of 
homelessness is embedded in all our services. We are also working to bring empty homes back 
into use, and developing our offer to ensure continued access to the private rented sector for 
low income tenants.  

131377786 There should be a stronger emphasis on trying to get all people sleeping on streets with 
stronger housing policy 

131378888 There is nothing to diasgree with. Ensuring that everyone has a home to live in that is fit for 
purpose and meets any special needs should be a top priority.  My concern is that its all a bit 
motherhood and apple-pie but there are no actual targets. What does each action hope to 
achieve in actual numbers, and how? How will more people in need actually be housed? How 
will their needs  be met? Are there safeguards in place to ensure there is no revolving door of 
homelessness? 

131480128 Break it down to causes: Families Single people on hard times Addiction problems with help on 
site to help with problems 

129150246 Make it happen, make funding availible 
131591655 Yes. Spend money on constructive things like building homes and helping people and spend less 

on punishing them. 

Page 146



 
 

Appendices: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 
Consultation summary report, January 2020 

 

Page 147



Cabinet Report
Report of Head of Housing and Environment
Author: Shaun Berry
Telephone: 01235 422104
Textphone: 18001 01235 422104
E-mail: shaun.berry@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: ALL
Cabinet member responsible: Jenny Hannaby
Tel: 07717 271711
E-mail: jenny.hannaby@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Date: 10 July 2020

Housing Assistance Grants and Loans 
Policy

Recommendations

(a)     that Cabinet formally adopts the proposed Housing Assistance Grants and Loans  
policy.

(b)     that Cabinet delegate authority to the Head of Service for Housing and Environment 
to make minor amendments to the policy.

Purpose of Report

1. To inform Cabinet of the content of the draft Housing Assistance Grants and Loans 
policy.

2. To recommend that Cabinet adopts the Housing Assistance Grants and Loans policy.

Background

3. The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 placed a statutory duty 
upon local housing authorities to provide Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) for 
residential adaptations where the appropriate legislative conditions are met. 

4. DFGs are awarded to eligible residents in the private rented sector, social rented sector 
or who are owner occupiers.  The grant is available for disabled adults or children for 
adaptations to their main residence.

Page 148

Agenda Item 9

mailto:shaun.berry@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jenny.hannaby@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


5. The Grant is designed to improve the lives of people with disabilities by enabling 
access and movement around their own home with the use of adaptations.  It also 
reduces hospital admissions, enables earlier hospital discharges and reduces the need 
for domiciliary and residential care.

6. The Government allocate DFG funding to Oxfordshire County Council who devolve the 
Grant to the district councils.  Vale of White Horse District Council and Oxfordshire 
County Council jointly facilitate the undertaking of DFG works. The  DFG allocation for 
both 2019/20 and 2020/21 for Vale of White Horse is £1,444,470.

7. In 2018/19, a total of 105 Disabled Facility Grants were approved by Vale of White 
Horse District Council. The most common adaptations funded by DFGs are stairlifts, 
external handrails, external ramps and level access showers.  The grants enable the 
recipients to remain safely and comfortably in their own home.

8. Under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 
(RRO), local authorities gained wider powers to assist individuals with renewals, 
repairs and adaptations in their homes by providing grants or loans.

9. There are four categories of grants and loans available from the council:

- Statutory Disabled Facilities Grants
- Discretionary grants and loans 
- Energy efficiency and repairs grants
- Other forms of housing assistance

10.The council awards grants and loans in accordance with the relevant legislation and 
regulations.  The council however has not previously adopted a policy that details its 
approach to awarding grants and loans.

Development of the policy

11.The  Housing Assistance Grants and Loans policy sets out how the council will 
exercise its legislative duties and regulatory powers to deliver housing related grants 
and loans in Vale of White Horse.

12.The development of the draft policy provided an opportunity to review the current 
service provision and introduce enhancements to the delivery of grants and loans. 

13.The policy has been developed by Officers in consultation with partners and using 
feedback from customers.  

14.The review of the service identified that the council should use the flexibility introduced 
by the Regulatory Reform Order to increase the range and improve the delivery of 
grants and loans.

15.The council has historically underspent its allocation of Disabled Facilities Grant.  The 
historic underspend is carried forward and profiled across the councils 5-year medium 
term plan  to 2023/24.  A key aim of the policy is to reduce the underspend by 
increasing delivery and expanding the range of grants available.  

Page 149



Aims of the Policy

16.The Housing Assistance Grants and Loans Policy sets out how the council will meet its 
statutory duties and exercise its powers to achieve national and local objectives when 
awarding housing assistance grants and loans.

17.The aims of the policy are to:

 provide a fair and transparent policy for the administration and management 
of housing related grants and loans.

 provide a clear framework for the delivery of grants and loans.
 ensure the council meets its statutory duties and exercises its powers in 

accordance with relevant legislation and regulations.
 increase the range of grants and loans available to better reflect the needs of 

residents.
 increase the delivery of grants and loans subject to available funding.
 accelerate the delivery of grants. 

Policy Innovations
  

18.The  policy includes new measures designed to deliver the aims of the policy:

 Introduces new grants and services to benefit residents, including a grant for 
persons living with dementia.

 Increases the maximum DFG entitlement from £30,000 to £50,000 to help fund 
more expensive adaptations, for example extensions to facilitate downstairs 
bathrooms or bedrooms.

 Removes the means test for DFG adaptions under £8,000 that will accelerate 
delivery and reduce waiting times for residents.

 Uses flexible funding arrangements introduced under RRO to improve service 
delivery.  For example, the secondment of an Occupational Therapist from 
Oxfordshire County Council to accelerate and increase the delivery of DFGs and 
reduce waiting times for residents

 In certain circumstances, recover part of the cost of a DFG from owner-
occupiers to re-invest the funding in order to maximise the number of DFG 
delivered.

Policy Implementation

19.Subject to the policy being adopted, the council will  promote the new policy to raise 
public awareness and increase the uptake of the grants and loans.  Advice leaflets and 
marketing information will be updated accordingly.

20.The policy will be reviewed annually and in line with DFG budget allocations. An in-year 
review may be necessary to reflect changes to Government policy; the councils’ 
corporate policies or the availability of funding.

Page 150



Options

21.a) Adopt the Housing Assistance Grants and Loans Policy.  This will authorise the 
council to offer a more flexible and wider range of grants, loans and other assistance in 
accordance with the Regulatory Reform Order (Housing Assistance) (England and 
Wales) 2002 (RRO).

22.b) Do not adopt the policy.  The council would continue to issue grants under the 
mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants legislation.  This would prevent the council from 
delivering grants more flexibly and offering a wide range of grants to benefit vulnerable 
and disabled residents.  It would also restrict the council’s ability to accelerate and 
increase the delivery of grants and loans.

Financial Implications

23.The 2020/21 Disabled Facility Grant allocation for VWHDC is £1,444,470.  

24.The total expenditure on grants and loans will not exceed the available budget in the 
financial year.

Legal Implications

25.The Housing Assistance Grants and Loans Policy sets out how the council will meet its 
statutory legislative duties and exercise its flexible powers under wider legislation 
(RRO) to achieve national and local objectives when awarding housing assistance 
grants and loans.

26.The policy is compliant with current legislation and regulations relevant to the issuing of 
housing-related grants and loans.

Risks

27.a) The policy does not achieve its stated aim of increasing and broadening the delivery 
of housing related grants and loans.  The mitigation of the risk is that there will be a 
rolling publicity campaign to promote the uptake of grants and loans following adoption 
of the policy. 

28.b) The policy over-achieves its stated aim of increasing and broadening the delivery of 
housing related grants and loans resulting in a budget overspend.  The mitigation of the 
risk is effective budget monitoring to ensure that there is no budget overspend.

Other implications

29.  None

Conclusions

30.The Housing Assistance Grants and Loans Policy sets out how the council will meet its 
statutory duties and exercise its powers when awarding housing assistance grants and 
loans.

31.The policy provides a transparent framework for increasing the range of available 
grants and introduces new measures to enhance service delivery.  It will improve the 

Page 151



lives of people with housing support needs by enabling them to live safely and 
comfortably in their own homes.

32.Cabinet is recommended to adopt the proposed Housing Assistance Grants and Loans 
Policy.

Appendix

Draft Housing Assistance Grants and Loans Policy. 

Page 152



South Oxfordshire District Council 
and Vale of White Horse District 

Council

Housing Assistance 
Grants and Loans Policy

April 2020 

Page 153



1

Contents
1. Overview of the policy 3

1.1 INTRODUCTION 3
1.2 DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS 3
1.3 LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND 3
1.4 FLEXIBLE DELIVERY OF HOUSING ASSISTANCE GRANTS 4
1.5 STRATEGIC AIMS OF THE POLICY 4
1.6 TYPES OF HOUSING ASSISTANCE AVAILABLE 5
1.7 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 6

2. Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) 7
2.1 DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT 7

3. DFG Administration and Management 9
3.1 INITIAL ENQUIRIES 9
3.2 ASSESSMENT OF NEEDS 9
3.3 PROCESSING DFG APPLICATIONS 9
3.4 ADAPTATIONS THAT ARE ELIGIBLE FOR DFGs 10
3.5 PRIORITISATION OF DFG APPLICATIONS 11
3.6 FACILITATION OF DFG WORKS 11
3.7 TENDERING FOR DFGS 12
3.8     RESPONSIBILITY FOR QUALITY OF WORKS 12
3.9    SELF- MANAGED DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS 12
3.10  DFG REPAYMENT CONDITION 13
3.11  PRIVATE OCCUPATIONAL THERAPISTS 14

4. Discretionary Grants and Loans 15
4.1 DISCRETIONARY GRANTS AND LOANS 15
4.2 DISCRETIONARY DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT 15
4.3 DISABLED FACILITIES RELOCATION GRANT 16
4.4 ACCELERATED HOME ADAPTATION GRANT 16
4.5 ESSENTIAL HOUSING REPAIR GRANT 17
4.6 FLEXIBLE HOME IMPROVEMENT LOAN 18
4.7 EMPTY HOME LOAN 20
4.8 DEMENTIA ASSISTANCE GRANT 21

5. Energy Saving and Repair Grants 22
5.1 FUEL POVERTY GRANT 22
5.2 WARM HOMES GRANT 23
5.3 GOVERNMENT/ENERGY COMPANY GRANT FUNDING 23

6. Other Services 24
6.1 HANDYPERSON SERVICES 24
6.2 SCOOTER STORAGE 25
6.3 DRY HOARDING 25
6.4 RECYCLING OF STAIRLIFTS 26

Page 154



2

7. Applications outside of this policy 26
7.1 CONSIDERING EXCEPTIONS 26

8. Policy Implementation and Review 27
8.1 POLICY IMPLEMENTATION 27
8.2 UPDATE AND REVIEW 27
8.3 COMPLAINTS 27

Page 155



3

1. Overview of the policy

1.1 INTRODUCTION
The Housing Assistance Grants and Loans policy sets out how South 
Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils (the councils) provide 
residents with grants, loans and other assistance to improve their housing 
circumstances.

The policy explains the eligibility criteria, conditions, and procedures that 
apply to each scheme.  It is sufficiently flexible to allow consideration of any 
future changes to government policy or legislation.

The councils will also continue to provide housing assistance advice to older, 
disabled and vulnerable residents regardless of whether they are eligible for  
grants or loans under this policy. 

1.2 DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS
Over the last 25 years, Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) have assisted over 
40,000 people a year nationally. The grants have enabled people to live in 
more accessible, purpose adapted housing which enhances their quality of life 
and reduces the burden on the National Health Service (NHS). The Disabled 
Facilities Grant is a means-tested grant which provides funding for adaptions 
such as the installation of accessible showers, stairlifts, ramps or to make 
other changes to the home to enable disabled adults and children to lead 
more independent lives.1 

The adaptations facilitated by DFGs are becoming increasingly important as 
the population ages. It restores dignity, improves safety and makes life easier 
both for disabled people themselves and for their carers. It can be crucial in 
avoiding a move into care or in enabling someone to leave hospital and return 
to their home.

1.3 LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND
The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 placed a 
statutory duty upon local housing authorities to provide Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFGs) for residential adaptations where the appropriate legislative 
conditions are met.

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 
2002 (RRO), gave local authorities wider powers to introduce policies to assist 
individuals with renewals, repairs, and adaptations in their homes through 
discretionary grants or loans.  The power includes awarding discretionary 
grants or loans in addition to statutory DFGs.

1 https://www.foundations.uk.com/dfg-adaptations/

Page 156



4

In recent years the Government extended RROs to include the use of DFG 
money.  This has enabled councils to use DFG funding more flexibly to keep 
people safe and well within their home.

In 2015/16, DFG funding became part of the Department of Health’s Better 
Care Fund (BCF).  The Better Care Fund is a single pooled budget for health 
and social care services designed to promote integrated working between the 
NHS and local authorities. 

BCF enables councils to utilise DFG funding more flexibly to support wider 
strategic health aims that include reducing waiting lists, accelerating hospital 
discharges and reducing hospital admissions by keeping people safe and well 
in their home.

The Housing Assistance Grants and Loans policy sets out how the councils 
will exercise its duties and powers under the Housing Grants, Construction 
and Regeneration Act 1996 and Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) 
(England and Wales) Order 2002.

1.4 FLEXIBLE DELIVERY OF HOUSING ASSISTANCE GRANTS
In accordance with the principles of the RRO, this policy uses legislative 
flexibility to promote better health and housing outcomes through the following 
initiatives:

- Funding administrative and support staff, including the secondment of 
Occupational Therapists from Oxfordshire County Council to accelerate 
and increase the delivery of DFGs and to reduce waiting times for South 
and Vale residents.

- Removing the means test for DFG adaptions under £8,000 to accelerate 
delivery and reduce waiting time for residents.

- Introducing new countywide case-working software to improve the efficient 
delivery of DFGs.

1.5 STRATEGIC AIMS OF THE POLICY
This policy seeks to keep people safe and well and to promote better health 
and housing outcomes by providing grants and loans to achieve the following 
objectives: 

- Supporting disabled residents to live independently, enabling and 
improving access and movement around their home. 

- Reducing hospital admissions and enabling early hospital discharges.

Page 157



5

- Reducing the need for domiciliary and residential care by allowing people 
with disabilities to live independently in their own homes.

- Reducing fuel poverty and the effects of living in cold homes, including 
excess winter deaths and illness.

- Providing advice, information and support to deliver adaptions that meet 
the requirements of disabled residents.

- Providing a transparent, accountable and flexible policy which improves 
openness and governance for the delivery of housing related grants and 
loans.

The success of this policy will be measured against key performance 
indicators designed to achieve the effective and efficient delivery of housing 
grants and loans.

1.6 TYPES OF HOUSING ASSISTANCE AVAILABLE
The councils offer a range of housing related grants and loans to improve the 
housing conditions of residents.  These grants and loans are either statutory 
or discretionary. 

The councils have a legal duty to provide statutory grants in accordance with 
the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 as amended by 
the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 2002.  
The statutory grant under the legislation is the Disabled Facilities Grant. 

Discretionary grants and loans may be offered by councils in line with their 
policies.  The availability of these grants and loans may be dependent upon 
available funding. 

The types of grants, loans and assistance available from the councils are 
listed below: 

- Statutory grants 

o Disabled Facilities Grant

- Discretionary grants and loans

o Accelerated Home Adaptations Grant (AHG)
o Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant
o Disabled Facilities Relocation Grant
o Flexible Home Improvement Loan
o Essential Housing Repair Grant
o Empty Home Loan
o Dementia Assistance Grant

Page 158



6

Energy Efficiency and Repairs Grants

o Warm Home Grant
o Fuel Poverty Grant
o Government/Energy Company Obligation (ECO) Grant Funding

Other assistance and services

o Handyperson services
o Scooter Storage
o Dry Hoarding
o Recycling stairlifts

The councils provide advice and information on the different types and 
availability of grants, loans and housing assistance, including how to apply 
and the eligibility criteria; that is set out in this policy.

The council also provides information and signposting to other organisations, 
charities or agencies that may need to be contacted to progress an application 
or to apply for other types of assistance available.  Enquiries can be made by 
contacting:

Private Sector Housing Team Private Sector Housing Team 
DFG Administration DFG Administration
Vale of White Horse District Council South Oxfordshire District Council
135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park 
Abingdon OX14 4SB Abingdon OX14 4SB
01235 422436 01235 422436 
dfgvale@southandvale.gov.uk                dfgsouth@southandvale.gov.uk

In exceptional circumstances and on a case by case basis, the councils will 
consider an application for assistance that falls outside this policy, see section 
7 for further information.

1.7 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY
The councils are committed to equality of opportunity and anti-discriminatory 
practice in service provision and seek to promote social inclusion. 

Applicants will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, colour, 
nationality, ethnic or national origin, disability, age, sex, gender reassignment, 
sexual orientation, religion or belief, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity. 

The Housing Assistance Grants and Loans Policy conforms with relevant 
legislation and case law, best practice, and guidance issued by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and other relevant 
bodies.

Page 159

mailto:dfgvale@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:dfgsouth@southandvale.gov.uk


7

2. Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs)

2.1 DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT
The Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) is a statutory grant. Its purpose is to 
modify disabling environments to restore or enable independent living, 
privacy, confidence and dignity for individuals and their families. 

Eligibility

DFGs are only available to pay for adaptations to a disabled person’s main 
residence.  It is open to homeowners, private tenants and people living in 
Registered Providers/Housing Association properties; subject to proof of 
ownership or the landlord’s permission.  A landlord may also apply on behalf 
of a tenant.  

The disabled person must have lived, or be intending to live, in the property 
for at least five years, or for such a shorter period as their health and other 
relevant circumstances permit.

The councils are required to administer Disabled Facilities Grants to all eligible 
applicants irrespective of their tenure, and the Councils aim to work 
collaboratively with Registered Providers to fund aids and adaptations.

The eligibility requirements, scope of works, and regulations relating to DFGs 
are prescribed by legislation.  The council may not deviate from these 
requirements. 

For more information visit: gov.uk/disabled-facilities-grants

Applicants financial contribution

DFGs are means-tested which means an applicant’s income and savings are 
assessed according to Government regulations. Depending upon their level of 
income, savings and capital, the applicant may have to pay a contribution 
towards the cost of the work.   In these circumstances, the council may also 
provide information on alternative grants/loans that are not means tested.

The mandatory means test considers the income, capital and savings of the 
disabled person and their spouse or partner - collectively called the relevant 
person. 

Where the application is for a disabled child, or a young person under the age 
of 19, the means test is not applied.

If the relevant person’s resources are below the contribution threshold, or an 
applicant is in receipt of certain benefits for people on low income or a 

Page 160

http://www.gov.uk/disabled-facilities-grants


8

passported benefit)2, they will not normally need to contribute towards the cost 
of the works. 

If an applicant is required to make a financial contribution to the cost of the 
works, this will be discussed with their caseworker.

For further information, please see: Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996

Council tax reduction scheme

Council Tax Benefit was abolished on 31 March 2013 and replaced by a local 
scheme called the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS). The Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme however is not a benefit, it is a discount on a person’s 
Council Tax.

For the purpose of this policy, DFG applicants qualifying for a CTRS discount 
will be considered as in receipt of a passported benefit and therefore not 
subject to the means test.

Maximum DFG entitlement

In accordance with the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 
1996, the mandatory maximum DFG that an applicant can be awarded (per 
application) is £30,000.

The councils recognise that complex adaptations, for example building 
extensions, often cost in excess of £30,000.

In accordance with the RRO, the councils may therefore approve DFGs up to 
a maximum entitlement of £50,000. 

The maximum DFG entitlement will be applicable to grants approved after the 
adoption of the policy and subject to available funding.  The statutory element 
of DFG funding up to £30,000 will not be affected.

Grant Conditions

There are conditions which apply to a Disabled Facilities Grant and these are 
set in accordance with the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration 
Act 1996. More information is available here: Housing Grants, Construction 
and Regeneration Act 1996

A copy of the grant conditions can be requested upon approval of a DFG.

2 Passported benefits are: income-based Job Seekers Allowance, income-based Employment 
Support Allowance, Income Support, Pension Credit, Housing Benefit, Universal Credit and 
Working/Child Tax Credits for households with an annual income below £15,050.

Page 161

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/part/I/chapter/I/crossheading/grant-conditions-and-repayment
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/part/I/chapter/I/crossheading/grant-conditions-and-repayment


9

3. DFG Administration and Management

3.1 INITIAL ENQUIRIES 
A person wanting to apply for a DFG is advised to contact Oxfordshire County 
Council to discuss their requirements with an Occupational Therapist (OT).  
The OT will confirm their eligibility for a grant and arrange an assessment of 
their needs. 

For more information on the equipment, aids and adaption services provided 
by Oxfordshire County Council, visit: oxfordshire.gov.uk- adaptations to 
homes

3.2 ASSESSMENT OF NEEDS
An OT will visit the applicant at their home and complete an assessment of 
their adaptation requirements that will consider their disabilities, the impact 
upon their daily activities and their housing environment. 

Following the assessment, the OT will discuss the options for meeting the 
identified needs with the applicant.  This may include advice about equipment 
that may provide a solution without the need for alterations to the property.  If 
the OT decides that an adaptation is ‘necessary and appropriate’ to meet the 
applicant’s needs, they will refer their recommendations to the council.

For further information on requesting an OT assessment:  oxfordshire.gov.uk - 
getting a needs assessment

3.3 PROCESSING DFG APPLICATIONS 
On receipt of a recommendation from an Occupational Therapist, the council,  
the Home Improvement Agency acting on behalf of the council, or the Housing 
Association will contact the applicant.  

They will complete a grant application form with the applicant including an 
assessment of any financial contribution.  The council will ask the applicant to 
to provide proof that they are the owner or tenant of the property 

If the council considers that the recommended adaptations are not 
‘reasonable and practicable’ they may refuse the grant.  In these 
circumstances the applicant has the option to self-fund the works. 

South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council, in 
partnership with Oxfordshire County Council, Cherwell District Council and 
West Oxfordshire District Council, have published the “Oxfordshire Grant 

Page 162

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/social-and-health-care/living-home/equipment-aids-and-adaptations/adaptations-homes
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/social-and-health-care/living-home/equipment-aids-and-adaptations/adaptations-homes
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/social-and-health-care/adult-social-care/getting-needs-assessment/members-public
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/social-and-health-care/adult-social-care/getting-needs-assessment/members-public


10

aided Home Adaptation” booklet. The booklet provides further information on 
applying for grants. 

To view the booklet online, visit: Oxfordshire Grant-aided, Home adaptations

3.4 ADAPTATIONS THAT ARE ELIGIBLE FOR DFGs
In accordance with the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 
1996, an application may be approved for the following purposes:

a) facilitating access by the disabled occupant.

These include works to remove or help overcome any difficulties which 
prevent the disabled person from moving freely into and around the dwelling 
and enjoying the use of the dwelling and the facilities within it.

b) facilitating access to and from the dwelling or the building in which the 
dwelling is situated;

c) facilitating access to a room used or usable as the principal family 
room;

d) facilitating access to a room used or usable for sleeping, or 
alternatively providing such a room for the disabled occupant;

e) facilitating access to a room in which there is a lavatory, a bath or 
shower, a wash hand basin or providing a room in which there is such 
facilities; 

f) facilities for the preparation and cooking of food; and

g) facilitating access to and from the garden and making access safe.

h) making a dwelling* or building safe for the disabled occupant: 

*Dwelling means an existing building or part of a building occupied or intended to be 
occupied as a separate dwelling, together with any yard, garden and outhouses 
associated with it. 

An application may also be approved for adaptations to make a building safe 
for the disabled person. This may be the provision of lighting where safety is 
an issue or for adaptations designed to minimise the risk of danger where a 
person has behavioural problems that causes them to act in a boisterous or 
violent manner damaging the house, themselves or potentially other people. 
This may be resolved through the installation of guards or cladding of exposed 
surfaces designed to prevent injury to themselves.

 

Page 163

https://www2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/socialandhealthcare/adultsocialcare/livingathome/equipmentaidsadaptations/HomeAdaptations.pdf


11

3.5 PRIORITISATION OF DFG APPLICATIONS
At times of heavy demand, the councils may need to prioritise workloads and 
if necessary, operate a waiting list 

The OT awards a priority level to each application. 

The priority bands are:

- Urgent
- High
- Medium
- Low

Applications in the same band will be prioritised according to the date of 
referral.

3.6 FACILITATION OF DFG WORKS 

Home Improvement Agency (HIA)

The councils have a contractual arrangement with Mears Home Improvement 
Ltd to provide the council’s home improvement agency service.  Mears assist 
with repairs and facilitate adaptations to properties to help older and disabled 
people remain active, safe and independent in their homes. 

Mears services include:

 Help with the funding processes
 Help with repairs, improvements or adaptations to properties
 Provision of technical expertise for building work
 Engagement of preferred contractors and work site inspections. 
 Providing confidential advice, support and assistance to customers
 Help applicants to maximise their income through application for benefits
 Providing information on housing and other support services
 Provide information on ways of paying for repair or improvement work
 Handyperson services

A fee is charged for the processing and facilitating of DFGs. This fee is currently 
contractually set at 15 per cent for the total cost of works and is included within 
the grant funding total.

SOHA (Registered Provider) process and facilitate DFGs on behalf of their 
tenants.  They also provide repairs and other forms of housing assistance to 
enable their tenants to remain active, safe and independent. 

Page 164



12

3.7 TENDERING FOR DFGS

When tendering for DFGs the relevant organisation3 will request quotes from 
contractors to undertake the work.  A minimum of two quotes are normally 
required unless a specialist contractor arrangement is in place, or a schedule 
of rates or framework agreement exists.

Following submission of quotes from the contractors, the councils will award 
the work to the most economically advantageous contractor. 

The councils will normally choose the lowest quotation that meets the 
specification of the works, however, at the council’s discretion, the applicant 
may be permitted to choose a higher value quote provided they are willing to 
pay the difference. For example, a client may decide they would like a higher 
specification bathroom suite or appliances. In this example, the council will 
fund the cost of the lowest quote and the client will pay the balance. 

To ensure value for money, the councils Home Improvement Agency will 
estimate the cost of a job using a schedule of works as a benchmark for 
comparing the value of tenders.

3.8 RESPONSIBILITY FOR QUALITY OF WORKS
All DFG works facilitated, designed, built or installed by the Home 
Improvement Agency (HIA), or their appointed contractor(s) or sub-
contractor(s) are subject to the terms, conditions and guarantees issued by 
the HIA and the contractor and are not the responsibility of the council.

The HIA will ask the applicant to sign a Domestic Agreement with the 
contractor prior to the commencement of the works*.

The Domestic Agreement is an agreement between the applicant and the 
contractor that states the relevant terms and conditions, defects liability period 
and procedures to address any issues relating to the works undertaken.  

*Unless the applicant has opted to self-manage the works. 

3.9 SELF- MANAGED DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS
The councils are aware that some clients would like to self-manage their DFG 
works and not utilise the services of the Home Improvement Agency.

In these circumstances, the HIA will only visit the applicant to complete the 
application form and complete a financial assessment. A set fee will be 
charged by the HIA for this process that will be included in the grant.

3 Home Improvement Agency, Registered Provider or applicant’s surveyor

Page 165



13

The client will be provided with information on the ‘next steps’ including 
arranging surveyor/architect drawings, Building Control approval, planning 
permission and arranging quotes from contractors. 

This information must be submitted to the council and the grant approved 
before works can commence at the property.

An administration fee for self-managed DFG cases will apply to all approved 
grants on adoption of this policy.

3.10 DFG REPAYMENT CONDITIONS
If an applicant is the owner of a property and receives a DFG greater than 
£10,000, a condition of the grant is that the applicant may be required to 
repay a proportion of the grant if the property is sold within ten years. 

In these cases, the council will register a Local Land Charge against the 
property.  The charge will remain against the property for ten years on 
completion of the grant works.  The applicant will be required to sign an 
acknowledgement of the proposed charge on approval of the grant. 

The applicable charge is set out in the table below:

Grant Charge

Up to £9,999 No Charge

£10,000 to £14,999 £5,000

£15,000 to £60,000 £10,000

The decision whether to recover a proportion of a DFG from an owner 
occupier will be determined on a case-by-case basis and will consider the 
following: 

- The extent to which the grant recipient, spouse or family would suffer 
financial hardship.

- Whether disposal of the premises is to enable the grant recipient to take 
up employment, or to change location of their employment.

- Whether disposal of the premises is made for reasons connected with the 
physical, mental health or well-being of the grant recipient or of a disabled 
occupant of the premises.

Page 166



14

- Whether the disposal is made to enable the grant recipient to live with, or 
near, any person who is disabled or infirm or in need of care, which the 
grant recipient is intending to provide, or who is intending to provide care 
of which the grant recipient needs, by reason of disability or infirmity

The Housing Needs Manager will have discretion not to recover any monies 
owed if it is less than the administration costs associated with recovery.  The 
councils may also seek recovery of a grant where it has reason to believe the 
recipient has abused the DFG system.

3.11 PRIVATE OCCUPATIONAL THERAPISTS
The councils allow applicants the option of employing a private Occupational 
Therapist (OT) to undertake the assessment of needs and develop 
recommendations for a DFG.  The client will be responsible for the cost of 
employing a private OT.4  

Any assessment of needs and recommendations made by a privately funded 
OT will be required to be sent to the Oxfordshire County Councils Adult Social 
Care (ASC) or Children’s OT service Duty OT.  An ASC or Children’s OT will 
review and may approve the referral made by the private OT and authorise  
submission to the council. 

If the private OT requires advice from the Adult Social Care Team or 
Children’s OT service, they should liaise with the relevant teams directly.

4 No funding for a private OT is available from the District councils or the NHS

Page 167



15

4. Discretionary Grants and Loans

4.1 DISCRETIONARY GRANTS AND LOANS
In addition to the council’s statutory obligation to administer DFGs, the 
councils offer discretionary housing-related grants and loans for the benefit of 
residents. 

All discretionary grants, loans and assistance provided by the councils will be 
subject to availability of funding.  The funding may be withdrawn with 
immediate effect for grants that have not been formally approved.

In the event discretionary funding is withdrawn, advice will be given to 
applicants with regards to other types of grants that may be available.

Discretionary grants may be offered in the following circumstances:

- where there is no alternative funding stream available,

- to persons who are unable to fund the necessary work themselves when 
means tested criteria are applicable

- where the work is essential and mitigates category one or two hazards 
under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System, including mobile 
homes

- where funding allows such discretionary grants to be approved.

4.2 DISCRETIONARY DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT
The councils will consider applications for a discretionary DFG (DDFG) in 
exceptional circumstances and on a case by case basis.  These grants will be 
subject to the client having a “nil contribution” from the statutory DFG test of 
resources and will be subject of a maximum of £10,000 per application.

A DDFG provides additional grant above the DFG maximum threshold of 
£50,000 in exceptional cases where adaptation works exceed the £50,000 
DFG threshold.

Eligibility

Discretionary Disabled Facility Grants are available to homeowners and 
people living in rented properties.  Applicants must also be eligible for a DFG 
and have proposed adaption schemes or works above the maximum DFG 
threshold.  The DDFG application must be supported by an Occupational 
Therapist.  

Page 168



16

Conditions of the grant

Applications for a DDFG will need approval by the Head of Housing and 
Environment in accordance with their Delegated Authority.

When determining applications for a DDFG, the councils will consider any 
funding that may have been agreed by Oxfordshire County Council, plus the 
ability of the applicant to self-fund the additional costs.

DDFGs are subject to the availability of funds. Where funding is withdrawn 
statutory DFG funding will continue to be available.

4.3 DISABLED FACILITIES RELOCATION GRANT
This discretionary grant provides help with relocation costs where a DFG 
applicant has an option to move to more suitable accommodation rather than 
adapt their current home, or where their current accommodation cannot be 
adapted. 

The grant may also be used to fund the cost of adaptations at the new 
property when necessary.

Eligibility

Disabled Facilities Relocation Grants (DFRGs) are available to both 
homeowners and households in rented properties.  Applicants must also be 
eligible for a DFG. 

Conditions of the grant

Applicants must complete a mandatory means test which assesses the 
income and capital of the disabled person and their spouse or partner; -
collectively called the relevant person. Where the application is for a disabled 
child or young person under the age of nineteen the means test is not applied.

The maximum grant available is 40 per cent of the approved Disabled 
Facilities Grant required at the existing property.

The awarding of a DFRG will reduce or remove the building cost that would 
have been incurred at the existing property. 

4.4 ACCELERATED HOME ADAPTATION GRANT
The Accelerated Home Adaptation Grant (AHG) applies the same eligibility 
criteria as Disabled Facilities Grants with certain exceptions detailed below.  

Page 169



17

AHGs speed up the delivery of adaptations by removing the requirement for a 
financial assessment for grants below £8,000. 

AHGs do not apply a financial assessment in the following circumstances:

 Adaptations where the total cost of the approved grant does not exceed 
£8,0005

 Adaptations above £8,000 at the discretion of the council and in 
consultation with health and/or social care professionals, for example  
in cases where urgent hospital discharge is necessary.

Eligibility

Applicants who are eligible for a DFG will be eligible for an Adapted Homes 
Grant subject to the £8,000 threshold. 

An applicant will also be eligible for an AHG if they are registered disabled or 
are registerable as disabled, - or they are applying on behalf of someone who 
is either registered or registerable as disabled6

Conditions of the Grant

 Only one application per person per year.

 If additional works are required after approval of the grant that would 
increase the cost above £8,000, the council will apply a retrospective 
means test.

 The fast-tracking of DFG’s is subject to the prioritisation of other 
applicants and budget availability.

4.5 ESSENTIAL HOUSING REPAIR GRANT
Essential Housing Repair Grant (ERG) are small grants available to improve 
the warmth, comfort, condition, safety or security of homes.  

Grants can be used for: 

• Minor repairs and improvements to assist someone to stay in their own 
home

• Significant works to repair the property to a safe and weatherproof 
condition

5 Including Home Improvement Agency fees
6 Registerable: the person is eligible under the definition of disabled as defined under section 6(1) of the 
Equality Act. 

Page 170



18

• Energy measures, except where an alternative grant is available

The ERG may also be used to provide financial assistance to qualifying 
owners of mobile homes or canal boats to cover essential repairs or 
necessary energy efficiency measures.

Eligibility

Applicants must be owner occupiers with three-years residency and in receipt 
of either a passporting benefit, or have no financial contribution following a 
DFG means test.  The proposed works are not covered under any insurance 
claim.

Conditions of the grant

The maximum ERG that can be awarded is £10,000.

If applicants are eligible for a Flexible Home Improvement Loan (see section 
4.6 below) this option must be used to complete the works.  In exceptional 
circumstances however, an ERG can be awarded instead of a Flexible Home 
Improvement Loan subject to approval by the Private Sector Housing Team 
Leader.

No more than two grants can be awarded in any three-year period up to a 
maximum of £10,000, and not normally less than 12 months apart. 

Grants are not available where the owner is able to claim for the works under 
their insurance policy, or where an insurance claim has been refused  due to 
the actions of the claimant.  Grants for energy measures will only be awarded 
if the applicant is not eligible for any other energy scheme offered or available 
at the time of application. 

Grants are subject to the availability of funding.

4.6 FLEXIBLE HOME IMPROVEMENT LOAN
The Flexible Home Improvement Loan (FHIL) is a loan available to 
homeowners aged 60 years or above, to improve the warmth, comfort, 
condition, safety or security of their homes.

For more information please visit: Flexible Homes Improvement Loans Limited

Eligibility 

Owner occupiers who are aged 60 years or above.  In the case of joint 
owners, each must be at least 60 years of age. 

Page 171

http://www.fhil.org/


19

Loans are considered for works that will make the home safer, warmer, 
healthier or more comfortable for the occupants.  Examples of work that may 
be acceptable include:

 Essential repairs and maintenance
 Renewable energy generation technology such as solar panels and 

heat pumps etc.
 Central heating or improvements to heating and hot water systems
 Insulation and energy saving measures
 Replacement doors and windows
 Roof and structural repairs
 Replacement bathroom suites
 Installation of level-access showers
 Plumbing and drainage repairs
 Rewiring
 Replacement kitchens
 Burglar alarms and home security
 Replacement guttering, soffits and cladding
 Works associated with eradicating dampness, wet rot, dry rot and 

woodworm
 Installation of stairlifts or other adaptations

Conditions of the loan

Loan applications are administered by the councils who are legally 
responsible for verifying the applicant’s identity and age.  

The loan is secured by the councils through a charge against the property.
The loans are disbursed, managed and recovered by a third party; Street UK.  
The loans are flexible and during the term of the loan the applicant can 
choose to make regular monthly payments, occasional payments or no 
payments at all.  Applicants may also vary the arrangement at any time.

The loan, plus any outstanding interest, must be repaid if the home is sold, or 
if the owner ceases to occupy it.  The loan can also be paid off at any time 
without penalty.

Interest will be charged at a rate linked to the Bank of England base rate.  The 
applicant’s account will also be debited with a small annual charge to cover 
the cost of loan administration and statements. 

There will be a fee for loan documentation and registration of the legal charge.  
The fee will be added to the loan.  In certain circumstances the councils may 
need to obtain a valuation of the property to confirm the equity is sufficient to 
cover the loan.  This is unlikely to be needed in most cases.

Applicants can decide to engage a solicitor to act for them, and any fees 
incurred may be added to the loan.  When the loan is repaid there is a flat fee 
for cancellation of our registered charge on the property.

Page 172



20

4.7 EMPTY HOME LOAN 
This scheme allows property owners to borrow money with a five-year flexible 
loan to bring their empty home up to a habitable standard. 

Eligibility 

Empty Homes Loans are available to owners of empty properties and persons 
purchasing an empty property.  The maximum loan will normally be £20,000.  

Loans above £20,000 will be considered on a case by case basis and may be 
awarded in exceptional circumstances; for example, where a landlord is 
intending to rent the property through White Horse Lettings, the council’s in-
house social lettings agency.

A credit check is carried out and a poor credit history may result in the 
application being declined.  Loans cannot be provided to applicants who have 
been previously declared as bankrupt.

Conditions of the loan

Empty Homes Loans are five-year, flexible, bridging finance secured by a first 
charge or, in some circumstances, a second charge on the property.

The maximum loan available is 2/3rds of the value of the property. This 
includes any other mortgages or loans secured against the property.

The loans are disbursed, managed and recovered by a third party; Street UK.  
The loans are flexible and during the term of the loan the applicant can 
choose to make regular monthly payments, occasional payments or no 
payments at all. Furthermore, applicants can vary the arrangement at any 
time.

The loan, plus any outstanding interest, must be repaid in full at the end of the 
five-year period or if the home is sold.  The loan may be repaid, in whole or 
part, at any time before the end of the five years, without penalty.  When the 
loan is completely repaid there is a flat fee for cancellation of the councils 
registered charge on the property.

Interest will be charged at two per cent above the Bank of England base rate, 
subject to minimum and maximum rates. Applicants will also be debited with a 
small annual charge to cover the cost of loan administration and statements.

There will be a fee for loan documentation and registration of the legal charge 
and this fee will be added to the loan. In certain circumstances the councils 
may need to obtain a valuation of the property to confirm the equity is 
sufficient to cover the loan.  This is unlikely to be needed in most cases.
Applicants can decide to engage a solicitor to act for them, and any fees 
incurred may be added to the loan.

Page 173



21

4.8 DEMENTIA ASSISTANCE GRANT
The discretionary Dementia Assistance Grant helps persons living with 
dementia to make changes to their homes that support them to continue to 
live there safely and for longer.  The maximum grant available is £2,500.
The grant can cover dementia friendly adaptations within the home such as:

- Replacing floor coverings that cause confusion or safety issues
- Replacing tiling or bathroom fittings to improve visual perception
- Changing cupboards to glass fronted doors, to enable recognition of 

where items are in the kitchen
- Changing lighting schemes to improve visibility around the home
- Installing noise reduction measures
- Ensuring gardens and paths are level and free from hazards.

The works can be facilitated by the council’s Home Improvement Agency or 
an alternative contractor.  The grant excludes contributions towards care 
packages or Assistive Technology already funded by Adult Social Care teams. 

The Dementia Assistance Grant will only be available whilst funds permit as it 
is a discretionary grant.

Eligibility

Any person with a medical diagnosis of dementia who is an owner-occupier, 
private tenant or a Registered Provider tenant.  The grant is not subject to a 
financial assessment.  We will, however, require a letter confirming the 
diagnosis from a GP, qualified medical professional or specialist.

The works must be reasonable and practical and relate to the applicant’s 
dementia needs.  Only one application per applicant will be considered per 
year.

How to apply

The council can receive referrals from Adult Social Care, hospital teams or the 
voluntary and community sector.  Referrals can be made by email to the 
Private Sector Housing Team, providing details of the applicant and the works 
required. Referrals will not be accepted by family members.

Works may only be carried out in accordance with council procedures.  Grants 
must be approved before works are commenced and grants will only be paid 
on successful completion of the works.

Page 174



22

5. Energy Saving and Repair Grants

5.1 FUEL POVERTY GRANT
Fuel poverty is caused by high energy costs, low household income and poor 
energy efficiency.  Improving energy efficiency is an effective, long-term 
solution to fuel poverty and helps protect occupiers from future energy price 
rises.  

The councils’ support a Fuel Poverty Grant scheme, administered by the 
National Energy Foundation (NEF), to provide grants of up to £1,000 for 
essential energy saving repairs and improvements to homes with a specific 
focus upon energy efficiency and energy saving measures.

Fuel Poverty Grants are subject to available funding.

Eligibility 

Grants are available to homeowners and private tenants who:

 receive certain qualifying benefits or;
 are in fuel poverty (calculated using the Centre for Sustainable Energy 

(CSE) Fuel Poverty Calculator) or;
 meet the current Energy Company Obligation (ECO) criteria or;
 meet the criteria in the councils current ECO Flexible Eligibility 

Statements of Intent (published on the council’s websites).

For more information please visit:

South: southoxon.gov.uk energy saving grants

Vale: whitehorsedc.gov.uk energy saving grants

How to apply

To make an application for a Fuel Poverty Grant or to find what schemes are 
currently available from the Government and/or energy companies, residents 
should contact the Better Housing Better Health helpline.

The Better Housing Better Health helpline offers impartial and expert advice 
on all issues surrounding fuel poverty and energy saving. 

Better Housing Better Health can be contacted on 0800 107 0044, by emailing 
bhbh@net.org.uk, or by visiting their website. www.bhbh.org.uk

Page 175

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/managing-your-home/improving-energy-efficiency/energy-saving-grants
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/managing-your-home/improving-energy-efficiency/energy-saving-grants
mailto:bhbh@net.org.uk
http://www.bhbh.org.uk/


23

5.2 WARM HOMES GRANT
The Warm Homes Grant is a discretionary grant that may be available to ‘top 
up’ the Fuel Poverty Grant (see section 5.1). The councils may provide a 
discretionary Warm Homes Grant of up to £1,000.

The grant is available to homeowners and private tenants who meet the 
eligibility requirements of the Fuel Poverty Grant, but where the costs of 
energy efficiency, energy saving measures or essential energy saving repairs 
exceeds the Fuel Poverty Grant maximum.

The Warm Home Grant is subject to available funding and cannot exceed 
£2,000. Only one application is permissible per year.

Eligibility

Grants are available to homeowners and private tenants who:

 receive certain qualifying benefits or;
 are in fuel poverty (calculated using the Centre for Sustainable Energy 

(CSE) Fuel Poverty Calculator) or;
 meet the current Energy Company Obligation (ECO) criteria or;
 meet the criteria in the councils’ current ECO Flexible Eligibility 

Statements of Intent (published on the councils’ websites).

How to apply

Where an applicant is awarded a Fuel Poverty Grant, and the cost of the 
works exceeds £1000, the National Energy Foundation (NEF) will apply to the 
council for the Warm Homes Grant on behalf of the applicant.   

The Warm Homes Grant is subject to approval by the council.

5.3 GOVERNMENT/ENERGY COMPANY GRANT FUNDING
There are often Government and/or energy company grant schemes available 
to eligible residents to help towards the cost of energy saving improvements 
to their homes.

The councils work proactively with Government and energy companies to 
support these initiatives for the benefit of our residents.

These funding sources fall outside of this policy, however the policy can be 
used to support these schemes.  The councils will therefore, where possible, 
utilise funding available through this policy to reduce the customer contribution 
towards these schemes.

Page 176



24

Further information on current schemes is available from Better Housing 
Better Health on 0800 107 0044, by emailing bhbh@net.org.uk, or by visiting 
their website. bhbh.org.uk

6. Other Services

6.1 HANDYPERSON SERVICES
The councils’, in partnership with Mears Home Improvements Ltd, provide a 
chargeable Handyperson Service for a wide range of jobs which can include:

 Doors/Windows, repairs and adjustments
 Minor joinery work
 Minor plumbing work
 Minor electrical work e.g. wiring plugs and changing lightbulbs
 Installation of aids e.g. grab rails
 Installations of adaptations e.g. ramps
 Fitting locks and security chains
 Fitting smoke alarms & sensors
 Draught proofing
 Gates/Fencing/Wall repairs
 Fitting key safes (never get locked out again)
 Flat pack furniture assembly

This list is not exhaustive but generally work covered by this scheme includes 
small jobs around the home that can no longer be managed or undertaken by 
the applicant.  Often these jobs can prevent accidents or falls in the home and 
are aimed at helping people maintain their independence and improve their 
safety and quality of life.

Who can use the scheme?

 Residents of South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse District Councils 
who are vulnerable older persons (over 60 years of age). 

 Priority will be given to those households and individuals who are 
disabled or in receipt of income support or other means tested benefits. 

Accessing the service 

The service is provided  by Mears Home Improvement Agency who may be 
contacted on 0845 266 8941.

Page 177

mailto:bhbh@net.org.uk
http://www.bhbh.org.uk/


25

Handyperson Charges

The service costs to the customer are based upon an hourly charge (currently 
£20 per hour) plus the cost of materials.  The customer is not charged for the 
travel time to and from the property incurred by the handyperson at the 
start/end of the job.  The handyperson will (if required) collect materials and 
equipment as required while at the property. A quote will be provided before 
any work takes place.

6.2 SCOOTER STORAGE
Over recent years there has been an increase in the use of motorised mobility 
scooters to assist people to live independently in the community.  The 
scooters enable users to access key services and to stay in touch with family 
and friends. In most instances mobility scooters can be stored safely and 
securely inside a client’s property and as a result we will recommend this as 
the first option for all enquiries. 

However, where there is insufficient space to store the mobility scooter and 
this poses a health and safety risk, the councils will assess Adult Social Care 
OT referrals that identify the need for scooter storage.  Financial assistance 
may be available towards the cost of installation, subject to a financial 
assessment. 

The councils will accept referrals submitted in accordance with Adult Social 
Care OT guidelines for Scooter Storage as well as on a case by case basis.

6.3 DRY HOARDING
Hoarding is a complex, often long-term mental health disorder and usually 
consists of excessive clutter, difficulty in getting rid of items when they are no 
longer useful or needed and/or excessive buying/other acquiring and difficulty 
organising possessions. 

Hoarding becomes a concern when people collect and keep things to the 
point where it encroaches significantly on their living space, which cannot be 
properly used, and where it presents health and safety risks, as well as 
causes stress and impacts on day to day living.  

Where an individual has been in the care of the Adult Social Care Team, 
Social Services or NHS and wishes to return to their home, a referral can be 
made to the council for assistance. 

Financial assistance is available to engage contractors to remove health and 
safety risks and to facilitate cleaning to enable the person to be discharged 
and to return to their property.

Page 178



26

Where the property is hoarded and is Filthy and/or Verminous, such cases will 
be referred to the Council Environmental Protection Team for investigation in 
accordance with the Public Health Act 1936.

6.4 RECYCLING OF STAIRLIFTS
Where possible, the councils will recycle stairlifts through a stairlift recycling 
scheme. This scheme is offered in partnership with our current stairlift 
provider Stannah and recycling will only be available on Stannah products.

The Stannah recycling scheme will enable the councils to utilise previously 
installed stairlifts which may no longer be of use. These will be re-installed into 
another client’s property where an OT assessment identifies the need for such 
assistive equipment.

The recycled stairlifts are subjected to a full safety and equipment fault check 
and once installed are provided with a standard warranty.

Please visit: ageukmobility.co.uk/stairlift-advice for further information on 
recycling stairlifts.

7. Applications outside of this 
policy

7.1 EXCEPTIONS TO THE POLICY
The councils recognise that the Housing Assistance Grants and Loans Policy 
should be sufficiently flexible to consider exceptional circumstances. 

The councils will consider applications for assistance that are not specifically 
covered by this policy. 

For example, an applicant who is waiting for a formal diagnosis of dementia 
who requires an urgent adaptation may receive a Dementia Assistance Grant 
when the condition is considered evident by medical professionals.

Exceptional applications for assistance will be considered on a case-by-case 
basis by the Private Sector Housing team and authorised by the Housing 
Needs Manager.

Requests should be submitted in writing to: 

Private Sector Housing Team Leader
South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse District Councils
135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park
Abingdon
OX14 4SB

Page 179

https://www.ageukmobility.co.uk/stairlift-advice/remove-sell-or-recycle-stairlift


27

Alternatively, Mears Home Improvement Agency can be contacted for an 
initial discussion of housing improvements that may be available outside of 
this policy.

Mears Home Improvement Agency
Building 166, Maxwell Avenue, Harwell Campus
Harwell
OX11 0QT
mearsgroup.co.uk/page/home-improvements/mhi-branches/oxfordshire

8. Policy Implementation and Review

8.1 POLICY IMPLEMENTATION 
This policy shall be effective from the date of adoption and will remain in place 
until such time a revised policy is adopted.

Advice leaflets and marketing information will be updated to reflect the policy 
and the councils will promote the new policy and raise awareness of the 
grants and loans available with the aim of increasing uptake in the districts. 

8.2 UPDATE AND REVIEW
The policy will be reviewed annually that will include consideration of changes 
in grant allocations and any relevant changes in legislation or council policies.  

The Head of Service for Housing and Environment will have delegated 
authority to make minor administrative amendments to this policy. 

8.3 COMPLAINTS
The councils aim to provide a high standard of service to all applicants and 
recipients of housing assistance grants and loans.    

The Private Sector Housing Team will endeavour to resolve any issues 
concerning grants or loans with customers at the earliest opportunity and can 
be contacted as below:

Private Sector Housing Team Leader
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils
135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park
Abingdon
OX14 4SB
PSH@southndvale.gov.uk

A customer who remains dissatisfied with the service received will have 
recourse to the councils formal complaints process.

Page 180

http://www.mearsgroup.co.uk/page/home-improvements/mhi-branches/oxfordshire
mailto:PSH@southndvale.gov.uk


Cabinet Report
Report of Head of Corporate Services
Author: Suzi Wild
Telephone: 01235 422171
E-mail: suzi.wild@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected: All Wards

Cabinet member responsible: Helen Pighills
Tel: 01235 534446
E-mail: helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

To: CABINET
DATE: 10 July 2020

Partnership grants 

Recommendations

That Cabinet:

(a) Approves a one-year extension of the partnership grants for, Oxfordshire 
South and Vale Citizen’s Advice Bureau and Wantage Independent Advice 
Centre at the same level of funding as this year (2020/21) towards the 
provision of services across the district in 2021/22.  

(b) Approves a two-year extension of the partnership grant for Community First 
Oxfordshire at the same level of funding as last year (2019/2020) towards the 
provision of services across the district in 2020/2021 and 2021/2022.

Purpose of Report

1. The purpose of the report is to seek cabinet’s approval;

 for a one-year extension of the partnership grants to Oxfordshire South and 
Vale Citizen’s Advice Bureau, Wantage Independent Advice Centre at the same 
level of funding as this year (2020/21) towards the provision of services across 
the district in 2021/22.

 for a two-year extension of a partnership grant for Community First Oxfordshire 
at the same level of funding as last year (2019/2020) towards the provision of 
services across the district in 2020/2021 and 2021/2022.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 181

Agenda Item 10

mailto:suzi.wild@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Corporate Objectives 

2. Approving these partnership grant extensions supports the corporate plan objective to 
create and maintain ‘sustainable communities’ and in turn strive for communities to 
help themselves. It also supports the equality objective to support communities to 
deliver better outcomes for disadvantaged groups and encourage community cohesion.

Background

3. The council has awarded partnership grants to organisations in the district towards 
their running costs for many years. There was no formal policy in place for these 
grants, so over the years the council has taken the decision to reduce these (and the 
associated budget) to those organisations where we have ongoing commitments, or 
the services being provided benefit a significant number of residents.

4. The council currently funds four organisations:

 Oxfordshire South and Vale Citizen’s Advice Bureau 4-year grant, £384,763 (ICMD 
April 2017)

 Wantage Independent Advice Centre 3-year grant, £174,000 (ICMD March 2018)
 The Albert Memorial Abingdon Trust 3-year grant £800 per annum (ICMD March 

2018)
 Community First Oxfordshire (CFO), £8,000 annually (ICMD March 2018)

5. We are not proposing a one-year extension to the Albert Memorial Abingdon Trust as 
2020/2021 is the last year the council is tied into a charitable trust agreement and 
committed to contributing to the memorial’s maintenance fund. 

6. The partnership grant for Community First Oxfordshire is awarded annually subject to 
there being sufficient budget available and on receiving a satisfactory business case 
from the organisation. CFO has submitted a project proposal for 2020/2021 and 
2021/2022, requesting the same level of funding as in previous years, (background 
papers 3). Officers monitor the progress of the grant closely throughout the award 
duration which include ‘touch base’ meetings and an annual review.

7. Oxfordshire South and Vale Citizens Advice Bureau, Wantage Independent Advice 
Centre and Community First Oxfordshire provide essential information, advice, support 
and services across the district to some of our most vulnerable and isolated residents. 
We release the annual payments on receipt of satisfactory monitoring information 
against previously agreed targets. We are currently in the final year of the partnership 
grants. Officers closely monitor the progress of the grant throughout the award duration 
which include both 6-month and 12-month formal reviews.

8. As part of this year’s budget setting, councillors requested a review of the council’s 
grant schemes to feed into the 2021/2022 process.  This review is currently on hold as 
we focus our resources on responding to the current Coronavirus crisis. Given the 
current situation is expected to continue for some time a review of grants may not be 
possible until the end of the calendar year at the earliest. This would not give these 
organisations enough time to prepare for a shortfall or gap in funding as a result of any 
changes to the current scheme. Officers will schedule meetings with each organisation 
(September 2020) as part of the existing cycle of award monitoring to ensure targets 
are on track and will carry out additional due diligence checks on each organisation 

Page 182



with a spotlight focus on organisational resilience and any changes in financial 
circumstances.

9. These are unprecedented times and whilst the long-term implications of the pandemic 
are unknown, there is no doubt as to the crucial role these organisations have in 
supporting our most vulnerable and isolated residents now, but also next year in 
recovering from the impact of the situation.

Options 

10.The options for the partnership grant scheme are; to extend it by one/ two years to the 
current recipients of the funding or to close it as originally planned, whilst a review of 
the councils grant service takes place. The key considerations for each option are set 
out below:

 By offering these three organisations grant term extensions, our communities will 
benefit from the support and advice they offer as the long-term implications of the 
pandemic become clear. It will also help to put these organisations’ minds at rest 
that they do not need to apply for funding for 2021/22 when their resources are 
stretched supporting our residents through the pandemic. Finally, it will allow the 
council time for a full and thorough review of all of its grants schemes to take place. 

 To close the scheme as planned at the end of this financial year would cause 
operational difficulties for the three organisations currently in receipt of this funding 
and could also see a reduction in the services and support offered in the district to 
our most vulnerable residents, at a time when the long term impact and implications 
of the Coronavirus pandemic are still unknown.  

Financial Implications 

11.Offering a grant extension will commit the council to awarding £154,920 in partnership 
grants in the 2021/22 budget. This is currently included in the council’s medium-term 
financial plan for 2021/22.

12.Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the council’s overarching financial position. The position reflected in the council’s 
medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 2020 
showed that the council was due to receive £0.2 million less in revenue funding than it 
planned to spend in 2020/21, rising to £2.8 million in 2021/22 (with the balance coming 
from unallocated New Homes Bonus which will be depleted by 2023/24). This funding 
gap was predicted to increase to over £6.2 million per annum by 2024/25 before recent 
events including delivering a response to the Coronavirus and planning for further 
changes in Government Grants. Latest estimates show the council funding gap 
increasing by approximately £2m in 2020/21, before in year mitigation, which may 
worsen further in the medium term due to delayed changes to Business rates income. 
Every financial decision will be made in cognisance of the need to eliminate this 
funding gap during the next five years.

Legal Implications 

13.  The decision to offer a further grant term extension requires cabinet approval. 

14.  In accepting a grant term extension, organisations would be agreeing to adhere to the 
conditions and clauses in their original partnership grant agreements.

Page 183



15.South and Vale Citizens Advice Bureau (S&VCAB): At the time of award external legal 
advice on the state aid regulations confirmed that whilst S&V CAB would receive more 
than the De Minimis amount of state aid over the period of the grant it would be exempt 
as the grant is to provide non-economic advisory services to residents on a non-
discriminatory basis. This remains the position.

Wantage Independent Advice Centre (WIAC): At the time of award there was also a 
strong argument that the WIAC’s activities were not economic and state aid only 
applies to economic activity. All services are provided on a non-discriminatory basis. 
Extra provisions to reduce any risk in this regard were included in the grant agreement 
and these terms will continue in the grant extension period to continue to mitigate any 
risk.

Community First Oxfordshire: In order to protect the position of the council the grant 
funding will be provided as De Minimis state aid and the organisation will be advised of 
this in writing.

Risks

16.The main risks associated with extending the partnership grant term are reputational 
and financial:

 Even with the additional year’s funding organisations could encounter financial 
difficulties, which could impact on both the delivery of services to residents and in a 
worst-case scenario the viability of the organisation continuing. This is not a 
partnership grant specific risk as any organisation receiving grant funding from the 
council could encounter financial difficulties. The council already has an established 
due diligence checking process in place to mitigate against such a risk before any 
grant is released. 

 By offering an extension to existing partnership grant recipients only it could lead to 
concerns over district wide reach and impact. The council has mitigated against this 
risk as the organisations receiving the grant have significant presence across the 
district which includes COVID-19 support for residents.

 By committing the council to a discretionary spend in 2021/2022, the council will 
potentially increase the need for savings next year as the council adjusts to the 
financial challenges it faces.

Other implications

17. In line with the public sector equality duties, we have considered the implications of 
extending the scheme for a further year. Officers will continue to regularly monitor the 
grant awards to include both 6-month and 12-month reviews. New targets will be 
discussed and agreed with the organisations to ensure district wide reach and impact. 
Officers are of the view that no groups will be disadvantaged by this decision. All 
organisations the council fund through this scheme help to advance equality of 
opportunity for the communities they provide services for. 

Conclusion

18.By offering Oxfordshire South and Vale Citizens Advice Bureau, Wantage Independent 
Advice Centre and Community First Oxfordshire grant term extensions, our 
communities will benefit from the support and advice they offer as the long-term 

Page 184



implications of the coronavirus become clear. It will also help to put these 
organisations’ minds at rest that they do not need to apply for funding for 2021/22 when 
their resources are stretched supporting our residents through the pandemic.

Appendix

 Community First Oxfordshire – 2-year project proposal

Background Papers

 Cabinet member decision April 2017 – Partnership grant award
 Cabinet member decision March 2018 - Partnership grant awards

Page 185



Community First Oxfordshire, Emily Lewis-Edwards, 24.04.2020 

Vale of White Horse District Council and Community First Oxfordshire: Partnership 
Grant  
 
 
2020/21 to 2021/22 - 2 Year Partnership Fund 
 
 
Project summary 
 
Community infrastructure service for Vale communities recovering from Covid-19 
 
Community First Oxfordshire (CFO) will work with VWHDC and other partners to encourage 
and support communities in the Vale to identify strengths and challenges that affect them 
and to build on existing or new community-led solutions. Attention will be paid specifically to 
current Covid-19 actions and assessing and acting on the longer term impacts. We will work 
in partnership with Oxfordshire All In (Covid-19 mapping and support platform) and the VCS 
Alliance (a new forum for the VCSE sector) to work on mapping needs and seeking 
collaborative and innovative ways to support existing community activities and new Covid-19 
volunteers/activities. 
 
CFO will continue to advice and support activities that make a significant contribution to the 
building of (and recovery of) thriving communities: community hall support, community action 
through community planning and community learning, linking in with Neighbourhood Plan 
projects and community shops support. Many of these community activities have been 
impacted by Covid-19 (e.g. halls have lost income and are looking at ways to support the 
communities, community shops are offering take away services and other support services, 
good neighbours schemes and other support groups are seeking advice on how to support 
shielded people in the next few months). There will be a focus on supporting new Covid-19 
action groups and how best to sustain these new activities and volunteers into existing 
community groups when Covid-19 finally subsides. As mentioned before, this activity must 
be done in collaboration with Oxfordshire All In.   
 
We will use the findings from the 2020 Rural Services Survey, the open source data 
provided by the newly Oxfordshire All In and partnership feedback through the VCS Alliance 
as a means to target the right support to specific communities most affected by covid-19 in 
the short and long term.  
 
The 2019/20 targets, in our view, remain appropriate for 2020/21, however there is a need 
for a degree of flexibility in the targets, particularly under community action to enable CFO to 
adapt focus and activity once the longer term impacts of the pandemic on community life in 
the Vale are better known.  
 
Grant requested: £8,000 in 2020/21 and £8,000 in 2021/22  
(funds remain the same level as 2019/20) 
 

Suggested performance target 
Target 

2020/21 

Target 

2021/22 

Connecting with Vale communities offering CFO and partner support (main 
focus is covid-19 advice and next steps through targeted newsletters/mailshots, 
community learning online support and engagement events)  

100 
review 

Vale based community building support (non-council owned), including in-
depth direct advice/support as halls recover from covid-19 impacts (small 

25 
 

review 

Page 186



Community First Oxfordshire, Emily Lewis-Edwards, 24.04.2020 

business grants, diversify business, linking in with OSEP and mentoring 
programmes, facilitating a peer-to-peer support Facebook page.   

Community action support with communities on specific projects required 
post-Covid (excluding any specific work paid for by other organisations 
/departments of the council) 

6 
 

review 

Community action webinars and socially distance happy events community 
learning, training and information events focused on the district where beneficial 
(excluding any specific events funded by third parties)  

2 
 

review 

Provide an annual work report (including frequent updates with lead officer) 1 1 

 
 
 
 

 
Current CFO Covid-19 support and activities 
 
As a direct response to the current situation, CFO has ramped up our online support, which 
now includes an easy to navigate digest of information and guidance on a range of themes 
related to Covid-19: national and local sources of advice and information, and specific advice 
for communities and charities, community halls, and retail, business and employers. We are 
promoting this information to all our members and community contacts. 
 
We continue to be busy with offering key advice for CFO’s main support services on Covid-
19 enquiries and what next scenarios. The main services we support are: community halls 
and shops, community transport, and strategies for community action and support for 
existing volunteers who are now involved in Covid-19 activities.  
 
CFO’s community halls and community shops support services are very well-used at the 
best of times. However, demand has recently surged. Individuals and communities are 
asking us not only about the usual day-to-day challenges of managing their services but are 
seeking advice on topics directed related to COVID-19, such as business rate reliefs, 
sources of grant funding, reserves policies, health and safety assessments and furloughing 
staff 
 
We are adapting and trialling all community learning materials, starting with ‘Listening In, 
Listening Out’ to be web-based and drop-in ready. We are anticipating a surge in interest for 
community learning materials.  
 
So many communities have proved that social activism doesn’t need to stop because of 
social distancing. We want to support this activism and plan for a strong recovery.  

 
 
Emily Lewis–Edwards 
  
Joint-Chief Executive, Community First Oxfordshire 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 187


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8 Homelessness and rough sleeping strategy
	Homelessness and rough sleeping strategy - final draft
	Consultation summary report
	Appendices to consultation summary report

	9 Housing assistance grants and loans policy
	Policy

	10 Partnership grants
	Appendix


